Understanding Impaired Immunity to Bacterial Pathogens Post-Bone Marrow Transplantation

by

Giovanny J. Martínez-Colón

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Immunology) in the University of Michigan 2018

Doctoral Committee: Professor Bethany B. Moore, Chair Professor Nicholas W. Lukacs Associate Professor Michal A. Olszewski Professor Mary X.D. O'Riordan Professor Marc L. Peters-Golden Giovanny J. Martínez-Colón martingj@umich.edu ORCID iD: 0000-0001-6792-8004 © Giovanny J. Martínez-Colón 2018 To my family and friends

Acknowledgements

I am eternally grateful to my outstanding dissertation mentor, Bethany B. Moore, for her commitment to my graduate education. I am thankful for past and current members of the Moore lab for providing help in my experiments and feedback on my presentations. I am especially thankful for Racquel Domingo-Gonzalez who provided me with unconditional support in and out of the laboratory. I am also grateful to my dissertation committee members (Mary O'Riordan, Nick Lukacs, Michal Olszewski and Marc Peters-Golden) for their guidance and constructive feedback on my dissertation work. Moreover, I am indebted to the great friends that I made during my time in Michigan (Joel Crespo, Cara Porsche, Cindy Bick and Emily Yarosz) for their constant motivation and the great memories created.

Lastly, I would like to thank my mother (Margarita Colón-Ortíz), my siblings (Anthony M. Martínez-Colón and Michelle M. Martínez-Colón), my aunt (Wanda Colón-Szott), and uncle (Kevin Szott). Each of you have provided unconditional love and support during my time as a graduate student, and I wouldn't be the man that I am without you. I would like to especially thank Michelle to whom I am honored to see grow and become a great humanitarian.

iii

Table of Contents

| Dedicatio | onii |
|------------------|--|
| Acknowle | edgementsiii |
| List of fig | juresix |
| List of tal | bles xii |
| Abstract | xiii |
| Chapter 1.1 ł | 1. Introduction |
| 1.2 | Non-infectious complications post-HSCT2 |
| 1.3 I | nfectious complications post-HSCT3 |
| 1.4 | Animal model to study post-HSCT infections5 |
| 1.5 F | Prostaglandin E2 (PGE ₂) in HSCT patients6 |
| 1.6 F | PGE ₂ synthesis7 |
| 1.7 F | PGE ₂ signaling10 |
| 1.8 | The role of PGE ₂ in bacterial infection13 |
| 1.9 F | Rationale for this dissertation |
| 1.10 | |

| 1.11 | PGE ₂ and Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation | 21 |
|--------|--|----|
| 1.12 | Conclusions | 22 |
| 1.13 | References | 23 |
| Chapte | er 2. Material and Methods | |
| 2.1 | Human Subjects | |
| 2.2 | Animal | 36 |
| 2.3 | Cell culture media | |
| 2.4 | Reagents | |
| 2.5 | Isolation of Human Neutrophils | |
| 2.6 | Isolating murine neutrophils from lung | |
| 2.7 | Isolating murine bone marrow neutrophils | |
| 2.8 | Isolation of human peripheral monocyte-derived macrophages | |
| 2.9 | Isolation of murine Alveolar Macrophages (AMs) | 40 |
| 2.10 | Isolation of lung macrophages | 40 |
| 2.11 | Differentiation of Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs) | 40 |
| 2.12 | Bone Marrow Transplantation | 41 |
| 2.13 | LPS-induced lung injury | 41 |
| 2.14 | In vivo influenza infections | 41 |
| 2.15 | Viral load quantification in lung by plaque assay | |
| 2.16 | In vivo bacterial infections | |

| 2.17 | Bacterial burden quantification4 | 3 |
|------------|---|---|
| 2.18 | Viral and bacterial co-infection43 | 3 |
| 2.19 | In vivo indomethacin treatments43 | 3 |
| 2.20 | <i>In vivo</i> IFN-γ neutralization | 3 |
| 2.21 | In vivo TLR9 inhibition4 | 4 |
| 2.22 | FITC-labeling bacteria44 | 4 |
| 2.23 | Bacterial phagocytosis assay44 | 4 |
| 2.24 | Tetrazolium Dye Reduction Assay (MTT assay) of Bacterial Killing4 | 5 |
| 2.25 | H ₂ O ₂ detection assay40 | 6 |
| 2.26 | Sytox green fluorescence assay40 | 6 |
| 2.27 | Immunofluorescence4 | 6 |
| 2.28 | Western blotting and protein measurements4 | 7 |
| 2.29 | ELISA4 | 7 |
| 2.30 | Histology4 | 8 |
| 2.31 | Real-time quantitative PCR4 | 8 |
| 2.32 | Flow cytometry | 0 |
| 2.33 | Flow cytometry antibodies50 | 0 |
| 2.34 | Statistical analysis | 1 |
| 2.35 | Reference | 1 |
| Chapter 3 | Elevated Prostaglandin E₂ Post-Bone Marrow Transplant Mediates | |
| Interleuki | n-1β Related-Lung Injury52 | 2 |

| 3.1 | Background52 |
|---------------------|--|
| 3.2 | Results |
| 3.3 | Discussion |
| 3.4 | References78 |
| Chapte cell trai | er 4. Prostaglandin E_2 inhibits neutrophil extracellular trap formation post-stem nsplant |
| 4.1 | Background |
| 4.2 | Results |
| 4.3 | Discussion96 |
| 4.4 | References101 |
| Chapte | r 5. Discussion 112 |
| 5.1 | Elevated PGE ₂ post-BMT mediates IL-1 β -related acute lunginjury (ALI) 112 |
| 5.2 | PGE_2 mediated IL-1 β increase is dependent on EP2/EP4 signaling and |
| activ | ation of CREB116 |
| 5.3 | Improving bacterial clearance post-IL1β inhibition117 |
| 5.4 | Control of IL-1β by PGE ₂ |
| 5.5 | AMs post-BMT mediate IL-1β related pathology post-P. aeruginosa infection119 |
| 5.6 | PGE2 inhibits autophagy-mediated clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa 120 |
| 5.7 | Link between PGE ₂ , autophagy, and the inflammasome |
| 5.8 | PGE2 mediated inhibition of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) 122 |
| 5.9 | Polarization of PGE2 in macrophages, and the role of metabolism in this |

| proce | ess | 125 |
|---------|--|-----|
| 5.10 | Cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors as a therapeutic strategy | 128 |
| 5.11 | Summary | 129 |
| 5.12 | References | 130 |
| Chapte | er 6. Influenza-induced immune suppression to Staphylococcus aureus is | ; |
| mediate | ed by TLR9 | 140 |
| 6.1 | Abstract | 140 |
| 6.2 | Background | 141 |
| 6.3 | Results | 143 |
| 6.4 | Discussion | 154 |
| 6.5 | References | 163 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1-1: Murine Bone Marrow Transplantation Model5 |
|--|
| Figure 1-2: Prostaglandin and leukotriene synthesis8 |
| Figure 1-3: Prostaglandin E ₂ signaling12 |
| Figure 1-4: PGE ₂ effects on immune cells23 |
| Figure 3-1: BMT Mice are Deficient in Clearing P. aeruginosa Infection and Experience |
| Exacerbated Lung Tissue Injury57 |
| Figure 3-2: Leukocytes in BALF Post-BMT58 |
| Figure 3-3: <i>P. aeruginosa</i> Infection Induces Higher Levels of IL-1 β and PGE ₂ post-BMT |
| Correlating with Increased Lung Injury60 |
| Figure 3-4: Alveolar Macrophages in BMT Mice Account for Higher IL-1 β Release post- |
| P.aeruginosa in Response to PGE ₂ |
| Figure 3-5: PGE ₂ Increases IL-1 β BMDMs Upon Pathogenic Stimulation |
| Figure 3-6: PGE ₂ Enhances IL-1 β Release Under Different Pathogenic Stimuli |
| Figure 3-7: PGE ₂ Mediated Increase in IL-1 β is Dependent on Activation of |
| Transcription Factor CREB by Increasing Levels of cAMP Dependent on EP2 and |
| EP4 Signaling66 |
| Figure 3-8: PAO1 can use cannonical or non-cannonical inflammasomes to make IL-1 β . |
| |
| Figure 3-9: PGE ₂ Limits Autophagosome Formation in Response to Serum Starvation |
| |

Figure 3-10: Inhibition of Autophagy Impacts Bacterial Killing but Not IL-1 β Release...71

Figure 3-11: PGE₂ Elevates the Levels of IL-1 β Transcripts by EP2 and EP4 Stimulation

| Figure 3-12: Human AMs and Peripheral Monocytes Upregulate IL-1 β under PGE ₂ |
|--|
| stimulation74 |
| Figure 3-13: Decreasing Levels of PGE2 by Indomethacin Treatment Leads to |
| Decreased IL-1 β in the Lung after <i>P. aeruginosa</i> Infection in BMT mice76 |
| Figure 3-14: PGE ₂ Enhances IL-1 β Release after 4h, but not5' Stimulation78 |
| Figure 4-1: NETosis is impaired post-syn and allo BMT87 |
| Figure 4-2: Indomethacin rescues impaired NETosis post-BMT |
| Figure 4-3: Diclofenac or anti-PGE2 can rescue NETosis post-BMT and mPGES -/- mice |
| have enhanced NETosis |
| Figure 4-4: BMT neutrophils have elevated cPLA2 and COX-2 levels and human BALF |
| post-HSCT has increased PGE $_2$ levels |
| Figure 4-5: PGE ₂ inhibits PMA-induced murine and human NETs |
| Figure 4-6: Inhibition of PGE ₂ signaling rescues murine NET production post-BMT 94 |
| Figure 4-7: Blocking EP receptor signaling rescues NETs in allogeneic HSCT patients95 |
| Figure 4-8: Alterations in PGE2 signaling can influence NETosis in Control and HSCT |
| patients97 |
| Figure 4-9: PGE2 inhibits autophagy-induced murine NETosis |
| Figure 4-10: PGE2 regulates NETosis induced by autophagy in human neutrophils 101 |
| Figure 5-1: PGE ₂ increases IL-1 β expression without inducing a canonical M1 |
| polarization stage |

| Figure 6-1: TLR9 overexpression in lung immune cells post-IAV infection |
|---|
| Figure 6-2: TLR7 or TLR9 agonist stimulation does not increase expression of TLR9146 |
| Figure 6-3: TLR9 ^{-/-} mice are resistant to secondary bacterial infection |
| Figure 6-4: Reduced MRSA clearance, and exacerbated lung tissue injury in the lung |
| post-IAV infection |
| Figure 6-5: TLR9 ^{-/-} mice experience no difference in MRSA clearance |
| Figure 6-6: TLR9 ^{-/-} mice experience improved bacterial clearance post-IAV and MRSA |
| coinfection |
| Figure 6-7: Higher bacterial clearance in TLR9 ^{-/-} mice post-IAV and MRSA coinfection is |
| independent of exacerbated levels of IFN-γ155 |
| Figure 6-8: TLR9 ^{-/-} mice have no difference in clearance of Streptococcus pnuemoniae |
| and have no difference in IFN-γ157 |
| Figure 6-9: IAV infection alters scavenger receptor levels |
| Figure 6-10: Administration of IFN-γ inhibits S. pnuemoniae clearance but has no effect |
| in MRSA clearance, <i>in vivo</i> 160 |
| Figure 6-11: TLR9 ^{-/-} lung macrophages have increased phagocytosis, bacterial killing, |
| and iNOS expression post-IAV infection161 |
| Figure 6-12: Immune cell profiles in TLR9-/- mice post-IAV infection |

List of Tables

| Table 2-1: List of primers and probes used in gRT-PCR | 48 |
|---|-----|
| | |
| | |
| Table 4-1: Human subject characteristics | 109 |
| | |

Abstract

Respiratory tract infections (RTI) are major causes of morbidity and mortality, with lower respiratory infections alone being the fourth major cause of death in the world, taking the life of over 3 million individuals in 2016 (World Health Organization (WHO), 2018). Bacterial infections are a major cause of RTI. In this dissertation we focused on a subject group who is at high risk of developing severe illness due to opportunistic bacterial infections, hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) patients. HSCT utilizes stem cells derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or peripheral blood of patients themselves (autologous) or matched donors (allogeneic) to treat or cure a variety of hematological and inherited disorders. This procedure has become standard of care with more than 18,000 HSCTs performed every year in the United States alone. Unfortunately, patients that undergo HSCT (both autologous and allogeneic) are immunosuppressed and remain so even after stem cell engraftment, making them susceptible to infections by a wide array of opportunistic pathogens. Pseudomonas aeruginosa is an opportunistic Gram-negative bacterium that can cause life-threatening complications in HSCT patients and has recently been identified by the WHO as a critical pathogen for which new therapeutic strategies are needed. In the lung of immunosuppressed individuals, *P. aeruginosa* can cause lethal organ injury mainly by stimulating alveolar macrophages to secrete high levels of Interleukin-1β (IL-1 β). IL-1 β is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine that is mainly activated by the serine protease caspase-1, but can be activated by caspase-8. Here, we aimed to understand

xiii

the reasons behind the success of *P. aeruginosa* infections in HSCT subjects with the use of murine bone marrow transplantation (BMT) model. We identified that high levels of prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂), a cyclooxygenase (COX) lipid metabolite with hormone-like characteristics and found at elevated levels in HSCT patients, induces exacerbated levels of IL-1ß in HSCT subjects leading to severe lung injury post-P. aeruginosa infection. We identified that the PGE₂-mediated increase in IL-1β is dependent on adenyl cyclase (AC) activation by EP2 and/or EP4 receptor stimulation which leads to activation of the transcription factor CREB. We hypothesized that reducing the levels of PGE₂ in BMT mice can reduce IL-1 β -mediated acute lung injury and improve outcome. In accordance with our hypothesis, we were able to decrease IL-1ß levels, improve bacterial killing, and reduce lung injury by treating HSCT mice with indomethacin, a nonselective inhibitor of the two isoforms of COX (COX1 & COX2), post-P. aeruginosa infection. Additionally, we showed how PGE₂ production impaired neutrophil extracellular trap (NETs), an important antimicrobial pathway, release post-HSCT in human and mouse neutrophils which could implicate immunosuppression to multiple microbes including bacterial pathogens. Our findings suggest new therapeutic strategies aimed at blocking PGE₂ production or signaling may have positive impacts against bacterial infections in HSCT subjects. The appendix of this dissertation contains an additional chapter looking at influenza-induced immunosuppression of lung innate immunity and describes a novel role for toll like receptor 9 signaling in regulating secondary bacterial infection post-influenza.

xiv

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT)

HSCT utilizes stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or peripheral blood to treat or cure a variety of malignant disorders such as acute myeloid leukemia as well as non-malignant disorders including autoimmune diseases, and sickle cell anemia^{1, 2}. Patients that undergo HSCT are first exposed to myeloablative or nonmyeloablative conditioning followed by infusion of stem cells which can come from autologous (same individual), allogeneic (different individual, but compatible human leukocyte antigen), or syngeneic (genetically identical individual such as a twin sibling) sources. The conditioning regimen is usually high dose chemotherapy, total body irradiation and/or a combination of the two. This procedure has become a standard of care with more than 60,000 HSCT performed in 2012 worldwide, in which 47% were allogeneic and 53% of them where autologous³⁻⁵. Although HSCT can be a cure for multiple disorders, unfortunately HSCT patients are at high risk of post-transplant complications due to immunosuppression and treatment-related toxicity^{4, 6, 7}. Thus, better therapeutic strategies are needed to supplement HSCT to improve the outcome for patients. Apart from disease relapse, the major post-transplant clinical problems are infectious and non-infectious pulmonary complications.

1.2 Non-infectious complications post-HSCT

Pulmonary complications are common post-HSCT and affect around 40%-60% of recipients and follow a predictable timeline⁷. The timeline is divided in three phases. Phase 1 is the pre-engraftment period (0-30 days post-HSCT), and it is characterized by neutropenia. Phase 2 is the post-engraftment period (30-100 days post-HSCT), and it is characterized by impaired cellular immunity. Phase 3 is the late phase (≥100 days post-HSCT) and it is characterized by impaired humoral and cellular immunity⁸. Noninfectious complications can be present in any of the phases and are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality post-HSCT. The most common non-infectious early pulmonary complication is Idiopathic Pneumonia Syndrome (IPS) which occurs in the pre-engraftment or early post-engraftment period. IPS is characterized by pulmonary edema, alveolar injury, acute pulmonary dysfunction, and cardiac or renal disease, and is believed to be caused by the toxicity of chemotherapy and radiation^{7, 9}. Another early complication present in HSCT patients is acute graft versus host disease (GVHD) which can manifest in the pre-engraftment and post-engraftment period and it is described as an immune reaction of donor cells to the host tissue. GVHD is the result of HLA mismatch and thus is a complication just seen in allogeneic HSCT and not in autologous HSCT patients. Chronic GVHD is the most common late complication and can lead to the development of Bronchiolitis Obliterans (BOS), defined by airway obstruction, and characterized by bronchiolar fibrosis. Mortality caused by BOS post-HSCT is around 12%-27%^{7, 10, 11}. The study of non-infectious complications has been well described elsewhere^{7, 11-14}. In this dissertation, I will focus on infectious

complications post-HSCT which are also a significant cause of morbidity and mortality post-HSCT.

1.3 Infectious complications post-HSCT

The incidence of infectious complications post-HSCT can be influenced by multiple variables including type of transplant (allogeneic or autologous) as well as intensity of conditioning ⁸. Despite the use of antibiotics and other prophylactic strategies, pneumonia remains the leading infectious cause of mortality post-HSCT. Infectious complications are generally found to be more common in allogeneic transplantation rather than autologous procedures as patients are administered immunosuppressive drugs to prevent or treat GVHD leading to susceptibility to opportunistic pathogens. However, infections are also problematic for autologous HSCT patients. For example, one study reported that infectious complications contributed to 21% of deaths in autologous transplants compared to 17% of deaths in allogeneic transplant patients ⁶. In another study, autologous patients showed a14% incidence for infection¹⁵. Thus, both autologous and allogeneic HSCT transplant patients are at risk of infectious complications. Infections can occur with bacterial, viral, and fungal pathogens; but bacterial pathogens have the higher cumulative incidence¹⁵.

Bacterial infections can occur at any time in the post-transplantation period, but they are detected with more frequency in the early phase of neutropenia with a reported 20% to 50% incidence^{16, 17}. Success in infection by opportunistic bacterial pathogens is attributed to damage of the mucosal barrier by conditioning, neutropenia, and compromise of the immune system. Gram negative bacteria such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infections predominate early post-transplant,

whereas Gram positive bacteria including *Streptococcus pneumoniae* predominates in the late phase¹⁸. Reports have shown that bacterial infections post-transplant can be seen in over 51% of patients with 61% of infections coming from Gram negative bacteria and 39% from Gram positive⁶. Antibiotics including ciprofloxacin, penicillin, and aminoglycosides are routinely given to HSCT patients. However, many of the successful colonizers, including *P.aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus*, are known to be resistant to a wide array of antibiotics. Thus, better therapeutic strategies that are different than antibiotic usage are needed.

Viral and fungal infections are also a main cause of post-HSCT infectious complications. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) and community acquired respiratory viruses including respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), influenza A and B, and parainfluenza are among the main viral opportunistic pathogens post-HSCT⁸. RSV is the most common isolated viral pathogen¹⁹. Around 11% of HSCT patients develop viral pneumonia. Aspergillus spp are the most common fungal pathogens isolated from HSCT patients, with invasive pulmonary aspergillosis being the most common invasive fungal infection. Allogeneic recipients have a reported incidence of 5%-30%, whereas autologous recipients have a 1%-5% incidence of pulmonary aspergillosis ²⁰. Other fungal pathogens from *Fusarium* and Scedosporium genera can also cause pulmonary infections post-HSCT⁸. Additionally, patients treated with immunosuppressive therapy due to chronic GVHD are at high risk of developing pneumonia mediated by *Pneumocystis jiroveci*⁸. Thus, infectious complications post-HSCT can occur from bacterial, viral, and fungal pathogens. Herein, I will focus on bacterial infections post-HSCT, and will use a mouse model to experimentally describe post-transplant infections.



Figure 1-1: Murine Bone Marrow Transplantation Model. C57BL/6J mice are irradiated with a split dose of 13Gy. Irradiated mice are then infused with 5x10⁶ bone marrow cells from a genetically identical (C57BL/6J) or unrelated (BALB/c) donor. Mice are then housed for 5 weeks after bone marrow infusion to achieve full reconstitution of their immune system.

1.4 Animal model to study post-HSCT infections

A murine bone marrow transplantation (BMT) model (Figure 1-1) is used to study

infectious complications post-HSCT. In this model, mice are exposed to myeloablative

conditioning before infusion with bone marrow stem cells from a genetically identical

(syngeneic) or an unlike donor (allogeneic). Total body irradiation with a split dose of

13Gy is often used as a conditioning regimen, followed by infusion of 5x10⁶ bone marrow stem cells. Mice are then housed for up to 5 weeks for immune cell reconstitution. After immune reconstitution around 83% of the alveolar macrophages and 94% spleen cells in the recipient mice are donor derived in syngeneic transplants ²¹. This mouse model is used to mimic pulmonary immunosuppression to bacterial infections as seen in humans post-HSCT²²⁻²⁴.

1.5 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) in HSCT patients

As mentioned earlier, immunosuppressant drugs given to HSCT patients to prevent or treat pathologies such as GVHD can increase susceptibility to infections⁸. However, even in the absence of immunosuppressant drugs and in the late phase of transplantation, patients remain susceptible to pathogens. In search for an explanation, in the early 90's, an article was published noting that HSCT patients had elevated levels of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂)²⁵. This was seen in 100% of the patients and it was independent of their conditioning regimen²⁵. PGE₂ is a lipid molecule secreted by all cells and has been known to have multiple immunosuppressant roles against bacterial, viral, and fungal pathogens²⁶. Thus, this article opened the door to explore a possible role for an endogenous molecule that might be inducing susceptibility against a wide array of opportunistic pathogens post-HSCT. Interestingly, my mouse model of BMT has previously been shown to also have elevated levels of PGE₂ in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and in whole lung homogenates when compared to non-BMT mice²⁷. Elevated levels of PGE₂ were shown to have a negative effect in bacterial clearance and morbidity, and suppression of PGE₂ was shown to improve P. aeruginosa infection^{28, 29}. Reasons behind elevation of PGE₂ post-HSCT are unknown

but, in one study, were attributed to hypomethylation of the COX-2 gene responsible for processing of PGE₂³⁰. Thus, in the absence of immunosuppressant drugs, elevated levels of PGE₂ in HSCT patients may be inducing susceptibility to infections.

1.6 PGE₂ synthesis

PGE₂ belongs to the family of eicosanoids which are lipid hormone-like signaling molecules that have important roles in inflammatory and physiological functions ³¹. Homeostatic levels of eicosanoids are always present in mammalian tissue and dysregulation of these levels can have different physiological outcomes^{31, 32}. All eicosanoid molecules are produced from the enzymatic modification of arachidonic acid (AA), a polyunsaturated fatty acid esterified in membrane phospholipids of mammalian cells³³. Metabolism of AA is mediated by a cascade of events starting by being released from cellular membranes by phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂) enzymes^{31, 32}. Three PLA₂ enzymes can mediate this process, cytosolic calcium-dependent PLA₂ (cPLA₂), cytosolic calcium-independent (iPLA₂), and secreted PLA₂ (sPLA₂)³⁴. The iPLA₂ enzyme is in charge of maintaining homeostatic levels of free AA, whereas cPLA₂ and sPLA₂ are activated by various stimuli (e.g. microbial recognition)^{31, 35-37}. Membrane liberated AA can then be further modified to produce prostaglandins or leukotrienes³² (Figure 1-2). For prostaglandin synthesis, free AA is oxidized by one of the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, COX-1 or COX-2.³⁷ The COX enzymes are structurally equivalent and are around 60% homologous at the amino acid level³⁸. Yet, while COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most mammalian cells producing homeostatic levels of prostaglandins, COX-2 is inducibly expressed by different stimuli and its expression is highly restricted ³⁹. The enzymatic action of COX on AA is twofold; first it oxidizes AA to form



Inhibitory of M Φ and PMN Function

Promote M\Phiand PMN Function

Figure 1-2: Prostaglandin and leukotriene synthesis. Phospholipases release arachidonic acid (AA) from the phospholipid membrane. Free AA can then be modified by the cyclooxygenase or the lipoxygenase pathway to produce prostaglandins and leukotrienes, respectively. During the cyclooxygenase pathway, to the left, COX enzymes modify AA to produce PGH2, which can then be modified by specific enzymes to produce PGI2, TXA2, PGD2, PGE2, and PGF2α. COX enzymes can be blocked by the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, indomethacin and aspirin. Prostaglandins are known inhibitors of the antimicrobial function of both macrophages (Mφ) and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN). The lipoxygenase pathway, to the right, leads to the production of LTA4 which can then be modified by specific enzymes to produce LTB4 or LTE4. Leukotrienes are known to promote Mφ and PMN antimicrobial functions.

prostaglandin G₂ (PGG₂), secondly COX reduces PGG₂ to form prostaglandin H₂

(PGH₂). Dependent on specific enzymes, PGH₂ can be modified to produce 5 known

different prostaglandins known as prostaglandin D2, prostaglandin I2, thromboxane A2,

prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, and $PGE_2^{31, 40, 41}$. Alternatively, if AA is metabolized via the actions

of 5-lipoxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase activating protein, ultimately leukotriene synthesis can occur⁴². In terms of innate immunity there is an intricate "yin and yang" in regulation of innate immune cell function via the actions of prostaglandins versus leukotrienes with prostaglandins generally inhibiting the functions of macrophages and neutrophils whereas leukotrienes can promote function of these cells ⁴³.

PGE₂ synthesis is mediated by 3 different enzymes termed: cytosolic PGE synthase (cPGES), microsomal PGE synthase-1 (mPGES-1), and microsomal PGES-2 (mPGES-2). It is known that physiological levels of PGE₂ are maintained by the enzymatic action of cPGES and mPGES-2, whereas mPGES-1 is activated by a wide array of stimuli including pathogen recognition. Upon intracellular production, PGE2 is secreted to the extracellular compartment by the multidrug resistance protein 4 channel⁴⁴. Extracellularly, PGE₂ can signal through 4 different G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) or it can be rapidly degraded by 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase to an inactive metabolite termed 15-keto prostaglandin E_2 ⁴⁵ (Figure 1-3). Interestingly, dysregulation of PGE₂ has been implicated to play a role in many disease outcomes, including diabetes and cancer^{32, 45-47}. The full spectrum of its role as an inflammatory mediator is still unknown as both pro- and anti-inflammatory roles have been shown. For example, PGE₂ can mediate endothelial permeability to promote inflammatory cell recruitment⁴⁸; yet actions on inflammatory cells themselves are often inhibitory as described below. PGE₂ can signal through 4 different PGE₂ receptors which are known as E type prostanoid or EP receptors, which might explain the multiple reported functions.

1.7 PGE₂ signaling

PGE₂ effector functions have been shown to modulate many biological processes including cell proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, inflammation, and immune surveillance. This is due to the ability of PGE₂ to signal in both autocrine and paracrine manners through four different types of EP GPCRs, namely EP1, EP2, EP3, and EP4 ^{31, 38, 40, 45, 49}. EP receptors differ in their intracellular signaling pathways, affinity to PGE₂, as well as tissue and cellular localization. EP signal transduction pathways have been an important topic of study in host defense against microbial pathogens ^{34, 50}.

In humans and rats, the EP1 receptor has the lowest affinity for PGE₂ among all EP receptors ⁵¹, whereas in mice, it is the second lowest affinity. It is coupled to a Gq alpha subunit (Gαq), which activates the phospholipase C pathway leading to an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels by activation of Ca²⁺ protein channels and subsequently activation of protein kinase C (PKC)⁵². Signal transduction mediated by PKC leads to the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) which are essential in inducing an immune response against viral infections^{53, 54}. PKC also leads to the activation of the transcription factors NFAT and NFκB. Dysfunction of the EP1 receptor results in decreased colon tumorigenesis in models of chemically-induced colon cancer in mice, suggesting an important role of this receptor and PGE₂ in inflammation-induced cancer ⁴⁵. EP1 has not been shown to play major roles in innate immunity, but it can be an important facilitator of naïve T cell differentiation, particularly to suboptimal stimuli^{55, 56}.

The EP2 and EP4 receptors mediate most of the immunomodulatory effects of PGE₂ in innate and adaptive immune cells. EP2 and EP4 are coupled to the Gs alpha subunit (Gas) and activation of these receptors leads to increased cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) mediated by adenylate cyclase activation ⁴⁰. EP4 has a higher affinity for PGE₂ compared to EP2. However, EP2 can increase cAMP levels to a higher degree than EP4 stimulation; which is believed to be caused by a faster desensitization of the EP4 receptor ⁴⁰. Increased intracellular cAMP leads to activation of protein kinase A (PKA) and its sister molecule, the exchange protein directly activated by cAMP (EPAC), which activates the transcription factor CREB ⁵⁷. In addition to CREB activation, EP2 and EP4 signaling can lead to inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) which inhibits the translocation of β -catenin into the nucleus. Interestingly, inhibition of GSK-3 by EP2 is dependent on increased levels of cAMP, whereas EP4mediated inhibition of GSK-3 is independent of cAMP and dependent on activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)⁴⁰. The ability of EP4 to directly activate PI3K upon PGE₂ binding also leads to the activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) that activate early growth response factor-1 which can control the expression of many genes including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α, COX-2, and mPGES1⁴⁰. EP2 and EP4 signaling have also been shown to increase the levels of interleukin-10 (IL-10) while decreasing the levels of TNF- α ^{58, 59}. The fact that EP2 and EP4 can both activate cAMP, but that they also differ in downstream signaling likely explains why these receptors have been shown to have both similar and divergent roles depending on the infection as discussed in greater detail below.



Cytosol

Figure 1-3: Prostaglandin E₂ signaling. PGE₂ can signal through 4 different GPCR subtypes termed EP1-4 or can get degraded to its inactive metabolite, 14-Keto-PGE₂. The EP1 receptor is coupled to the G_{aq} subunit which leads to the increase of intracellular Ca²⁺ levels. EP2 and EP4 are coupled to G_{as} while EP3 can couple to G_i, G_{as} or G_{12/13}. EP1 is known to induce NFkB and NFAT transcription factors, while EP2 and EP4 can induce NFkB and CREB. When EP3 is coupled to G_{as}, it can induce NFkB/CREB, but when coupled to G_i, it can inhibit these factors. Figure created using ScienceSlides

EP3 is the only EP receptor that exists in multiple variants (α , β , and γ) that are generated by alternative splicing of the carboxyl terminal tail^{38, 60}. These variants of the EP3 receptor have equal affinity for PGE₂, yet they differ in their signal transduction, desensitization, and relative expression. The three isoforms of EP3 can inhibit the activation of cAMP when coupled to the Gi protein subunit, which can also increase the levels of intracellular Ca²⁺ and can result in the antagonism of PGE₂ signaling via EP2 and/or EP4. Alternatively, EP3 can also bind to G α s and G12/13, meaning that in some instances EP3 signaling can mimic EP2 or EP4 elevations of cAMP ^{61, 62}. Figure 1-3 summarizes the downstream signaling associated with each of the EP receptors.

1.8 The role of PGE₂ in bacterial infection

PGE₂ signaling can also impair immunity to viral and fungal pathogens, yet, for the purpose of this dissertation work, I will focus just on the role of PGE₂ in bacterial infections and its implication in HSCT individuals. The role of PGE₂ in host defense against multiple bacterial infections has been well described elsewhere ³⁴. Thus, in this dissertation, I will restrict my focus on how PGE₂ regulates infection to some of the microbes that present complications to HSCT patients and that are also on the World Health Organization's (WHO, 2017) list of the most critical bacterial pathogens impacting human health which includes *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and *Staphylococcus aureus*. As noted below, the impact of PGE₂ on these infections is not uniform.

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MTb) is an intracellular bacterium and the causative agent of tuberculosis, which killed 1.8 million infected individuals in 2015 and according to the WHO has surpassed human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) as the leading cause of

death due to a single infectious agent. MTb, in any phase post-transplant, can cause complications post-HSCT⁶. In response to MTb infection, macrophages produce high levels of PGE₂ partially mediated by activation of the TLR2/p38 MAPK signaling pathway and the nuclear receptor PPARy ⁶³⁻⁶⁵. Despite the fact that PGE₂ is known to inhibit phagocytosis and killing of many bacterial pathogens by macrophages ^{24, 66}, increased production of PGE₂ and signaling through the EP2 receptor is protective against MTb and EP2^{-/-} mice are more susceptible to infection, compared to wildtype mice ⁶⁷. However, these protective effects are more closely aligned with adaptive immune alterations than innate immune signaling which is not surprising given that MTb replicates intracellularly. EP2 signaling was necessary to mount antigen-specific immunity and to downregulate the number of T regulatory cells which can dampen effector T cell responses⁶⁷. PGE₂ inhibition by indomethacin reduces MTb specific TH1 cells upon MTb infection, suggesting that PGE₂ signaling is necessary to generate MTb specific adaptive immunity⁶⁸. In addition, indomethacin treatment has been shown to activate the DP2 receptor in Th2 cells leading to higher levels of IL-2 and IL-5, which could also influence Mtb responses independent of PGE₂ levels⁶⁹. Furthermore, genetic polymorphism of EP2 in humans is correlated with susceptibility to MTb infection, as shown by a study of healthy and infected individuals from a large Chinese Han population ⁷⁰. Infection with a virulent strain of MTb leads to decreased PGE₂ and high lipoxin A₄ leading to successful spread of the pathogen by induction of macrophage necrosis, whereas high levels of PGE2 leads to control of infection by induction of apoptosis ⁷¹⁻⁷³. A shift towards necrosis within alveolar macrophages as a result of decreased levels of PGE₂ post-MTb was dependent on the virulence factor,

phospholipase C⁷⁴. Interestingly, the role of PGE₂ in MTb infections also seems to be dependent on the stage of infection. During acute infection, COX-2 inhibition leads to a successful pathogen colonization of the lung, whereas an inhibition of COX-2 during chronic infection leads to improved clearance of MTb ^{34, 75}.

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is an extracellular Gram-negative, multi-drug resistant, opportunistic bacterial pathogen that infects immunocompromised individuals including cystic fibrosis patients and HSCT patients ^{22, 76}. In contrast to the effects of PGE₂ to promote clearance of intracellular MTb, elevated levels of PGE2 in the lungs of HSCT patients or bone marrow transplant (BMT) mice are known to enhance susceptibility of the host to *P. aeruginosa* infection ²². Conditioning of the host by either total body irradiation or chemotherapy can cause elevations of PGE₂^{21, 25}. In the mouse, one mechanism that has been identified is that lung epithelial cells release transforming growth factor beta (TGF^β) in response to total body irradiation. In turn, the TGF^β binds to receptors on alveolar macrophages to upregulate a miRNA known as miR29b which then destabilizes the mRNA for DNA methyltransferase enzymes ⁷⁷. In the absence of DNA methyltransferases, the COX-2 gene becomes hypomethylated and overexpressed promoting the production of PGE₂ post-BMT ⁷⁷. In addition to the elevations of PGE₂ by BMT alone, *P. aeruginosa* infection can cause macrophages to increase PGE₂ secretion by activation of phospholipase A2a (PA2a) ⁷⁸. PGE₂ signaling via the cAMP-coupled EP2 or EP4 receptors leads to activation of IRAK-M and phosphatase and tensin homolog on chromosome 10 (PTEN) impairing phagocytosis and *P. aeruginosa* killing, as well as suppressing production of TNF-α and cysteinyl leukotrienes ^{79, 80}. BMT mice are more susceptible to *P. aeruginosa* infection unless

transplantation has been done with stem cells from either IRAK-M^{-/-} and/or PTEN^{-/-} mice, suggesting that inhibition of IRAK-M and PTEN are potential therapeutic targets to improve *P. aeruginosa* clearance post-BMT. In addition, improved clearance of *P. aeruginosa* in the lungs of BMT mice has been achieved by indomethacin treatment which blocks COX function and reduces PGE₂ levels post-transplant ⁸¹. PGE₂ has also been shown to downregulate the scavenger macrophage receptor MARCO, which is the receptor necessary for recognition of non-opsonized *P. aeruginosa* ²⁴. Thus, *P. aeruginosa*-induced PA2 α activation with subsequent secretion of PGE₂ is a mechanism that confers successful colonization with *P. aeruginosa* in normal hosts. Moreover, in BMT hosts which have elevations of PGE₂ in the lungs constitutively, infection with *P. aeruginosa* is particularly deadly⁸².

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a Gram-positive facultative anaerobic bacterium that is responsible for the majority of community-acquired pneumonia and is the main bacterial pathogen inducing mortality in influenza-associated secondary infections⁸³. *S. pneumoniae* causes complications post-HSCT in the late phase post-transplant¹⁸. Upon *S. pneumoniae* lung infection, alveolar type II cells upregulate COX-2, secreting high levels of PGE₂ that signal mainly through the EP4 receptors on lung macrophages ⁸⁴. Additionally, neutrophils secrete high amounts of PGE₂ and LTB₄ upon exposure to *S. pneumoniae*'s virulence factor, pneumolysin ⁸⁵. Signaling through EP4 receptors in alveolar macrophages post-*S. pneumoniae* infection was shown to decrease the levels of *S. pneumoniae*-induced cytokines such as TNF- α ⁸⁶. Moreover, PGE₂ has been shown to play a pivotal role in efferocytosis (apoptotic cell removal) by alveolar macrophages. High levels of PGE₂-mediated by uptake of apoptotic bodies compromise

the immune response to *S. pneumoniae* by decreasing phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and H₂O₂ production dependent on EP2/EP4 activation of cAMP ^{87, 88}. Mice deficient in EP2 or treated with indomethacin have improved killing and survival post-*S. pneumoniae* lung infection ^{89, 90}. Interestingly, EP3-deficient mice also have improved bacterial clearance, phagocytosis and survival post-*S. pneumoniae* infection ⁹¹. The reason for EP3 to influence *S. pneumoniae* killing was linked to higher production of nitric oxide (NO) by the EP3^{-/-} alveolar macrophages and one possible explanation for this was that the unchecked signaling of PGE₂ via the remaining EP2 and EP4 receptors might explain this phenomenon ⁹¹. Additionally, since the EP3γ receptor isoform has been shown to also activate adenylate cyclase in overexpression studies ^{61, ^{62, 92}, this may be the reason EP3-deficient mice experience improved survival and bacterial clearance post-*S. pneumoniae* lung infection, compared to wildtype mice even though their febrile response was blunted ⁹¹.}

In contrast to these studies which suggest PGE₂ limits host defense against *S*. *pneumoniae*, one study evaluating genetic ablation of mPGES-1 with subsequent reduction of PGE₂ showed higher bacterial burden, decreased mouse survival, lower expression of NADPH oxidase and lower NO production post- *S. pneumoniae* infection ⁹³. It is not immediately clear how to reconcile these differences, but one possibility is that selective targeting of mPGES-1 caused a redistribution of eicosanoid synthesis that is not fully characterized that may have impacted outcomes. Therefore, the role of PGE₂ in host defense against *S. pneumoniae* is complex, yet the majority of evidence suggests a negative role of PGE₂ on *S. pneumoniae* clearance.

Staphylococcus aureus is a Gram positive, biofilm-producing bacterium that has acquired antibiotic resistance to multiple drugs making it one of the leaders of nosocomial infections. Like other Gram positive bacteria, S. aureus causes complications to HSCT patients in the post-engraftment and late phase periods¹⁸. S. aureus's lipoteichoic acid is a known inducer of COX-2 expression and PGE₂ signaling ⁹⁴⁻⁹⁷. S. aureus-mediated activation of COX-2/PGE₂ pathway in oral epithelial cells facilitates S. aureus's growth and biofilm production improving bacterial attachment to fibronectin ⁹⁴. In addition, the synergistic interaction between the fungal pathogen Candida albicans and S. aureus is mediated by increased PGE₂ caused by C. albicans infections, inducing improved biofilm formation of *S. aureus*⁹⁸. Thus, *S. aureus* induction of PGE₂ leads to improved growth and survival of the bacteria at the early stages of infection. However, PGE₂ is also a well-known inducer of TH17 immunity, which is necessary to clear S. aureus infections. One study showed that diabetic mice have low levels of PGE₂ leading to low TH17 immunity and high susceptibility to S. aureus infections ⁹⁹. Thus, inhibition of PGE₂ at the early stages of infection might improve S. aureus clearance, whereas at the late stages in might be beneficial to stimulate PGE₂ synthesis to increase IL-17 and improve survival in chronic infections.

In addition to the pathogens discussed here, virulence factors of enteric pathogens including *Salmonella* serotypes (*S.enterica*, *S.dublin*, and *S.typhimirium*), *Escherichia coli*, and *Vibrio cholerae* are well-known inducers of PGE₂ as a means of establishing infection and limiting host defense ³⁴. A successful infection of *Salmonella* depends on the induction of COX-2 expression by ERK1/2 activation and inhibition of COX-2 leads to better killing of intracellular *Salmonella* in infected macrophages ¹⁰⁰. Furthermore, in a

model of sepsis induced by lethal administration of *E.coli's* LPS, COX-2^{-/-} mice have shown improved survival compared to wild-type mice ¹⁰¹. Thus PGE₂ plays an essential regulatory role in bacterial defense to a wide array of pathogens. Overall, PGE₂ seems to promote growth of extracellular bacterial species by limiting host innate immune responses. In contrast, PGE₂ impairs adaptive immune responses needed to clear intracellular MTb.

1.9 Rationale for this dissertation

This dissertation research work is focused on the impact that PGE₂ has on immunity to bacterial pathogens in the context of HSCT. As mentioned before, there are more than 60,000 HSCT performed every year as a way to cure multiple diseases. However, HSCT patients are at high risk of post-transplant complications, many of them caused by opportunistic pathogens. These infections are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality post-transplant. This work focuses on the effect of PGE₂ in critical intracellular pathways known to play a role in immunity to bacterial pathogens, the inflammasome and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) release.

1.10 PGE₂ and inflammasome-dependent IL-1β secretion

One of the most critical cytokines needed to initiate inflammation and innate immune responses is interleukin 1 (IL-1) β which is proteolytically cleaved and activated from an immature precursor protein by caspase-1 as part of a multi-protein complex known as an inflammasome. Inflammasomes react to pathogenic stimuli leading to the activation and secretion of both IL-1 β and IL-18. If not properly regulated, overzealous inflammasome activation can lead to a form of caspase-1-dependent cell death known as, pyroptosis ¹⁰². The mechanism of IL-1 β secretion by inflammasome activation is

known to be dependent primarily on two main signals. Signal 1 is mediated by activation of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) [e.g. toll like receptors (TLRs) and nod-like receptors (NLRs)] by pathogen-associated molecular patterns or PAMPs [e.g. lipopolysaccharide (LPS) found in Gram negative bacteria and lipoteichoic acid found in Gram positive bacteria)]. PAMP activation of the PRRs increases the levels of mRNA and ultimately protein for the intracellular immature IL-1ß and IL-18 precursors. Signal two is delivered by the recognition of multiple agonists (e.g. adenosine triphosphate or bacterial Type III secretion system proteins) leading to inflammasome aggregation and caspase-1-dependent processing of IL-1ß and IL-18 into their mature forms ¹⁰³. The activation of the inflammasome needs to be highly regulated as low activation might lead to a decrease in pathogen clearance and a high activation can lead to the development of IL-1β-driven auto-inflammatory syndromes ¹⁰². Dysregulation of one of the members of the inflammasome family, the NLRP3 inflammasome, has been linked to the development of cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome (CAPS), as well as to vascular diseases, non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases, obesity and type II diabetes ^{104, 105}. The role of PGE₂ on inflammasome and IL-1β activity stills needs to be fully elucidated as reports are conflicting. Two groups have reported that elevation of intracellular cAMP by PGE2 inhibits the NLRP3 inflammasome, with subsequent decreased IL-1ß secretion^{104, 106}. Inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome by PGE₂ was demonstrated to be dependent on EP2/4-mediated activation of PKA which was found to phosphorylate the Ser295 residue in NLRP3 inhibiting its function ¹⁰⁴. Furthermore, this residue is found to be mutated in CAPS patients, explaining the over-activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in these individuals¹⁰⁶. These findings are specific to the NLRP3

inflammasome and not to other inflammasome scaffolds. Other studies have shown that PGE_2 stimulation exacerbates NLRP3 dependent IL-1 β secretion in a mouse model of scorpion venom infection. These discrepancies in the association of PGE_2 with IL-1 β levels provided the rationale for my studies in Chapter 3 looking more carefully at the regulation of IL-1 β by PGE₂.

1.11 PGE₂ and Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation

Neutrophils are the most abundant leukocyte circulating in the blood and are the first recruited cells to the site of infection after tissue sentinel cells encounter pathogens ¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹. Upon pathogen recognition, neutrophils can kill microbes by phagocytosis, degranulation (secretion of antimicrobial molecules), and the release of NETs ¹¹⁰. NETs are web-like structures of decondensed chromatin containing the antimicrobial peptides neutrophil elastase (NE) and myeloperoxidase (MPO), which can trap and kill pathogens ¹¹¹. This recently described antimicrobial pathway has been shown to play a role in the clearance of pathogens that are too big to be engulfed by phagocytosis including Candida albicans hyphae and extracellular aggregates of Mycobacterium bovis ¹¹². Yet, they can also play a role in killing of smaller bacterial pathogens including S. aureus, Salmonella typhimurium, and Shigella flexneri¹¹¹. NETs release has been shown to be dependent on the scavenger receptor dectin-1, superoxide generation and the intracellular pathway known as autophagy which allows for cellular homeostasis under periods of stress ¹¹³. Inhibition of either autophagy or NADPH oxidase as well as dectin-1 deficiency can inhibit the formation of NETs ^{112, 113}. Given that PMNs and NETS are likely to play an important role in defending against numerous bacterial and fungal pathogens known to infect HSCT patients and knowing that HSCT patients are
more susceptible to such infections provided the rationale for why this dissertation addressed the question of how HSCT and PGE₂ regulate NETs in Chapter 4.

1.12 Conclusions

HSCT patients are at high risk of post-transplant complications due to immunosuppression and treatment-related toxicity. Pulmonary infections, particularly bacterial infections, are major complications in HSCT patients and contribute significantly to increased morbidity and mortality. HSCT patients have elevated levels of PGE₂ in the serum and in the BALF. PGE₂ has multiple functions on immune cells (Figure 1-4) and tends to lend the host more susceptible to bacterial, fungal, and viral infections. In this dissertation, the role of PGE₂ in regulating immunity to bacterial pathogens post-HSCT was studied in alveolar macrophages and PMNs, with a focus on the innate intracellular pathways, inflammasome and NETs.



Figure 1-4: PGE₂ effects on immune cells. (From left to right) Macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and T cells. The known effects of PGE₂ on these cells are summarized below each cell. Symbol meaning: \uparrow increase/activation; \downarrow decrease; \dashv inhibits. Figure created using ScienceSlides.

1.13 References

1. Tyndall A. Successes and failures of stem cell transplantation in autoimmune diseases. *Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program* 2011; **2011**: 280-284.

- 2. Gonsalves WI, Buadi FK, Ailawadhi S, Bergsagel PL, Chanan Khan AA, Dingli D et al. Utilization of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of multiple myeloma: a Mayo Stratification of Myeloma and Risk-Adapted Therapy (mSMART) consensus statement. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2018.
- 3. Niederwieser D, Baldomero H, Szer J, Gratwohl M, Aljurf M, Atsuta Y *et al.* Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation activity worldwide in 2012 and a SWOT analysis of the Worldwide Network for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Group including the global survey. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2016; **51**(6): 778-785.
- 4. Gratwohl A, Ruiz de Elvira C, Gratwohl M, Greinix HT, Duarte R. Gender and Graft-versus-Host Disease after Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2016; **22**(6): 1145-1146.
- 5. Gratwohl A BHAM, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: A global perspective. *JAMA* 2010; **303**(16): 1617-1624.
- 6. Ullah K, Raza S, Ahmed P, Chaudhry QU, Satti TM, Ahmed S *et al.* Posttransplant infections: single center experience from the developing world. *International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases* 2008; **12**(2): 203-214.
- Pena E, Souza CA, Escuissato DL, Gomes MM, Allan D, Tay J et al. Noninfectious pulmonary complications after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: practical approach to imaging diagnosis. *Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc* 2014; 34(3): 663-683.
- 8. Chi AK, Soubani AO, White AC, Miller KB. An update on pulmonary complications of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Chest* 2013; **144**(6): 1913-1922.
- 9. Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Griese M, Madtes DK, Belperio JA, Haddad IY, Folz RJ *et al.* An official American Thoracic Society research statement: noninfectious lung injury after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: idiopathic pneumonia syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011; **183**(9): 1262-1279.
- 10. Yoshihara S, Yanik G, Cooke KR, Mineishi S. Bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS), bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia (BOOP), and other lateonset noninfectious pulmonary complications following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2007; **13**(7): 749-759.

- 11. Soubani AO, Pandya CM. The spectrum of noninfectious pulmonary complications following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Hematology/oncology and stem cell therapy* 2010; **3**(3): 143-157.
- 12. Soubani AO, Uberti JP. Bronchiolitis obliterans following haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Eur Respir J* 2007; **29**(5): 1007-1019.
- 13. Soubani AO, Miller KB, Hassoun PM. Pulmonary complications of bone marrow transplantation. *CHEST* 1996; **109**(4): 1066-1077.
- 14. Khurshid I, Anderson LC. Non-infectious pulmonary complications after bone marrow transplantation. *Postgraduate medical journal* 2002; **78**(919): 257-262.
- 15. Afessa B, Abdulai RM, Kremers WK, Hogan WJ, Litzow MR, Peters SG. Risk Factors and Outcome of Pulmonary Complications After Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell TransplantHematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant Complications. *CHEST* 2012; **141**(2): 442-450.
- Kotloff RM, Ahya VN, Crawford SW. Pulmonary complications of solid organ and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2004; 170(1): 22-48.
- 17. Kumar D, Humar A, Plevneshi A, Siegal D, Franke N, Green K *et al.* Invasive pneumococcal disease in adult hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients: a decade of prospective population-based surveillance. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2008; **41**(8): 743-747.
- 18. Lossos IS, Breuer R, Or R, Strauss N, Elishoov H, Naparstek E *et al.* Bacterial pneumonia in recipients of bone marrow transplantation. A five-year prospective study. *Transplantation* 1995; **60**(7): 672-678.
- 19. Lavergne V, Ghannoum M, Weiss K, Roy J, Beliveau C. Successful prevention of respiratory syncytial virus nosocomial transmission following an enhanced seasonal infection control program. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2011; **46**(1): 137-142.
- 20. Kontoyiannis DP, Marr KA, Park BJ, Alexander BD, Anaissie EJ, Walsh TJ *et al.* Prospective surveillance for invasive fungal infections in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients, 2001-2006: overview of the Transplant-Associated Infection

Surveillance Network (TRANSNET) Database. *Clin Infect Dis* 2010; **50**(8): 1091-1100.

- 21. Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Wilke CA, Moore BB. Comparison of conditioning regimens for alveolar macrophage reconstitution and innate immune function post bone marrow transplant. *Exp Lung Res* 2008; **34**(5): 263-275.
- 22. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Moore BB. Defective pulmonary innate immune responses post-stem cell transplantation; review and results from one model system. *Front Immunol* 2013; **4:** 126.
- 23. Ballinger MN, Hubbard LL, McMillan TR, Toews GB, Peters-Golden M, Paine R, 3rd *et al.* Paradoxical role of alveolar macrophage-derived granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor in pulmonary host defense post-bone marrow transplantation. *American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology* 2008; **295**(1): L114-122.
- 24. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani CH, Moore TA, Levine AM, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2-induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus post-bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2013; **190**(11): 5809-5817.
- 25. Cayeux SJ, Beverly PCL, Schulz R, Dorken B. Elevated plasma prostaglandin E2 levels found in 14 patients undergoing autologous or stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 1993; **12:** 603-608.
- 26. Martinez-Colon GJ, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2 as a Regulator of Immunity to Pathogens. *Pharmacology & therapeutics* 2018; **185:** 135-146.
- Ballinger MN, Aronoff DM, McMillan TR, Cooke KR, Okiewicz K, Toews GB *et al.* Critical Role of Prostaglandin E2 Overproduction in Impaired Pulmonary Host Response Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *J Immunol* 2006; **177:** 5499-5508.
- 28. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani C, Moore T, LeVine A, Moore B. PGE₂induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* post-bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2013; **(in press)**.

- 29. Ojielo C, Cooke KR, Mancuso P, Standiford TJ, Olkiewicz KM, Cloutheir S *et al.* Defective phagocytosis and clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the Lung Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *J Immunol* 2003; **171:** 4416-4424.
- 30. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Huang SK, Laouar Y, Wilke CA, Moore BB. COX-2 Expression Is Upregulated by DNA Hypomethylation after Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *The Journal of Immunology* 2012; **189**(9): 4528-4536.
- 31. Dennis EA, Norris PC. Eicosanoid storm in infection and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2015; **15**(8): 511-523.
- 32. Wang D, Dubois RN. Eicosanoids and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2010; **10**(3): 181-193.
- 33. Black HS, Rhodes LE. Potential Benefits of Omega-3 Fatty Acids in Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer. *Journal of clinical medicine* 2016; **5**(2).
- Agard M, Asakrah S, Morici LA. PGE(2) suppression of innate immunity during mucosal bacterial infection. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology* 2013; 3: 45.
- Suram S, Silveira LJ, Mahaffey S, Brown GD, Bonventre JV, Williams DL *et al.* Cytosolic phospholipase A(2)alpha and eicosanoids regulate expression of genes in macrophages involved in host defense and inflammation. *PloS one* 2013; 8(7): e69002.
- 36. Xing M, Post S, Ostrom RS, Samardzija M, Insel PA. Inhibition of phospholipase A2-mediated arachidonic acid release by cyclic AMP defines a negative feedback loop for P2Y receptor activation in Madin-Darby canine kidney D1 cells. *J Biol Chem* 1999; **274**(15): 10035-10038.
- 37. Funk CD. Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. *Science (New York, NY)* 2001; **294**(5548): 1871-1875.
- **38.** Sugimoto Y, Narumiya S. Prostaglandin E receptors. *J Biol Chem* 2007; **282**(16): 11613-11617.
- 39. Crofford LJ. COX-1 and COX-2 tissue expression: implications and predictions. *J Rheumatol Suppl* 1997; **49:** 15-19.

- **40.** Regan JW. EP2 and EP4 prostanoid receptor signaling. *Life Sci* 2003; **74**(2-3): 143-153.
- 41. Ricciotti E, FitzGerald GA. Prostaglandins and inflammation. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 2011; **31**(5): 986-1000.
- 42. Reid GK, Kargman S, Vickers PJ, Mancini JA, Leveille C, Ethier D *et al.* Correlation between expression of 5-lipoxygenase-activating protein, 5lipoxygenase, and cellular leukotriene synthesis. *J Biol Chem* 1990; **265**(32): 19818-19823.
- 43. Ballinger MN, McMillan TR, Moore BB. Eicosanoid regulation of pulmonary innate immunity post-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 2007; **55**(1): 1-12.
- 44. Russel FG, Koenderink JB, Masereeuw R. Multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4): a versatile efflux transporter for drugs and signalling molecules. *Trends in pharmacological sciences* 2008; **29**(4): 200-207.
- 45. O'Callaghan G, Houston A. Prostaglandin E2 and the EP receptors in malignancy: possible therapeutic targets? *Br J Pharmacol* 2015; **172**(22): 5239-5250.
- 46. Gerrard JM, Stuart MJ, Rao GH, Steffes MW, Mauer SM, Brown DM *et al.* Alteration in the balance of prostaglandin and thromboxane synthesis in diabetic rats. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine* 1980; **95**(6): 950-958.
- 47. Schambelan M, Blake S, Sraer J, Bens M, Nivez MP, Wahbe F. Increased prostaglandin production by glomeruli isolated from rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1985; **75**(2): 404-412.
- 48. Omori K, Kida T, Hori M, Ozaki H, Murata T. Multiple roles of the PGE2 -EP receptor signal in vascular permeability. *Br J Pharmacol* 2014; **171**(21): 4879-4889.
- 49. Rogers LM, Thelen T, Fordyce K, Bourdonnay E, Lewis C, Yu H *et al.* EP4 and EP2 receptor activation of protein kinase A by prostaglandin E2 impairs macrophage phagocytosis of Clostridium sordellii. *American journal of reproductive immunology (New York, NY : 1989)* 2014; **71**(1): 34-43.

- 50. Sander WJ, O'Neill HG, Pohl CH. Prostaglandin E2 As a Modulator of Viral Infections. *Frontiers in physiology* 2017; **8:** 89.
- 51. Dey I, Lejeune M, Chadee K. Prostaglandin E2 receptor distribution and function in the gastrointestinal tract. *Br J Pharmacol* 2006; **149**(6): 611-623.
- 52. Watabe A, Sugimoto Y, Honda A, Irie A, Namba T, Negishi M *et al.* Cloning and expression of cDNA for a mouse EP1 subtype of prostaglandin E receptor. *J Biol Chem* 1993; **268:** 20175-20178.
- 53. Liu Y, Shepherd EG, Nelin LD. MAPK phosphatases--regulating the immune response. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2007; **7**(3): 202-212.
- 54. Huang CY, Tan TH. DUSPs, to MAP kinases and beyond. *Cell & bioscience* 2012; **2**(1): 24.
- 55. Nagamachi M, Sakata D, Kabashima K, Furuyashiki T, Murata T, Segi-Nishida E *et al.* Facilitation of Th1-mediated immune response by prostaglandin E receptor EP1. *J Exp Med* 2007; **204**(12): 2865-2874.
- 56. Sakata D, Yao C, Narumiya S. Emerging roles of prostanoids in T cell-mediated immunity. *IUBMB Life* 2010; **62**(8): 591-596.
- 57. Cheng X, Ji Z, Tsalkova T, Mei F. Epac and PKA: a tale of two intracellular cAMP receptors. *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica* 2008; **40**(7): 651-662.
- 58. Akaogi J, Yamada H, Kuroda Y, Nacionales DC, Reeves WH, Satoh M. Prostaglandin E2 receptors EP2 and EP4 are up-regulated in peritoneal macrophages and joints of pristane-treated mice and modulate TNF-alpha and IL-6 production. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004; **76**(1): 227-236. Epub 2004 Apr 2001.
- Shinomiya S, Naraba H, Ueno A, Utsunomiya I, Maruyama T, Ohuchida S *et al.* Regulation of TNFalpha and interleukin-10 production by prostaglandins I(2) and E(2): studies with prostaglandin receptor-deficient mice and prostaglandin Ereceptor subtype-selective synthetic agonists. *Biochemical pharmacology* 2001; 61(9): 1153-1160.
- 60. Sugimoto Y, Namba T, Honda A, Hayashi Y, Negishi M, Ichikawa A *et al.* Cloning and expression of a cDNA for mouse prostaglandin E receptor EP3 subtype. *J Biol Chem* 1992; **267:** 6463-6466.

- 61. Moreno JJ. Eicosanoid receptors: Targets for the treatment of disrupted intestinal epithelial homeostasis. *European journal of pharmacology* 2017; **796:** 7-19.
- 62. Kim SO, Dozier BL, Kerry JA, Duffy DM. EP3 receptor isoforms are differentially expressed in subpopulations of primate granulosa cells and couple to unique G-proteins. *Reproduction (Cambridge, England)* 2013; **146**(6): 625-635.
- 63. Nishimura T, Zhao X, Gan H, Koyasu S, Remold HG. The prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 is integral to a positive feedback loop for prostaglandin E2 production in human macrophages infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 2013; **27**(9): 3827-3836.
- 64. Almeida PE, Roque NR, Magalhaes KG, Mattos KA, Teixeira L, Maya-Monteiro C *et al.* Differential TLR2 downstream signaling regulates lipid metabolism and cytokine production triggered by Mycobacterium bovis BCG infection. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2014; **1841**(1): 97-107.
- 65. Venkataprasad N, Shiratsuchi H, Johnson JL, Ellner JJ. Induction of prostaglandin E2 by human monocytes infected with Mycobacterium avium complex--modulation of cytokine expression. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1996; **174**(4): 806-811.
- 66. Serezani CH, Chung J, Ballinger MN, Moore BB, Aronoff DM, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 suppresses bacterial killing in alveolar macrophages by inhibiting NADPH oxidase. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2007; **37**(5): 562-570.
- 67. Kaul V, Bhattacharya D, Singh Y, Van Kaer L, Peters-Golden M, Bishai WR *etal.* An important role of prostanoid receptor EP2 in host resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in mice. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2012; **206**(12): 1816-1825.
- 68. Tonby K, Wergeland I, Lieske NV, Kvale D, Tasken K, Dyrhol-Riise AM. The COX- inhibitor indomethacin reduces Th1 effector and T regulatory cells in vitro in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *BMC infectious diseases* 2016; **16**(1): 599.
- 69. Tanaka K, Hirai H, Takano S, Nakamura M, Nagata K. Effects of prostaglandin D2 on helper T cell functions. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 2004; **316**(4): 1009-1014.

- 70. Liang L, Zhang Q, Luo LL, Yue J, Zhao YL, Han M *et al.* Polymorphisms in the prostaglandin receptor EP2 gene confers susceptibility to tuberculosis. *Infection, genetics and evolution : journal of molecular epidemiology and evolutionary genetics in infectious diseases* 2016; **46**: 23-27.
- 71. Behar SM, Divangahi M, Remold HG. Evasion of innate immunity by Mycobacterium tuberculosis: is death an exit strategy? *Nature reviews Microbiology* 2010; **8**(9): 668-674.
- 72. Chen M, Divangahi M, Gan H, Shin DS, Hong S, Lee DM *et al.* Lipid mediators in innate immunity against tuberculosis: opposing roles of PGE2 and LXA4 in the induction of macrophage death. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2008; **205**(12): 2791-2801.
- 73. Divangahi M, Desjardins D, Nunes-Alves C, Remold HG, Behar SM. Eicosanoid pathways regulate adaptive immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Nature immunology* 2010; **11**(8): 751-758.
- 74. Assis PA, Espindola MS, Paula-Silva FW, Rios WM, Pereira PA, Leao SC *et al.* Mycobacterium tuberculosis expressing phospholipase C subverts PGE2 synthesis and induces necrosis in alveolar macrophages. *BMC microbiology* 2014; **14:** 128.
- Rangel Moreno J, Estrada Garcia I, De La Luz Garcia Hernandez M, Aguilar Leon D, Marquez R, Hernandez Pando R. The role of prostaglandin E2 in the immunopathogenesis of experimental pulmonary tuberculosis. *Immunology* 2002; 106(2): 257-266.
- 76. Kobayashi H, Kobayashi O, Kawai S. Pathogenesis and clinical manifestations of chronic colonization by Pseudomonas aeruginosa and its biofilms in the airway tract. *J Infect Chemother* 2009; **15**(3): 125-142.
- 77. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Wilke CA, Huang SK, Laouar Y, Brown JP, Freeman CM *et al.* Transforming growth factor-beta induces microRNA-29b to promote murine alveolar macrophage dysfunction after bone marrow transplantation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015; **308**(1): L86-95.
- 78. Hurley BP, Pirzai W, Mumy KL, Gronert K, McCormick BA. Selective eicosanoidgenerating capacity of cytoplasmic phospholipase A2 in Pseudomonas aeruginosa-infected epithelial cells. *American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology* 2011; **300**(2): L286-294.

- Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Thomas PE, Wilke CA, Standiford TJ, Kobayashi KS et al. A Role for IL-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase-M in Prostaglandin E2-Induced Immunosuppression Post-Bone Marrow Transplantation. J Immunol 2010; 184(11): 6299-6308.
- 80. Hubbard L, Wilke C, White E, Moore B. PTEN Limits Alveolar Macrophage Function Against Pseudomonas aeruginosa Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2011; **45**(5): 1050-1058.
- 81. Martinez-Colon GJ, Taylor QM, Wilke CA, Podsiad AB, Moore BB. Elevated prostaglandin E2 post-bone marrow transplant mediates interleukin-1beta-related lung injury. *Mucosal immunology* 2017.
- 82. Ojielo CI, Cooke K, Mancuso P, Standiford TJ, Olkiewicz KM, Clouthier S *et al.* Defective phagocytosis and clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the lung following bone marrow transplantation. *J Immunol* 2003; **171**(8): 4416-4424.
- Sharma-Chawla N, Sender V, Kershaw O, Gruber AD, Volckmar J, Henriques-Normark B *et al.* Influenza A Virus Infection Predisposes Hosts to Secondary Infection with Different Streptococcus pneumoniae Serotypes with Similar Outcome but Serotype-Specific Manifestation. *Infect Immun* 2016; 84(12): 3445-3457.
- 84. Szymanski KV, Toennies M, Becher A, Fatykhova D, N'Guessan PD, Gutbier B *et al.* Streptococcus pneumoniae-induced regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 in human lung tissue. *Eur Respir J* 2012; **40**(6): 1458-1467.
- 85. Cockeran R, Steel HC, Mitchell TJ, Feldman C, Anderson R. Pneumolysin potentiates production of prostaglandin E(2) and leukotriene B(4) by human neutrophils. *Infect Immun* 2001; **69**(5): 3494-3496.
- 86. Gill SK, Yao Y, Kay LJ, Bewley MA, Marriott HM, Peachell PT. The antiinflammatory effects of PGE2 on human lung macrophages are mediated by the EP4 receptor. *Br J Pharmacol* 2016; **173**(21): 3099-3109.
- 87. Medeiros AI, Serezani CH, Lee SP, Peters-Golden M. Efferocytosis impairs pulmonary macrophage and lung antibacterial function via PGE2/EP2 signaling. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2009; **206**(1): 61-68.

- Salina AC, Souza TP, Serezani CH, Medeiros AI. Efferocytosis-induced prostaglandin E2 production impairs alveolar macrophage effector functions during Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Innate immunity* 2017; 23(3): 219-227.
- 89. Aronoff DM, Canetti C, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits alveolar macrophage phagocytosis through an E-prostanoid 2 receptor-mediated increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. *J Immunol* 2004; **173**(1): 559-565.
- Aronoff DM, Bergin IL, Lewis C, Goel D, O'Brien E, Peters-Golden M *et al.* E-prostanoid 2 receptor signaling suppresses lung innate immunity against Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Prostaglandins & other lipid mediators* 2012; **98**(1-2): 23-30.
- Aronoff DM, Lewis C, Serezani CH, Eaton KA, Goel D, Phipps JC *et al.* E-prostanoid 3 receptor deletion improves pulmonary host defense and protects mice from death in severe Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *J Immunol* 2009; 183(4): 2642-2649.
- 92. Tamma G, Wiesner B, Furkert J, Hahm D, Oksche A, Schaefer M *et al.* The prostaglandin E2 analogue sulprostone antagonizes vasopressin-induced antidiuresis through activation of Rho. *Journal of cell science* 2003; **116**(Pt 16): 3285-3294.
- 93. Dolan JM, Weinberg JB, O'Brien E, Abashian A, Procario MC, Aronoff DM *et al.* Increased lethality and defective pulmonary clearance of Streptococcus pneumoniae in microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1-knockout mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2016; **310**(11): L1111-1120.
- 94. Wang Y, Ren B, Zhou X, Liu S, Zhou Y, Li B *et al.* Growth and adherence of Staphylococcus aureus were enhanced through the PGE2 produced by the activated COX-2/PGE2 pathway of infected oral epithelial cells. *PloS one* 2017; 12(5): e0177166.
- 95. Venza I, Visalli M, Cucinotta M, Teti D, Venza M. NOD2 triggers PGE2 synthesis leading to IL-8 activation in Staphylococcus aureus-infected human conjunctival epithelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2013; **440**(4): 551-557.
- 96. Somayaji SN, Ritchie S, Sahraei M, Marriott I, Hudson MC. Staphylococcus aureus induces expression of receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand and prostaglandin E2 in infected murine osteoblasts. *Infect Immun* 2008; **76**(11): 5120-5126.

- 97. Lin CH, Kuan IH, Lee HM, Lee WS, Sheu JR, Ho YS *et al.* Induction of cyclooxygenase-2 protein by lipoteichoic acid from Staphylococcus aureus in human pulmonary epithelial cells: involvement of a nuclear factor-kappa B-dependent pathway. *Br J Pharmacol* 2001; **134**(3): 543-552.
- 98. Krause J, Geginat G, Tammer I. Prostaglandin E2 from Candida albicans Stimulates the Growth of Staphylococcus aureus in Mixed Biofilms. *PloS one* 2015; **10**(8): e0135404.
- Dejani NN, Brandt SL, Pineros A, Glosson-Byers NL, Wang S, Son YM *et al.* Topical Prostaglandin E Analog Restores Defective Dendritic Cell-Mediated Th17 Host Defense Against Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus in the Skin of Diabetic Mice. *Diabetes* 2016; 65(12): 3718-3729.
- 100. Uchiya K, Nikai T. Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium infection induces cyclooxygenase 2 expression in macrophages: involvement of Salmonella pathogenicity island 2. *Infect Immun* 2004; **72**(12): 6860-6869.
- 101. Ejima K, Layne MD, Carvajal IM, Kritek PA, Baron RM, Chen YH *et al.* Cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice are resistant to endotoxin-induced inflammation and death. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 2003; **17**(10): 1325-1327.
- 102. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. *Nature medicine* 2015; **21**(7): 677-687.
- 103. Munoz-Planillo R, Kuffa P, Martinez-Colon G, Smith BL, Rajendiran TM, Nunez G. K(+) efflux is the common trigger of NLRP3 inflammasome activation by bacterial toxins and particulate matter. *Immunity* 2013; **38**(6): 1142-1153.
- 104. Mortimer L, Moreau F, MacDonald JA, Chadee K. NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition is disrupted in a group of auto-inflammatory disease CAPS mutations. *Nature immunology* 2016; **17**(10): 1176-1186.
- 105. Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. *Nature* 2012; **481**(7381): 278-286.
- *106.* Sokolowska M, Chen LY, Liu Y, Martinez-Anton A, Qi HY, Logun C *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation through EP4

Receptor and Intracellular Cyclic AMP in Human Macrophages. *J Immunol* 2015; **194**(11): 5472-5487.

- 107. Wang Q. Neutrophils in innate immunity. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* 2004; **25**(1): 33-41.
- 108. Lehrer RI, Ganz T, Selsted ME, Babior BM, Curnutte JT. Neutrophils and host defense. *Ann Intern Med* 1988; **109**(2): 127-142.
- 109. Nauseef WM, Borregaard N. Neutrophils at work. *Nature immunology* 2014; **15**(7): 602-611.
- 110. Papayannopoulos V, Zychlinsky A. NETs: a new strategy for using old weapons. *Trends in immunology* 2009; **30**(11): 513-521.
- *111.* Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* 2004; **303**(5663): 1532-1535.
- 112. Branzk N, Lubojemska A, Hardison SE, Wang Q, Gutierrez MG, Brown GD *et al.* Neutrophils sense microbe size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens. *Nature immunology* 2014; **15**(11): 1017-1025.
- 113. Remijsen Q, Vanden Berghe T, Wirawan E, Asselbergh B, Parthoens E, De Rycke R *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular trap cell death requires both autophagy and superoxide generation. *Cell research* 2011; **21**(2): 290-304.

Chapter 2.

Material and Methods

2.1 Human Subjects

Experimental samples were from human subjects that received hematopoietic stem cell transplant; patients were from the age of 27-71 at the moment of blood collection. Control samples were from healthy volunteers from the age of 23-53 at the moment of blood collection. Written informed consent was received and all experiments were approved by the University of Michigan institutional review board.

2.2 Animal

C57BL/6J and BALB/c mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) and bred in the animal facilities at the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor, MI). Breeding colonies of TLR9^{-/-} mice, on a BALB/c background, were kindly donated by Dr. Shizuo Akira and were also bred in the animal facilities of the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor, MI). All mice used were at least 6-7 weeks old by the time of infection and/or treatment. Experiments were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

2.3 Cell culture media

Supplemented media (Complete media) (89% Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Lonza) without L-Glutamine, 10% Fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco), 1% Penicillin-streptomycin (Pen-Strep) (Gibco), 2mM L-Glutamine (Gibco), and

250ng/ml Amphotericin (Gibco)); Serum Free media (SFM) (DMEM without L-Glutamine, 0.1% Bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% Pen-Strep, 2mM L-Glutamine, and 250ng/ml Amphotericin (Gibco)); Bronchoalveolar lavage media (Complete media, and 5mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Lonza)); L-cell (L-929) media (10% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, 89% Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium with 4mM L-Glutamine (IMDM) (Hyclone)); Bone Marrow Derive Macrophages (BMDM) media (10% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, 59% IMDM with 4mM L-Glutamine, and 30% L-cell supernatant).

2.4 Reagents

PGE₂ (1-1000nM; Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI); Forskolin (25µM; Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI); *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* LPS (100ng/ml; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (1µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Caspase-1 inhibitor (10nM Ac-YVAD-CHO; Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY); Caspase-8 inhibitor (10nM Ac-IETD-CHO; BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA); CREB inhibitor (100µM Naphthol AS-E phosphate; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); EP2 agonist (1µM Butaprost; Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI), EP3 agonist (10nM Sulprostone; Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI) EP4 agonist (500nM ONO-AE1-329; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Protein Kinase A (PKA) agonist (50µM 6-BNZ-cAMP; Biolog, Hayward, CA); Epac agonist (50µM 8-pcpt-2'-OM-cAMP; Biolog, Hayward, CA). Indomethacin (1.2mg/kg; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Diclofenac (30mg/kg; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); PF-04418948 (EP2 antagonist) (10nM; Pfizer); AE3-208 (EP4 antagonist) (1µM; Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI); Rapamycin (1µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89 dihdrochloride hydrate (PKA antagonist) (20µM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); H-89

MO); ESI-09 (Epac antagonist) (35 μM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Wortmannin (100nM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Diphenyleneiodonium (DPI) (10μM; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO); Anti-IFN-γ neutralizing antibody (XMG1.2) (200Mg; BioXcell; West Lebanon, NH); ODN 2088 and 2088 control (50ug; InvivoGen; San Diego, CA); Recombinant mouse IFN-γ (10ng/ml, RD systems; Minneapolis, MN).

2.5 Isolation of Human Neutrophils

Neutrophils were isolated from human blood by gradient centrifugation. Briefly, blood was overlaid gently in Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare) medium prior to centrifuging at 1,400rpm with slow acceleration and no brake for 20min. Neutrophils were then separated from the plasma and PBMCs and mixed with 20% dextran for 15min. Solution was then diluted with PBS and left undisturbed for 30min. After incubation there are two layers, neutrophils are isolated from the top layer, the bottom layer contains the red blood cells-Dextran. Solution containing neutrophils was then centrifuged and pellet was resuspended in 20mL of 0.2% NaCl for 3min followed by 30mL of 1.8% NaCl to lyse red blood cells. Neutrophils were washed, counted, and differential staining was performed to detect purity of the assay.

2.6 Isolating murine neutrophils from lung

Neutrophils were recruited to the lung by administration of 50µl of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (25µg/ml) diluted in saline solution. BAL was performed 18 hours post-LPS administration with RPMI with L-Glutamine without phenol red (Gibco). BALF fluid was centrifuged for 10min at 1,200rpm prior to RBC lysis. Pellets were reconstituted in complete media and cells were counted before platting. Differential staining was performed to detect purity of the assay.

2.7 Isolating murine bone marrow neutrophils

Neutrophils were isolated from the femur and tibia of healthy C57BL/6J mice by gradient centrifugation. Briefly, mice were euthanized by CO₂ asphyxiation and femur and tibia were collected in a sterile environment. Epiphyses of the bones were cut and 26Gx¹/₂ needles were used to flush 10mls of complete media containing 2mM EDTA onto a 50ml conical tube. Larger bone marrow tissue was disaggregated by aspirating up and down with a syringe containing an 18Gx¹/₂ needle. Samples were centrifuged at 1,400 rpm for 7 min at 4 °C. RBC was lysed with RBC lysis buffer. 1ml of sample was added onto a 15ml conical tube containing 3ml of warmed Histopaque 1119 (Sigma-Aldrich) below 3ml of Histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich). Samples were centrifuged for 30min at 2,000 rpm at 25°C without brake. Neutrophils were collected from the interface of the Histopaque 1119 and Histopaque 1077 layers. Neutrophils were washed in PBS, counted, and differential staining was performed to detect purity.

2.8 Isolation of human peripheral monocyte-derived macrophages

Monocytes were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of human blood from healthy volunteers, and then differentiated *in vitro* with complete media containing macrophage colony stimulation factor (M-CSF) (RD systems). Briefly, blood was gently overlaid into Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare) prior to centrifugation at 1,440 rpm with slow acceleration, and no break at room temperature (25°C) for 20min. PBMCs were isolated from the interface of the plasma and Ficoll-Paque. PBMCs were washed in PBS and incubated in 175cm² tissue culture flask in complete media for one hour at 37°C with 5%CO₂. After an hour, media was aspirated and cells were washed in

PBS before incubating for 6-7 days at 37°C with 5%CO₂ in complete media containing 2.5ng/ml of M-CSF.

2.9 Isolation of murine Alveolar Macrophages (AMs)

AMs are harvested by performing bronchoalveolar lavages (BAL). Briefly, mice were euthanized by CO₂ asphyxiation, and placed in a sterile foam board prior to exposing the chest cavity and trachea. Two washes with 10ml of BAL media were performed per mouse where BAL fluid (BALF) was collected in a 10ml sterile syringe and transferred onto a 50ml conical. BALF was centrifuged at 1,200rpms for 10mins prior to lysing the red blood cell with a RBC lysis buffer. AMs pellet was then dissolved in complete media. Each mouse provides around 3x10⁵-5x10⁵ AMs. Thus, multiple mice have to be used dependent on the experiments.

2.10 Isolation of lung macrophages

Total lung cells were obtained by perfusing the lung with PBS followed by digesting the whole lung with Collagenase A (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Lung macrophages were selected by adherence selection to a cell culture tissue plate from total lung cells that were added for 30min and then washed twice in PBS. Over 90% purity was confirmed by differential staining of attached cells.

2.11 Differentiation of Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs)

BMDMs were differentiated by isolating bone marrow stem cells and incubating them with L-cell supernatant. Briefly, mice were euthanized by CO₂ asphyxiation and femur and tibia were isolated. Epiphyses of the bones were cut and 26Gx¹/₂ needles were used to flush 10mls of complete media containing 2mM EDTA onto a 50ml conical

tube. Cells were centrifuged to remove media at 1,200rpm for 10 minutes in 4°C. Red blood cells were then lysed, and bone marrow stem cells were incubated for 7 days on BMDMs differentiation media. Every two days media was changed.

2.12 Bone Marrow Transplantation

Healthy 6-8 week old C57BL/6J male mice were irradiated with a split dose of 13 gray (13-Gy) with the use of an X-rad 320 irradiator. Irradiated mice were infused with $5x10^{6}$ bone marrow cells from a genetically identical donor (C57BL/6J). Mice were housed for 5 weeks after infusion to achieve full reconstitution of their immune system. The percentage of donor-derived cells was $95 \pm 1\%$ in the spleen and $82 \pm 2\%$ in the lung at this time point, as assessed by transplanting CD45.1⁺ bone marrow into C57BL/6J CD45.2⁺ mice¹.

2.13 LPS-induced lung injury

Acute lung injury was induced by intratracheal inoculation of 50µg of *P.aeruginosa*-derived LPS (Sigma-Aldrich) in 40µl of saline solution. BALF and lung were harvested 24hours after treatment.

2.14 In vivo influenza infections

All influenza infections were done with the influenza A virus (H1N1) strain A/PR/8/34 (PR8) purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA). Briefly, intranasal instillation of 30µl of PBS containing 10-100 plaque forming units of PR8 were performed in healthy female or male mice that were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine. Mice were monitored daily for weight loss until harvest day, usually 5-10 days post-infection.

2.15 Viral load quantification in lung by plaque assay

Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells were used for the viral titer quantification from whole lungs of infected mice. Briefly, 2x10⁵ MDCK cells were grown in 12-well plate until well-covered cell monolayer was achieved. Cells were then incubated with serial dilutions of homogenized lungs from infected mice. Cells were washed in 1x MEM-BSA (DMEM, 2mM L-Glutamine, 250ng/ml amphotericin, Pen-Strep, and 10% BSA) medium, then incubated with gentle agitation for an hour at 37°C with virus containing sample prior to incubation with a MEM-BSA & 3% Carboxy Methyl Cellulose solution. Plates were incubated at 37°C for 48-72 hours before adding a crystal violet solution for plaque quantification.

2.16 In vivo bacterial infections

Lung bacterial infections were done with a non-invasive oral instillation method. Briefly, mice were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine prior to be placed in a sterile foam board where sterile forceps were used to gently pull the tongue prior administrating 50µl of PBS-containing bacteria in their oral cavity; nasal air passage were close with forceps and mice aspirated the bacteria. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PA01) infections were intended to be at 5x10⁵ CFUs per mouse but instillations through all experiments came in the range of 2x10⁵-1x10⁷ CFUs. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (SPS3)(Serotype 3, 6303) infections were intended to be at 1x10⁵ CFUs per mouse but instillations through all experiments came in the range of 1x10⁵-4x10⁵ CFUs. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) (NRS384; US300) infections were intended to be 7x10⁷CFUs per mouse but instillations through

all the experiments came in the range of 5x10⁷-2x10⁸CFUs. Mice were monitored daily until harvest day, usually 24-48 hours post-infection.

2.17 Bacterial burden quantification

Total lung bacterial burden measurements were obtained by performing BAL in infected lung before homogenizing the lung in 1ml PBS with a tissue homogenizer (OMNI International; Kennesaw, GA). Serial dilutions of BALF and lung were performed and plating was done on nutrient agar plates. Plates were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C prior to counting colonies. Absolute bacterial numbers in the BALF and lung were added together and were transformed to logarithmic values for statistical analysis.

2.18 Viral and bacterial co-infection

Initial influenza infections were performed by intranasal instillation of 30µl of PBS containing 100 PFUs of PR8 to mice that were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine. Secondary bacterial infection with MRSA 7x10⁷CFUs or SPS3 1x10⁵CFUs were performed five days post initial viral infection. Mice were monitored daily during the course of infection and euthanized when reaching a weigh loss of 25%.

2.19 In vivo indomethacin treatments

Intraperitoneal treatments with indomethacin (1.2mg/kg) were given to anesthetized mice at the time of *P. aeruginosa* infection. Lung and BALF were harvested 24hours post-infection.

2.20 In vivo IFN-y neutralization

Influenza infected mice were treated with 200µg of IFN-γ neutralizing antibody (XMG1.2; BioXcell; West Lebanon, NH) or its isotype control (HRPN; BioXcell; West

Lebanon,NH) intraperitoneally on day 5 post-influenza infection prior to a secondary bacterial infection with MRSA ($7x10^7$ CFUs). Successful neutralization was confirmed by measuring IFN- γ levels in BALF by ELISA.

2.21 In vivo TLR9 inhibition

TLR9 inhibition was achieved by treating mice with three doses (50µg/each) of TLR9 inhibitor (ODN 2088; InvivoGen; San Diego, CA) and/or its control (ODN 2088 Control; InvivoGen; San Diego, CA) on day 0, 2, and 5 post-influenza infection.

2.22 FITC-labeling bacteria

Bacteria were grown at a density of 6x10⁶ CFUs/µl and heat inactivated by incubating for 15min in 70°C using a heat block. Heat killed bacteria were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 mins. Supernatant was removed and 1ml of 0.1M NaHCO3 was added to the pellet followed by 20µl of a 10mg/ml FITC (Sigma-Aldrich) DMSO solution. Bacteria stock was then incubated protected from light, rocking for an hour at room temperature. Bacterial stock was then washed 3 times with PBS by centrifuging at 13,000 rpm for 5mins. Bacteria-FITC stock was then stored on -80°C.

2.23 Bacterial phagocytosis assay

Cells were plated at 200,000 cells/well in 100µl on a half-area black 96-well plate (black with clear bottom) (Corning 3882). Cells were then incubated for an hour, media was removed, and cells were washed with cold PBS prior to adding 100µl of complete medium containing FITC-labeled heat inactivated bacteria (10ul of FITC-bacteria stock per 100ul of media). Cells were then incubated at 37°C for 2 hours before adding 50µl of trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich) to quench extracellular fluorescence. Intracellular

fluorescence was measured at (485ex/535em) with a bottom read using the Spectra Max M3 (Molecular Devices, LLC). Media was discarded and cells were washed with PBS. We then added 110µl of PBS with 2% TritonX-100 per well and incubated plates on ice. We next used this media to measure intracellular lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) with the Cytotoxicity Detection Kit assay (Roche). Briefly, to do this, we mixed equal parts of LDH reagents and sample in a 96 well flat-bottom plate, incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C and measured absorbance at 490nm using a plate reader.

2.24 Tetrazolium Dye Reduction Assay (MTT assay) of Bacterial Killing

AMs, lung macrophages, or BMDMs were placed into duplicate 96-well plates: one experimental plate and one control plate. Cells from both plates were infected with IgG-opsonized P. aeruginosa, S. pnuemoniae, or S. aureus (multiplicity of infection 50:1) for 30 min at 37°C. The cells on the experimental plate were washed and then incubated with or without treatments at 37°C for 120 min, whereas the cells on the control plate were washed and then lysed with 0.5% Saponin (Sigma-Aldrich) in growth medium (Tryptic soy broth, P. aeruginosa; Todd Hewitt broth, S. pnuemoniae; Nutrient broth, S. aureus) and placed at 4°C. After 2 hours, the cells from the experimental plate were lysed with 0.5% Saponin in growth medium. Both plates were then incubated in a shaker at 37°C for 4h for P. aeruginosa and S. aureus of at 37°C with 5%CO₂ with no shaking for S. pneumoniae. Thiazolyl blue Tetrazolium Bromide (MTT) assay was performed as recommended by the company. Briefly, a total of 5 mg/ml MTT (Sigma) was added to each plate and incubated for 30 min. Solubilization solution was added to dissolve formazan salts, and the absorbance was read at 595 nm (A595). Results were expressed as percentage of survival of ingested bacteria normalized to the percentage

of control, where the A595 experiment values were divided by the average of the A595 control values. Survival of ingested bacteria = (A595 experimental plate/A595 control plate) \times 100%.

2.25 H₂O₂ detection assay

Cellular H₂O₂ secretion was determined from LPS-recruited neutrophils via Amplex Red agent.

2.26 Sytox green fluorescence assay

Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) release was quantified using a cellimpermeable nucleic acid dye, Sytox Green, post bacterial challenge or PMA treatment. Briefly, 1×10^5 neutrophils, from human or mice, were seeded in a black with clear bottom, non-treated, flat bottom 96-well plate (Costar 3631, Corning, NY). Sytox Green Nucleic Acid Stain (s7020; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was added at the time of treatments at a final concentration of 0.2 µM. Cells were incubated for 5 hours before adding 100 µL of 4% PFA to every well followed by storing at 4°C overnight protected from light. Next day fluorescence was measured at 485nm/525nm.

2.27 Immunofluorescence

To visualize NETs, 2x10⁵ neutrophils were seeded in poly-lysine-coated cover slips, and treatments were added directly for 5-7 hours (murine) or 3 hours (human), before cells were fixed and stained with anti-neutrophil elastase and Hoescht. For autophagy experiments, alveolar macrophages were harvested by BAL and 1.5-2x10⁵ cells were seeded in poly-lysine-coated cover slips cells were cell were nutrient starved and/or treated with PGE₂ (100nM) for 4 hours before fixation. Cells were permeabilized

with TBS- with 0.2% of Triton-X, and cover slips were blocked with 5% BSA. Primary antibody was incubated for 4 hours, and secondary antibody was incubated for 2 hours. After antibody incubations, prolong Gold anti fade reagent with DAPI (Invitrogen) was added to the cells. Immunofluorescence images were taken with the use of an Olympus 500 confocal microscope (Olympus Corporation, Center Valley, PA).

2.28 Western blotting and protein measurements

Cell lysates were obtained using RIPA buffer (Thermo Fisher; Waltham, MA) with protease inhibitor (Calbiochem; San Diego, CA) and samples were centrifuged at 15,000rpm to remove debris. Pierce BCA assay kit (Thermo Fisher; Waltham, MA) was used for quantification of total amount of protein in cell lysate. Around 20-50µg of total protein from samples were mixed with laemmli buffer (Bioland Scientific LLC; Paramount, CA) containing β-mercaptoethanol and heated at 95°C for 10min. Protein samples were separated in a polyacrylamide gel using a mini gel tank (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), following by transferring protein to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane that was blocked with 5% non-fat milk. Incubation with primary antibody was done overnight at 4°C. Multiple washes of TBS with 0.5% of Tween 20 were performed before incubation with secondary antibody for 1-2 hours at room temperature. Images were taken with the Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare) and in some cases densitometry was obtained with Image Studio Lite version 5.2.

2.29 ELISA

Cytokine measurements were performed with the use of R&D duo set ELISA kits for murine IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and IL-17. Murine albumin measurements

were performed with the use of the Bethyl laboratory (Montgomery, TX) albumin ELISA kit.

2.30 Histology

Hematoxylin and Eosin stain was performed after perfusion of the lung with PBS and tissue fixation with 10% formalin. Tissues were left in 10% formalin overnight before replacing with 70% ethanol. Lung samples were processed and stained by McClinchey Histology Services (Stockbridge, MI).

2.31 Real-time quantitative PCR

mRNA was isolated using TRIzol according to the manufacturer's instructions. Relative gene expression measurements were achieved with the use of a Step-one plus real-time PCR system from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA). Gene-specific primers and probes were designed with the Genscript Real-time PCR primer design software (Genscript Biotech Corporation, Piscataway, NJ).

| Name | Sequence (5'-3') | Strand | Modification |
|------|-------------------------|---------|-----------------|
| TLR2 | ATGGGCTCGGCGATTTC | Forward | |
| | ATGCAACCTCCGGATAGTGACT | Reverse | |
| | CGGAGTCAGACGTAGTGAGCGAG | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| TLR3 | GCCCTCCTCTTGAACAACGC | Forward | |
| | ACTTCAGCCCAGAGAAAGTGCT | Reverse | |
| | ACCAGCTGCTGGCCACCAGCGAG | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| TLR4 | AAGGAGTGCCCCGGTTTC | Forward | |
| | CACAATAACCTTCCGGCTCTTG | Reverse | |
| | TGCCAACATCATCCAGGAAGGCT | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| TLR7 | TCTGCAGGACCTCTGTCCTTG | Forward | |

| Table 2-1 List of Primers and Probes us | sed in qRT-PCR: |
|---|-----------------|
|---|-----------------|

| | TGATTGTCTGTGGTCAGGGCAT | Reverse | |
|----------|------------------------------|---------|-----------------|
| | TGGCCTGCAAATCCACAGGCTCACCCA | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| TLR9 | GAGTACTTGATGTGGGTGGGAAATT | Forward | |
| | GCCACATTCTATACAGGGATTGG | Reverse | |
| | CCGTCGCTGCGACCATGCC | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| iNOS | ACATCAGGTCGGCCATCACT | Forward | |
| | CGTACCGGATGAGGCTGTGAAT | Reverse | |
| | CCCCACCGGAGTGACGGCA | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| MARCO | CCTGGACGAGTCGGTCAGAA | Forward | |
| | CTTCAGCTCGGCCTCTGTT | Reverse | |
| | CCAACGCGTCCGGATCATGGGT | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| SRAI/II | TGAAGGACTGGGAACACTCACA | Forward | |
| | CAGTAAGCCCTCTGTCTCCCTTT | Reverse | |
| | TTCATTCAAGGGCCTCCTGGACCC | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| left.com | GGACTGCAGCGTAGACGCTT | Forward | |
| | CATCCTGTTGTATATGAGGCCCAT | Reverse | |
| A virus | CTCAGTTATTCTGCTGGTGCACTTGCCA | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| | GAGCCCATCCTCTGTGACTCA | Forward | |
| IL-1β | GTTGTTCATCTCGGAGCCTGTAG | Reverse | |
| | AACCTGCTGGTGTGTGA | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| | AAGCTGAGGAAGATGCTGGT | Forward | |
| Human | CGTTATCCCATGTGTCGAAG | Reverse | |
| iL-ip | CCTGCCCACAGACCTTCCAGG | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| COX-1 | CTTCTTAGGGAATCCCATCTG | Forward | |
| | CTTCAGTGAGGCTGTGTTGACAAG | Reverse | |
| | ACCCAGCACCTTCGGTGGT | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| COX-2 | TGACCCCCAAGGCTCAAAT | Forward | |
| | GAACCCAGGTCCTCGCTTATG | Reverse | |
| | TTTGCCCAGCACTTCACCCACAGT | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| ATG5 | TCAAGTTCAGTGGAGGCAAC | Forward | |
| | TGGAATGTTCTCCTCCTTGG | Reverse | |
| | CTTGCAGCAGCCCGGGTTTC | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |
| β-Actin | CCGTGAAAAGATGACCCAGATC | Forward | |
| | CACAGCCTGGATGGCTACGT | Reverse | |
| | TTTGAGACCTTCAACACCCCA | Probe | 5'Fam - 3'Tamra |

2.32 Flow cytometry

Lung immune cells were obtained after lung perfusion, and whole lung digestion with Collagenase A. Cells were then stimulated with PMA (20nM), ionomycin (1µM) and protein transport inhibitor (Golgi stop) for 4-6 hours in treated cell culture dishes. After incubation, cells were centrifuged and washed in FA buffer with 2% FCS. Staining with antibodies for myeloid or lymphocyte population were performed at 4°C for 30min. Cells were the fixed and permeabilized overnight with Fix/perm solution (Foxp3 / Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set, Invitrogen). Next day the cells were stained for intracellular markers for 30mins at 4°C. Cells were washed and diluted in PBS before analyzing in a Fortessa cell analyzer (BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA).

2.33 Flow cytometry antibodies

TLR9 (J15A7; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), IgG1 (MOPC-21; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD45 (30-F11; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD11b (M1/70; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD11c (N418; Biolegend; San Diego, CA), Siglec F (E50-2440; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), MHC II (I-A/I-E) (M5/114.15.2; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD64 (X54-5/7.1; Biolegend; San Diego, CA), F4/80 (BM8 eBiosciences; San Jose, CA), LY6G (1A8; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD3 (17A2, BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD90.2 (53-2.1; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), CD4 (GK1.5; Biolegend; San Diego, CA) CD8 (53-6.7; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), NKP46 (29A1.4; Biolegend; San Diego, CA), CD19 (1D3; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA), Fc Block(CD16/CD32) (2.4G2; BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA).

2.34 Statistical analysis

Graphpad Prism version 6 software (Graphpad Prism Software Inc., La Jolla, CA) was used to analyze experimental results. When groups of two were compared, student's T-test was used to determine statistical significance. Groups of \geq 3 were compared using one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni multiple mean comparisons. Fisher exact test was used to compare clearance of bacteria and albumin levels between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infected mice. In human studies, the following steps were used to normalize patient data according to patient-specific outcomes in the media treatment group. First the mean across an individual's media replicates was calculated. This individual-specific mean was then used to rescale outcomes from all experimental conditions for that individual, via division, giving a mean media outcome in each individual of 100. Other experimental conditions are then summarized as percentage of control units (above or below 100% with media group as reference). Mixed models with a random intercept for individual were used to estimate experimental condition means and corresponding 95% confidence intervals used in the figures; correlation between outcomes within individual are accounted for via the random intercept term. A P value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.35 Reference

1. Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Wilke CA, Moore BB. Comparison of conditioning regimens for alveolar macrophage reconstitution and innate immune function post bone marrow transplant. *Exp Lung Res* 2008; **34**(5): 263-275.

Chapter 3.

Elevated Prostaglandin E₂ Post-Bone Marrow Transplant Mediates Interleukin-1β Related-Lung Injury

3.1 Background

Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) utilizes stem cells derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or peripheral blood to treat or cure a variety of hematological disorders¹. This procedure has become a standard of care with more than 18,000 HSCT performed every year in the United States alone¹. HSCT requires a conditioning regimen (e.g. total body irradiation and/or chemotherapy) to allow the patient's hematopoietic system to be replaced by donor cells. Depending on disease, the patient can undergo autologous (self-donation of stem cells) or allogeneic (stem cells from a Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA)-matched donor) transplants. Unfortunately, patients that undergo HSCT become immunosuppressed and susceptible to infections by opportunistic pathogens². Around 60% of HSCT patients develop pulmonary complications, many of them due to bacterial infections, which correlate with high mortality and morbidity¹⁻³. Infections post-HSCT are independent of conditioning regimen and type of transplant as both autologous and allogenic patients are highly susceptible. Infections can take place in the pre-engraftment phase (before 30 days post-transplant) as well as after immune reconstitution (after 30 days post-transplant)³. Although infections can be caused by viral, bacterial, or fungal organisms, bacterial infections are increasingly problematic due to the rise in drug-resistant bacteria.

Bacterial infections post-HSCT can occur in 51.3% of HSCT patients². These infections, including infections by the Gram negative bacterial pathogen, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* cause life-threatening complications².

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen that normally infects immunocompromised individuals such as HSCT patients^{2, 4-7}. It is a leading nosocomial pathogen, and it is the most frequently isolated Gram negative bacteria in the intensive care unit ⁸. This pathogen causes urinary tract infection, hospital-acquired pneumonia, and bacteremia in burn patients⁹. It is also the predominant cause of morbidity and mortality in Cystic Fibrosis patients. There has been a significant increase in research effort studying *P. aeruginosa* due to the difficulty of treating infected patients, as 26% of its isolates are resistant to antibiotics and disinfectants ⁸. Understanding how to modulate *P. aeruginosa* infections in an antibiotic-independent method is likely to have positive impacts on the outcome of infected patients. Although many antimicrobial pathways have been linked to *P. aeruginosa* clearance, induction of inflammasome activation and Interleukin 1β (IL-1β) secretion play pathogenic roles during *P. aeruginosa* infection⁵.

The inflammasome is a multi-protein complex expressed mainly in immune cells and activated by pathogenic stimuli. Its activation leads to secretion of two potent inflammatory cytokines, IL-1β and IL-18. Their secretion pathways are complex and partially unknown, but have been well established to require two signals. Signal one leads to up-regulation of immature pro-cytokines and is mediated by Toll-like receptor (TLR) stimulation by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Gram negative bacteria like *P. aeruginosa* can trigger signal one by stimulation of TLR4 and TLR5 via lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and flagella, respectively¹⁰⁻¹². Signal two can be triggered by a

wide array of pathogenic stimuli that culminate in aggregation of inflammasome components (e.g. caspase-1 or NOD-like receptor proteins) and result in secretion of mature IL-1 β and IL-18. *P. aeruginosa* can induce signal two via recognition of type III secretion proteins. Although a protective mechanism against many pathogens, overproduction of IL-1 β has been associated with auto-inflammatory syndromes such as gout and periodic fever syndromes, such as Familial Mediterranean Fever and cryopyrin-associated periodic fever syndromes (CAPS)¹³. Therapies targeting IL-1 β signaling have shown better outcomes in CAPS patients¹⁴. Moreover, asbestos and silica inhalation can cause IL-1 β -dependent pulmonary fibrosis mediated by alveolar macrophage (AMs)¹⁵. In the lung, *P. aeruginosa* can induce IL-1 β secretion by AMs⁵. Interestingly, depleting AMs prior to *P. aeruginosa* infection leads to significantly lower levels of IL-1 β in the lung, improving survival⁵. Apart from IL-1 β secretion, *P. aeruginosa* infection has also been shown to be regulated by prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂)^{6, 7, 16}.

PGE₂ is a lipid mediator derived from arachidonic acid by the enzymatic activity of cyclooxygenase (COX) and PGE synthases that signals through 4 different G-proteincoupled plasma membrane receptors (GPCRs) of the E-prostanoid (EP) family termed EP1, EP2, EP3, and EP4. Each receptor activates different intracellular pathways. Stimulation of EP1 receptor increases intracellular calcium and activation of protein kinase C which stimulates the transcription factors, NFAT and NFκB ¹⁷. EP2 and EP4 receptors are stimulators of adenylyl cyclase (AC) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) , respectively. AC mediates conversion of ATP to cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) leading to activation of protein kinase A (PKA) and the transcription factor CREB. The EP3 receptor is a regulator of the EP2-EP4 signaling pathway as its

activation leads to inhibition of AC. *P. aeruginosa* infection increases levels of inducible COX-2 leading to high levels of PGE₂ and inhibition of COX2, with subsequent diminished production of PGE₂, can lead to a better outcome in *P. aeruginosa*-infected mice ⁷. Interestingly, HSCT patients possess higher levels of PGE₂ in blood and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) when compared to healthy non-transplanted individuals^{18, 19}.

PGE₂ is dysregulated in HSCT patients¹⁸ and suppression of PGE₂ confers protection against *P. aeruginosa* infection in murine HSCT models ⁶. However, other roles of PGE₂ in the context of HSCT and pulmonary *P. aeruginosa* infection remain elusive. To study bacterial lung infections post-HSCT, we use a mouse model of syngeneic bone marrow transplant (BMT). Total body irradiation is used as a conditioning regimen^{6, 20-22}. Experiments are performed in the post-engraftment period, 5 weeks post-BMT when lung leukocytes are composed of 82% donor cells and splenic leukocytes are 95% donor cells²⁰. We previously reported BMT mice are deficient in phagocytosis and killing of *P. aeruginosa*^{6, 23}, correlating with observations in humans². In the present study, we compare the cytokine profile and lung tissue injury of control and BMT mice post *P. aeruginosa* infection. We also tested the direct relationship of PGE₂ with *P. aeruginosa*induced IL-1β and examined the effect that PGE₂ stimulation had on autophagy, a main mechanism of *P. aeruginosa* clearance by AMs that has also been linked to inflammasome regulation^{24, 25}.

3.2 Results

Bone Marrow Transplant (BMT) mice are deficient in clearing P. aeruginosa infection and experience exacerbated lung tissue injury. BMT mice are deficient in clearing a *P. aeruginosa* PAO-1 infection compared to healthy control mice 24 hours post-infection (Fig.3-1A) confirming published data⁶. Deficiency in clearing bacteria is not due to low numbers of immune cells in the alveolar compartment as there are no differences in cell numbers or percentages of monocyte/macrophages and lymphocytes in the bronchoalveolar lavage (Fig.3-2A, B) between groups. We also noted higher levels of albumin in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of BMT mice compared to control mice (Fig. 3-1b) suggesting more severe pulmonary injury (Fig. 3-1c). Acute lung injury (ALI) is a leading cause of death in the intensive care unit, characterized by accumulation of leukocytes, protein leakage, and epithelial injury. ALI has been linked to high levels of IL-1 β in the lung ²⁶. Thus, we measured levels of several pro-inflammatory cytokines. We found higher levels of IL-1β, but not other pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α ; data not shown) in BALF from infected BMT mice compared to control mice (Fig.3-3A). We tested levels of PGE₂ in BALF and detected higher levels of PGE₂ in BMT mice infected with PA01 compared to infected control mice. Moreover, we noticed mice expressing higher levels of PGE₂ have direct and significant correlations between levels of IL-1 β and tissue injury, but not with other cytokines such as TNF- α (Fig.3-3C-F). Previous research has suggested a role for PGE₂ in IL-1β induction^{27, 28}. Thus, exacerbated levels of IL-1β post-*P. aeruginosa* infection might mediate lung tissue injury and be dependent on PGE2. Additionally, P. aeruginosa-mediated IL-1β release has



Figure 3-1: BMT Mice are Deficient in Clearing *P. aeruginosa* Infection and Experience Exacerbated Lung Tissue Injury. (a) Colony Forming Units (CFUs) were counted 24 hours after infecting non-transplanted control and BMT mice (C57BL/6J→C57BL/6J) with 5x10⁵ CFUs of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PA01). (n=5 control; n=5 BMT). (b) Albumin measurements from bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) from PA01 infected control and BMT mice. (n=7 control; n=6 BMT) (c) Hematoxylin and Eosin stain (H&E) of lungs from saline or PA01 infected control and BMT mice; images taken at 40x magnification (representative of n=3 control; n=3 BMT). Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. *P<0.05. Data is representative of at least two independent experiments.
been shown to be dependent on alveolar macrophages (AMs) ^{5, 26}. Thus, we directed our attention to AMs in BMT mice.



Figure 3-2: Leukocytes in BALF Post-BMT. (a) Absolute number of leukocytes in BALF, quantified with a hemocytometer, (n=3). (b) Percentage of leukocytes from BALF, taken via differential staining, (n=4). Statistics done by student T test. Not significant (NS).

Pro-inflammatory AMs in BMT mice account for higher levels of IL-1β in response

to *P.aeruginosa* infection. To determine sources of IL-1 β and PGE₂ in the lung, we compared mRNA levels from AMs obtained by BALF to lung interstitium. Transcripts for the rate limiting enzymes in PGE₂ synthesis, cyclooxygenase (COX) 1 and 2, were higher in AMs from BMT mice compared to control (Fig.3-4A). This was unique to AMs, but not interstitial samples. In addition, AMs from BMT mice have higher levels of IL-1 β transcripts compared to control cells (Fig.3-4A). Consistent with our past studies, overnight culture of AMs from BMT mice secreted higher levels of PGE₂ compared to cells from control mice (Fig.3-4B). To assess whether PGE₂ can have an effect on IL-1 β secretion, we pre-treated AMs with or without PGE₂ prior to PA01 infection, *in vitro*. We detected higher levels of IL-1 β in supernatants of AMs pretreated with PGE₂ and

infected with PAO1 compared to AMs infected with PA01 alone (Fig.3-4C). Moreover, to determine whether higher bacterial burden in BMT mice was responsible for higher levels of IL-1 β , we induced acute lung injury with lipopolysaccharide instillation in control and BMT mice. We detected higher IL-1 β , but not IL-6 or TNF- α in BALF from BMT mice compared to control mice post-LPS instillation (Fig.3-4 D-F).

PGE₂ induces higher levels of IL-1β upon pathogenic stimuli. To assess whether PGE_2 could induce IL-1 β in macrophages other than AMs, we prepared bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs) from healthy mice and pretreated them with PGE₂ prior to PA01 infection, *in vitro*. Similar to AMs, we detected higher IL-1β, but not IL-10, in supernatants of PGE₂- stimulated cells compared to non-treated cells post-PA01 (Fig.3-5A-B). In addition, to detect whether PGE₂-mediated higher levels of IL-1ß with different stimuli; we pretreated BMDMs with and without PGE₂ and stimulated cells with LPS, and/or heat-killed PA01. In all cases, PGE2 pretreatment increased levels of IL-1ß compared to non-treated cells (Fig.3-5C). A canonical method to achieve IL-1β secretion is to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome by stimulation of the pannexin-1 channel and the purinergic P2X7 by LPS priming and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) treatment^{25, 28-30}. We also detected higher IL-1β in BMDMs pretreated with PGE₂ and treated with LPS and ATP when compared to treatment with LPS and ATP alone (Fig.3-5D). Furthermore, we noted higher levels of IL-1 β in BMDMs pre-treated with PGE₂ and infected with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) or Streptococcus pneumoniae compared to infected BMDMs not treated with PGE₂(Fig.6B). MRSA and S.pneumoniae are also main pathogens that infect immunosuppressed individuals^{6, 19,} 31, 32



Figure 3-3: *P. aeruginosa* Infection Induces Higher Levels of IL-1 β and PGE₂ post-BMT Correlating with Increased Lung Injury. (a) IL-1 β and (b) PGE₂ measurements from the BALF of control and BMT mice 24 hours after infection with PA01; measurements done by ELISA. (n=7 control; n=6 BMT); (c) Correlation between albumin and IL-1 β in BALF 24h post-PAO1; (d) Correlation between albumin and PGE₂ in BALF 24h post-PAO1; (e) Correlation between PGE₂ and IL-1 β in BALF 24h post-PAO1; (f) Correlation between PGE₂ and TNF- α in BALF 24h post-PAO1. In all correlations, closed symbols represent control mice whereas open circles are BMT mice. R= Pearson correlation coefficient; *P<0.05.

PGE₂-mediated increase in IL-1β is dependent on activation of transcription factor

CREB via increased levels of cAMP dependent on EP2 and EP4 signaling. We next

probed PGE₂ signaling pathways. We stimulated PGE₂ receptors using pharmacologic agonists for the EP2, EP3, and EP4 receptors¹⁷. A selective EP1 agonist is not available. We found pre-stimulating BMDMs with EP2 and EP4 agonists lead to higher levels of IL-1ß post-P.aeruginosa infection (Fig.3-7A). EP3 stimulation did not lead to higher IL-1 β (data not shown). EP2 and EP4 receptors activate adenylate cyclase (AC) and increase cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) from cytosolic ATP. We pretreated BMDMs with the AC stimulator forskolin prior to PA01 infection and observed higher levels of IL-1β in forskolin-pretreated BMDMs (Fig.3-7B). Moreover, as increased levels of cAMP lead to the activation of protein kinase A (PKA) and Epac (exchange protein directly activated by cAMP), we used agonists for the activation of these two proteins ³³. We found higher levels of IL-1β in supernatant of BMDMs pre-stimulated with PKA and Epac agonists prior to PA01 infection (Fig.3-7C). PKA and Epac activation lead to activation of the transcription factor CREB, thus, we used a CREB inhibitor during PGE₂ stimulation prior to PA01 infection. We decreased the levels of PGE₂ mediated-IL-1β using the CREB inhibitor (Fig.3-7D). Thus, PGE₂ increases IL-1β by activation of the transcription factor CREB via stimulation of EP2 and/or EP4 receptors.



Figure 3-4: Alveolar Macrophages in BMT Mice Account for Higher IL-1 β Release post-*P.aeruginosa* in Response to PGE₂. (a) RTqPCR measurement of relative gene expression of Cox-1, Cox-2, and IL-1 β from AMs and whole lung cells from uninfected control and BMT mice normalized to GAPDH (n=3 control; n=3 BMT/group). (b) PGE₂ measurements by ELISA from overnight culture of untreated AMs from control and BMT mice (n=4 Control; n= 4 BMT). (c) IL-1 β measurements by ELISA from AMs infected or not in vitro with PA01 (MOI:10), treated or not with 100nM of PGE₂ (n=3). (d) IL-1 β , (e) TNF- α and (f) IL-6 measurements by ELISA from BALF of LPS (50ug)-treated control and BMT mice (n=10 control, n=10 BMT). Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ***P<0

PGE₂-dependent IL-1β release post-*P. aeruginosa* infection can be mediated by canonical or non-cannonical inflammasomes and is independent of autophagy inhibition. Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Candida albicans have been shown to induce IL-1β by a non-canonical inflammasome pathway dependent on caspase-8 in macrophages^{34, 35}. Although a role of caspase-8-mediated IL-1ß processing post-P.aeruginosa infection hasn't been proposed, research has shown that P.aeruginosainfected caspase-1 deficient mice can secrete normal levels of IL-1ß compared to control mice³⁶. Thus, other proteases might play a role in processing pro-IL-1ß post-*P.aeruginosa* infection. We stimulated macrophages with or without caspase-1 and caspase-8 inhibitors. Interestingly, in both cases, IL-1β secretion was inhibited with or without the effects of PGE₂ (Fig.3-8A-B). Stimulating macrophages with LPS and ATP in the presence or absence of caspase-1 and/or caspase-8 inhibitors confirmed the specificity of these inhibitors (Fig.3-9). AMs can clear *P.aeruginosa* infection by autophagy and IL-1 β release can be negatively regulated by autophagy^{24, 25}. Autophagy can be induced by serum starvation; thus, we tested effects of PGE₂ on autophagy-enhanced clearance of *P. aeruginosa* carried out under conditions of serum deprivation. Our results indicate PGE₂ can inhibit autophagy-dependent clearance in AMs (Fig.3-10). To detect whether there is a direct effect of PGE₂ on autophagy, we treated BMDMs with different concentrations of PGE2 and detected levels of the autophagy-related proteins, LC3 and P62. We detected downregulation of LC3 and accumulation of P62 when we treated AMs with PGE₂. These changes are characteristic of autophagy inhibition (Fig.3-10B). In addition, we induced autophagy by serum starvation with or without PGE₂ stimulation and determined that PGE₂ inhibits levels of

the autophagy-related protein, ATG5, by western blot and RTqPCR (Fig.3-10C). Although we found PGE₂ inhibits autophagy, autophagy-deficient BMDMs were still able to upregulate IL-1 β release when PGE₂ was present, suggesting PGE₂ inhibition of autophagy is not required for processing and upregulation of IL-1 β (Fig.3-10D).



Figure 3-5: PGE₂ Increases IL-1 β BMDMs Upon Pathogenic Stimulation. (a-b) IL-1 β and IL-10 measurements from supernatants of PA01 infected (MOI:10) BMDMs treated or not with 100nM PGE₂. (c) IL-1 β measurements from supernatant of BMDMs treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) derived from *P. aeruginosa* (500ng/ml), heat killed PA01 (MOI:10), and (c) ATP (1mM) with LPS with or without 100nM of PGE₂. Supernatant taken 2 hours post-stimulation. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05 ,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.001. Data is representative of three independent experiments.

PGE₂ elevated the levels of IL-1 β transcripts by EP2 and EP4 stimulation in human and mouse cells. Considering that neither autophagy inhibition nor inflammasome activation explain why PGE₂ boosted IL-1 β release; we next studied the transcriptional effects of PGE₂ on IL-1 β . We treated BMDMs with PGE₂ in a dose and time dependent manner and detected significant increases in IL-1 β transcripts as soon as 2 hours post-PGE₂ stimulation (Fig.3-11A-B). Furthermore, we confirmed elevated levels of IL-1 β transcripts by PGE₂ stimulation are dependent on increasing levels of cAMP by stimulation of EP2 and/or EP4 receptors but not by EP3 stimulation (Fig.3-11C). Moreover, we confirmed our findings in human peripheral monocytes and human AMs (Fig.3-12).



Figure 3-6: PGE₂ Enhances IL-1 β Release Under Different Pathogenic Stimuli. (a) IL-1 β measurements of supernatant from BMDMs treated or not with PGE₂ (100nM) and infected or not with PA01 (MOI:10) for 30 minutes after which supernatant was replaced with complete media containing 1% gentamycin. (b) IL-1 β measurements of supernatant after MRSA (MOI:10) or *S. pneumoniae* (MOI:10) infection with or without PGE₂ (100nM). Samples were taken two hours after infection. Statistics used one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001. Data is representative of three independent experiments



Figure 3-7: PGE₂ Mediated Increase in IL-1 β is Dependent on Activation of Transcription Factor CREB by Increasing Levels of cAMP Dependent on EP2 and EP4 Signaling. IL-1 β measurements from supernatant of BMDMs treated or not with PAO1 (MOI:10) with or without (a) EP2 agonist (1 μ M, Butaprost), EP4 agonist (500nM, ONO-AE1-329) (b) forskolin (25 μ M), PGE₂ (100nM), (c) PKA agonist (50 μ M, 6-BNZ-cAMP), Epac agonist (50 μ M, 8-pcpt-2'-OM-cAMP). (d) IL-1 β protein measurement from supernatants of BMDMs treated or not with 100nM of PGE₂, CREB inhibitor (100 μ M, Naphthol AS-E phosphate) and infected or not with PAO1 (MOI:10). In all cases, supernatant taken 2 hours after infection. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001. Data is representative of two independent experiments.

Decreasing levels of PGE² reduces *P. aeruginosa*-mediated lung tissue injury. Increased levels of IL-1β post-*P.aeruginosa* infection aggravate lung tissue injury^{4, 5}. Therapeutic strategies using caspase-1 inhibitors reduced severity of IL-1β pulmonary injury ²⁶. However, other research has shown that inhibiting IL-1β signaling has no impact on bacterial burden or immune cell recruitment, with minimal effects on lung injury³⁶. As we have shown that PGE₂ elevation in BMT mice aggravates lung injury, we tested the effect that PGE₂ inhibition had on lung injury outcomes. We instilled *P. aeruginosa* to control and BMT mice with or without administration of the COX inhibitor, indomethacin. We noted reduced IL-1β in the BALF as well as lower levels of protein leakage, suggesting inhibition of PGE₂ can decrease levels of ALI post-*P.aeruginosa* infection (Fig.3-13).



Figure 3-8: PAO1 can use cannonical or non-cannonical inflammasomes to make IL-1 β . IL-1 β measurements from supernatant of BMDMs treated or not with (a) Caspase 8 inhibitor (10nM) or Caspase 1 inhibitor (10nM) with or without PGE₂ (100nM). Supernatant taken 2 hours after infection. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001. Data is representative of two independent experiments

3.3 Discussion

In February 2017, the World Health Organization (WHO) published a report containing a list of 12 bacterial pathogens for which new therapeutic strategies are urgently needed. Pseudomonas aeruginosa was considered to be of critical importance. P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen which causes minimal pathogenicity in healthy individuals, but major mortality and morbidity in HSCT patients ^{2, 6, 19, 31, 37, 38}. Susceptibility to this pathogen has been reported to occur even after immune reconstitution following HSCT^{2, 6, 31}. HSCT patients have high levels of PGE₂ in the blood and BALF when compared to healthy individuals¹⁸⁻²⁰. We have previously reported that elevated PGE₂ is causally related to the impaired ability of AMs from BMT mice to phagocytize and kill bacteria ^{20, 23, 39}. The purpose of the current study was to determine whether PGE₂ production post-BMT was responsible for enhanced lung injury post-infection as well, and if so, by what mechanism. We now know that inflammasome-dependent IL-1β secretion is induced by *P. aeruginosa*, and better health outcomes have been reported by inhibiting IL-1 β signaling^{4, 5, 12, 26, 36}. In addition, recent articles have linked PGE₂ signaling with IL-1β regulation^{27, 28, 40}. However, reports have shown contradictory effects of PGE₂ on IL-1β release^{27, 28}. Thus, in this study we focused on the PGE₂-mediated effects on IL-1β response to *P. aeruginosa* infection by AMs from BMT mice in our quest to determine new therapeutic strategies.

A dose of 2 x 10⁶ CFU *P. aeruginosa* instilled into un-transplanted mice causes a moderate infection ⁴¹. Yet, BMT mice have difficulty clearing this bacterial dose and 100% of them die within 48 hours²³. Interestingly, the susceptibility to *P. aeruginosa* in BMT mice is seen even after immune reconstitution^{6, 23, 42}. Here, we show evidence that

BMT mice have severe vascular and epithelial leakage indicating a more severe ALI post-*P.aeruginosa* infection. ALI can be caused by exacerbated levels of proinflammatory cytokines. Thus, we searched for upregulated levels of different proinflammatory cytokines (IL-12, IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β) and found that only IL-1 β was significantly higher in BMT mice when compared to un-transplanted mice post-infection. In addition, we noticed a direct correlation between IL-1 β , PGE₂, and albumin levels in the BALF, but not a correlation with other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α .



Figure 3-9: PGE₂ Limits Autophagosome Formation in Response to Serum Starvation. BMDMs were serumstarved for 1 h in the presence or absence of 100nM PGE₂. Cells were fixed and stained with FITC-labeled LC3 or DAPI to visualize autophagosomes and nuclei and immunofluorescence images were captured singly or were merged. Panels shown are representative of 2 different experiments.

Because we observed exacerbated levels of IL-1ß post-P.aeruginosa infection in BMT

mice, we analyzed the capability of AMs from BMT mice to secrete IL-1β. Interestingly,

AMs from BMT mice have higher levels of IL-1 β transcripts compared to control mice, correlating with higher levels of cyclooxygenase 1 and 2 transcripts. Furthermore, stimulating AMs with PGE₂ prior to infection with *P. aeruginosa* also leads to higher levels of IL-1 β compared to untreated AMs. These findings show that higher levels of PGE₂ in AMs from BMT mice might influence the higher levels of IL-1 β post-*P.aeruginosa*.

As higher amounts of bacterial burden in BMT mice might influence the levels of IL-1 β , we adopted a bacterial-free model of ALI dependent on lipopolysaccharide instillation ⁴³. We were able to get exacerbated levels of IL-1 β , but not IL-6 and TNF- α , in BMT mice compared to un-transplanted mice. In addition, in an *in-vitro* model where we controlled the stimulants, we detected that PGE₂ could increase secretion of IL-1 β in bone marrow derived macrophages by a wide array of pathogenic stimuli such as LPS, live and heat killed *P. aeruginosa*, MRSA infection, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection. All stimuli induce increased IL-1 β after previous exposure to PGE₂ in macrophages. Thus, PGE₂ signaling acts as signal 1 for IL-1 β secretion. Interestingly, dual stimulation of macrophages with PGE₂ and another signal-1 stimulant, LPS, can lead to increased IL-1 β secretion. This phenomenon is likely explained by the moderate activation of caspase-1 (signal 2) in macrophages by LPS stimulation as previously noted ⁴⁴.



Figure 3-10. Inhibition of Autophagy Impacts Bacterial Killing but Not IL-1 β Release. (a) AMs were cultured in complete media or were nutrient starved (EBSS or HBSS) in the presence or absence of PGE₂ (100nM) for 2 hours. (b) AMs were collected from control mice and stimulated for 1 hour in the presence of serum-free media with or without PGE₂ (50-500 nM) for 1h. LC3 and p62 was analyzed by Western blot (WB). (c) AMs were cultured in complete media or were serum-starved for 1 h with or without 100nM PGE₂ before RNA was prepared and analyzed for expression of ATG5 relative to β -actin by qRT-PCR; (bottom) ATG5 was analyzed by WB.(d) BMDMs from LC3^{-/-} mice were stimulated with 100nM PGE₂, PAO1 (MOI:10) or the combination for 2 hours before supernatants were collected and measured for IL-1 β by ELISA (n=4); Statistics were measured by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. *P<0.05, **P<0.001, ***P<0.001, ***P<0.001.





Figure 3-11: PGE₂ Elevates the Levels of IL-1 β Transcripts by EP2 and EP4 Stimulation. (a) BMDMs were treated or not with 100nM PGE₂ for 1, 2, 4, and 8 hours before RNA was prepared and analyzed for expression of the IL-1 β gene. (b) BMDMs were treated or not with 10nM, 100nM, and 500nM of PGE₂ during 4 hours before RNA was prepared and analyzed for expression of IL-1 β . (c) BMDMs were treated with EP2 agonist (1 μ M, Butaprost), EP3 agonist (10nM, Sulprostone), EP4 agonist (500nM, ONO-AE1-329), and forskolin (25 μ M) before RNA was prepared and analyzed. All RNA data was normalized to expression levels of GAPDH. Data are representative of two independent experiments and statistics were measured by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001

Recent reports have shown an opposite effect of PGE₂ regulation on IL-1 β^{27} than our results. We compared their PGE₂ stimulation method, based on 5 minutes of stimulation by PGE₂, side by side with our stimulation method, based on 4 hours pre-stimulation with PGE₂. As expected, we were able to obtain exacerbated levels of IL-1 β post-4 hours of PGE₂ stimulation whereas 5 minutes of stimulation had no effect on IL-1 β regulation (Fig.3-14). Thus, these comparative results suggest that the kinetics of PGE₂

exposure is important. However, in the setting of HCST, it is important to remember that PGE_2 levels are chronically elevated^{18, 19}, and thus, in this setting PGE_2 is promoting IL-1 β .

PGE₂ signaling is mediated by 4 members of the G-coupled protein receptor family termed EP1-EP4¹⁷. We determined that stimulating the EP2 and EP4 receptor in macrophages prior to *P. aeruginosa* infection leads to higher levels of IL-1 β when compared to non-stimulated macrophages. Furthermore, as EP2/EP4 receptors share the ability to activate PKA and Epac, we activated PKA or Epac with the use of intracellular agonists prior to *P. aeruginosa* infection and detected higher levels of IL-1 β when compared to non-stimulated macrophages. We were able to abolish IL-1 β secretion in *P. aeruginosa*-infected mice by stimulating macrophages with an inhibitor for the CREB transcription factor. These data indicate that the PGE₂-mediated increase in IL-1 β is due to CREB transcription factor activation by EP2/EP4-mediated stimulation of PKA and/or Epac. Although we present evidence that CREB is mediating PGE₂-dependent elevation of IL-1 β , we do not discard the possibility that other transcription factors such as NF- κ B ²⁸ may also play a role. Furthermore, while both EP2 and EP4 can mediate the transcriptional effect of PGE₂ in macrophages from control mice, in the



Figure 3-12: Human AMs and Peripheral Monocytes Upregulate IL-1 β under PGE₂ stimulation. IL-1 β relative expression from 100nM PGE₂ stimulated (a) Human peripheral monocytes and (b) human AMs normalized to GAPDH. (c) IL-1 β protein measurements from supernatant of PGE₂-treated or not peripheral macrophages during or not PA01 infection. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. *P<0.05,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001.

setting of BMT, we have previously shown that levels of EP2 are upregulated, while EP4 is slightly downregulated on alveolar macrophages and an EP2 antagonist, AH6809 was able to mimic effects of indomethacin on alveolar macrophage phagocytosis³⁹.

Researchers have established autophagy as a main mechanism of *P. aeruginosa* clearance ²⁴ as well as IL-1β regulation^{10, 25}. We tested the effects of PGE₂ in the regulation of autophagy and determined that PGE₂ can inhibit autophagy-induced clearance of *P. aeruginosa*. Therefore, these data suggested that PGE₂-mediated IL-1β increase might be due to autophagy inhibition. However, we detected high levels of IL-1β protein in autophagy-deficient macrophages after PGE₂ administration and infection. Thus, the mechanism of PGE₂-mediated increase in IL-1 β production cannot be attributed to impaired clearance of inflammasome components as a result of defective autophagy ²⁵. While we previously demonstrated that PGE₂ was associated with impaired autophagy in neutrophils¹⁹, this is the first description of its ability to limit autophagy in macrophages. Thus, PGE₂ may be a common negative regulator of autophagic flux in other cell types as well. Future work will be needed to understand what impact this negative regulation may have on processes such as epithelial repair. In macrophages, IL-1 β secretion can be mediated by the cysteine proteases, caspase-1 and caspase-8³⁵. Thus, we tested the role of these two caspases during *P. aeruginosa* infection. We determined that we could abolish the secretion of IL-1β prior to P. aeruginosa infection with the use of inhibitors to caspase-1 or caspase-8. To our knowledge, these are the first data to link IL-1β secretion post-*P. aeruginosa* to caspase-8; this pathway has been previously established for *Mycobacterium*

tuberculosis and fungal infection ³⁴. These results suggested that *P. aeruginosa* infection can induce the activation of IL-1 β release using either caspase-1 and/or caspase-8. If true, this suggests that *P. aeruginosa* may be able to stimulate non-cannonical



Figure 3-13 Decreasing Levels of PGE₂ by Indomethacin Treatment Leads to Decreased IL-1β in the Lung after *P. aeruginosa* Infection in BMT mice. (a) IL-1β and (b) albumin measurements from the BALF of control, and BMT mice treated or not with Indomethacin (1.2mg/kg) for 24 hours after PA01 infection; measurements done by ELISA. (n=14 control; n=14 BMT; n=14 BMT treated with Indomethacin); (C) PA01 CFU measurement in BAL from infected mice, 24 hours. (n=10 control; n=10 BMT; n=10 BMT treated with Indomethacin). Statistics were measured by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. *P<0.05,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001; non-significant (ns).

inflammasome activation, possibly via cross-reactivity caused by recognition of *P. aeruginosa* by dectin receptors ⁴⁵ which are known to be linked to caspase 8 activation³⁴.

Our data suggest that PGE₂ can influence a pro-inflammatory environment by exacerbating levels of IL-1β, in macrophages. We detected that PGE₂ can mediate a massive increase in IL-1ß transcripts. We detected increased IL-1ß transcripts in macrophages within an hour post-stimulation with PGE₂. Increases in IL-1ß transcripts were dependent on stimulation of EP2 and EP4 receptors but not by EP3. While we did not have access to an EP1-selective agonist, we wouldn't anticipate this receptor to regulate cAMP levels¹⁷. Additionally, we were able to detect an increase in IL-1ß transcripts following activation of cAMP with forskolin. Moreover, PGE₂ stimulation increased transcription of IL-1ß in human alveolar macrophages and human monocytederived macrophages. Altogether, we conclude that PGE₂ can strongly prime macrophages for IL-1β, but not other cytokines, and upon pathogenic stimulation will lead to exacerbated levels of IL-1^β causing IL-1^β-mediated injury. Thus, we expected to decrease the IL-1β-mediated lung injury post-BMT with the use of COX inhibitors. When we tested the effects of PGE₂ inhibition in BMT mice, we were able decrease bacterial load as previously reported⁷, but also reduce protein leakage and IL-1 β in the lung. When our results are taken together, we identified new mechanisms by which P. aeruginosa causes life threatening effects in HSCT patients. These findings can help in the development of new therapeutic strategies that can improve outcome of HSCT patients with pulmonary complications due to *P. aeruginosa*, and possibly other

pathogens. We speculate that COX inhibitors or possibly Anakinra may offer therapeutic benefit at limiting lung injury caused by bacterial infection post-HSCT.



Figure 3-14 PGE₂ **Enhances IL-1** β **Release after 4h, but not 5' Stimulation**. IL-1 β measurements by ELISA of supernatant samples from BMDMs treated for 3.5 hours or 5 minutes with LPS (100ng/ml) and/or PGE₂ (500nM) followed by 30 minutes of ATP (5mM). Statistics used one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001.

3.4 References

- 1. Gratwohl A, Baldomero H, Aljurf M, Pasquini MC, Bouzas LF, Yoshimi A *et al.* Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a global perspective. *JAMA* 2010; **303**(16): 1617-1624.
- 2. Ullah K, Raza S, Ahmed P, Chaudhry QU, Satti TM, Ahmed S *et al.* Posttransplant infections: single center experience from the developing world.

International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases 2008; **12**(2): 203-214.

- 3. Danby R, Rocha V. Improving engraftment and immune reconstitution in umbilical cord blood transplantation. *Front Immunol* 2014; **5:** 68.
- 4. Wonnenberg B, Bischoff M, Beisswenger C, Dinh T, Bals R, Singh B *et al.* The role of IL-1beta in Pseudomonas aeruginosa in lung infection. *Cell Tissue Res* 2016; **364**(2): 225-229.
- 5. Cohen TS, Prince AS. Activation of inflammasome signaling mediates pathology of acute P. aeruginosa pneumonia. *J Clin Invest* 2013; **123**(4): 1630-1637.
- 6. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani CH, Moore TA, Levine AM, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2-induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus post-bone marrow transplant. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2013; **190**(11): 5809-5817.
- 7. Sadikot RT, Zeng H, Azim AC, Joo M, Dey SK, Breyer RM *et al.* Bacterial clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa is enhanced by the inhibition of COX-2. *Eur J Immunol* 2007; **37**(4): 1001-1009.
- 8. Aloush V, Navon-Venezia S, Seigman-Igra Y, Cabili S, Carmeli Y. Multidrugresistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa: risk factors and clinical impact. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006; **50**(1): 43-48.
- 9. Lavoie EG, Wangdi T, Kazmierczak BI. Innate immune responses to Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. *Microbes and infection* 2011; **13**(14-15): 1133-1145.
- 10. Jabir MS, Ritchie ND, Li D, Bayes HK, Tourlomousis P, Puleston D *et al.* Caspase-1 cleavage of the TLR adaptor TRIF inhibits autophagy and betainterferon production during Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 2014; **15**(2): 214-227.
- 11. Nakamura S, Iwanaga N, Seki M, Fukudome K, Oshima K, Miyazaki T *et al.* Toll-Like Receptor 4 Agonistic Antibody Promotes Host Defense against Chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa Lung Infection in Mice. *Infect Immun* 2016; **84**(7): 1986-1993.

- Tolle L, Yu FS, Kovach MA, Ballinger MN, Newstead MW, Zeng X *et al.* Redundant and cooperative interactions between TLR5 and NLRC4 in protective lung mucosal immunity against Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of innate immunity* 2015; 7(2): 177-186.
- 13. Kim YK, Shin JS, Nahm MH. NOD-Like Receptors in Infection, Immunity, and Diseases. *Yonsei Med J* 2016; **57**(1): 5-14.
- 14. Imagawa T, Nishikomori R, Takada H, Takeshita S, Patel N, Kim D *et al.* Safety and efficacy of canakinumab in Japanese patients with phenotypes of cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome as established in the first open-label, phase-3 pivotal study (24-week results). *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2013; **31**(2): 302-309.
- 15. Dostert C, Petrilli V, Van Bruggen R, Steele C, Mossman BT, Tschopp J. Innate immune activation through Nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica. *Science* 2008; **320**(5876): 674-677.
- 16. Dennis EA, Norris PC. Eicosanoid storm in infection and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2015; **15**(8): 511-523.
- 17. O'Callaghan G, Houston A. Prostaglandin E2 and the EP receptors in malignancy: possible therapeutic targets? *Br J Pharmacol* 2015; **172**(22): 5239-5250.
- 18. Cayeux SJ, Beverley PC, Schulz R, Dorken B. Elevated plasma prostaglandin E2 levels found in 14 patients undergoing autologous bone marrow or stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 1993; **12**(6): 603-608.
- Domingo-Gonzalez R, Martinez-Colon GJ, Smith AJ, Smith CK, Ballinger MN, Xia M *et al.* Inhibition of Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation after Stem Cell Transplant by Prostaglandin E2. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2016; **193**(2): 186-197.
- 20. Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Wilke CA, Moore BB. Comparison of conditioning regimens for alveolar macrophage reconstitution and innate immune function post bone marrow transplant. *Exp Lung Res* 2008; **34**(5): 263-275.
- Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Thomas PE, Wilke CA, Standiford TJ, Kobayashi KS et al. A Role for IL-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase-M in Prostaglandin E2-Induced Immunosuppression Post-Bone Marrow Transplantation. J Immunol 2010; 184(11): 6299-6308.

- 22. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Wilke CA, Huang SK, Laouar Y, Brown JP, Freeman CM *et al.* Transforming growth factor-beta induces microRNA-29b to promote murine alveolar macrophage dysfunction after bone marrow transplantation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015; **308**(1): L86-95.
- 23. Ojielo CI, Cooke K, Mancuso P, Standiford TJ, Olkiewicz KM, Clouthier S *et al.* Defective phagocytosis and clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the lung following bone marrow transplantation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2003; **171**(8): 4416-4424.
- 24. Yuan K, Huang C, Fox J, Laturnus D, Carlson E, Zhang B *et al.* Autophagy plays an essential role in the clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa by alveolar macrophages. *Journal of cell science* 2012; **125**(Pt 2): 507-515.
- Shi CS, Shenderov K, Huang NN, Kabat J, Abu-Asab M, Fitzgerald KA *et al.* Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1beta production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nature immunology* 2012; 13(3): 255-263.
- 26. Wu DD, Pan PH, Liu B, Su XL, Zhang LM, Tan HY *et al.* Inhibition of Alveolar Macrophage Pyroptosis Reduces Lipopolysaccharide-induced Acute Lung Injury in Mice. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 2015; **128**(19): 2638-2645.
- 27. Mortimer L, Moreau F, MacDonald JA, Chadee K. NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition is disrupted in a group of auto-inflammatory disease CAPS mutations. *Nature immunology* 2016; **17**(10): 1176-1186.
- 28. Zoccal KF, Sorgi CA, Hori JI, Paula-Silva FW, Arantes EC, Serezani CH *et al.* Opposing roles of LTB4 and PGE2 in regulating the inflammasome-dependent scorpion venom-induced mortality. *Nature communications* 2016; **7:** 10760.
- 29. Munoz-Planillo R, Kuffa P, Martinez-Colon G, Smith BL, Rajendiran TM, Nunez G. K(+) efflux is the common trigger of NLRP3 inflammasome activation by bacterial toxins and particulate matter. *Immunity* 2013; **38**(6): 1142-1153.
- 30. Yang D, He Y, Munoz-Planillo R, Liu Q, Nunez G. Caspase-11 Requires the Pannexin-1 Channel and the Purinergic P2X7 Pore to Mediate Pyroptosis and Endotoxic Shock. *Immunity* 2015; **43**(5): 923-932.

- 31. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Moore BB. Innate Immunity Post-Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Focus on Epigenetics. *Adv Neuroimmune Biol* 2014; **5**(3): 189-197.
- 32. Ballinger MN, McMillan TR, Moore BB. Eicosanoid regulation of pulmonary innate immunity post-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 2007; **55**(1): 1-12.
- 33. Cheng X, Ji Z, Tsalkova T, Mei F. Epac and PKA: a tale of two intracellular cAMP receptors. *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica* 2008; **40**(7): 651-662.
- 34. Gringhuis SI, Kaptein TM, Wevers BA, Theelen B, van der Vlist M, Boekhout T *et al.* Dectin-1 is an extracellular pathogen sensor for the induction and processing of IL-1beta via a noncanonical caspase-8 inflammasome. *Nature immunology* 2012; **13**(3): 246-254.
- 35. Afonina IS, Muller C, Martin SJ, Beyaert R. Proteolytic Processing of Interleukin-1 Family Cytokines: Variations on a Common Theme. *Immunity* 2015; **42**(6): 991-1004.
- 36. Al Moussawi K, Kazmierczak BI. Distinct contributions of interleukin-1alpha (IL-1alpha) and IL-1beta to innate immune recognition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the lung. *Infection and immunity* 2014; **82**(10): 4204-4211.
- 37. Lossos IS, Breuer R, Or R, Strauss N, Elishoov H, Naparstek E *et al.* Bacterial pneumonia in recipients of bone marrow transplantation. A five-year prospective study. *Transplantation* 1995; **60**(7): 672-678.
- 38. Whittle AT, Davis M, Shovlin CL, Ganly PS, Haslett C, Greening AP. Alveolar macrophage activity and the pulmonary complications of haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Thorax* 2001; **56**(12): 941-946.
- Ballinger MN, Aronoff DM, McMillan TR, Cooke KR, Okiewicz K, Toews GB *et al.* Critical Role of Prostaglandin E2 Overproduction in Impaired Pulmonary Host Response Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *J Immunol* 2006; **177:** 5499-5508.
- 40. Sokolowska M, Chen LY, Liu Y, Martinez-Anton A, Qi HY, Logun C *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation through EP4 Receptor and Intracellular Cyclic AMP in Human Macrophages. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2015; **194**(11): 5472-5487.

- 41. Zhang Y, Li X, Carpinteiro A, Goettel JA, Soddemann M, Gulbins E. Kinase suppressor of Ras-1 protects against pulmonary Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections. *Nature medicine* 2011; **17**(3): 341-346.
- 42. Hubbard LL, Wilke CA, White ES, Moore BB. PTEN limits alveolar macrophage function against Pseudomonas aeruginosa after bone marrow transplantation. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology* 2011; **45**(5): 1050-1058.
- 43. Bosmann M, Grailer JJ, Russkamp NF, Ruemmler R, Zetoune FS, Sarma JV *et al.* CD11c+ alveolar macrophages are a source of IL-23 during lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury. *Shock* 2013; **39**(5): 447-452.
- 44. Schumann RR, Belka C, Reuter D, Lamping N, Kirschning CJ, Weber JR *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide activates caspase-1 (interleukin-1-converting enzyme) in cultured monocytic and endothelial cells. *Blood* 1998; **91**(2): 577-584.
- 45. Mennink-Kersten MA, Ruegebrink D, Verweij PE. Pseudomonas aeruginosa as a cause of 1,3-beta-D-glucan assay reactivity. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2008; **46**(12): 1930-1931.

Chapter 4.

Prostaglandin E₂ inhibits neutrophil extracellular trap formation post-stem cell transplant

4.1 Background

Approximately 50,000 hematopoietic stem cell transplants (HSCTs) are performed annually (57% autologous; 43% allogeneic) ¹. HSCT patients exhibit susceptibility to pulmonary infections even late post-engraftment ²⁻⁴. Neutrophil recruitment and function is important for innate immunity. In response to inhaled pathogens, neutrophils are recruited by chemotactic signals released from activated alveolar macrophages and epithelial cells ⁵. Chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) patients with mutations in the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase complex exhibit functional defects in neutrophils [e.g. reduced formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs)] that render them more susceptible to pathogens also afflicting HSCT patients, such as *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Aspergillus species* ^{6, 7}. Interestingly, CGD patients receiving gene therapy complementing NADPH oxidase function restore anti-*Aspergillus* responses via restored NETs ^{7, 8}.

Long term defects in neutrophil functions have previously been noted in HSCT patients ⁶. Neutrophils from autologous HSCT patients exhibit a diminished capacity to produce respiratory burst ^{6, 9, 10} while allogeneic HSCT patients exhibit defects in neutrophil chemotaxis in addition to impaired respiratory burst ^{6, 11, 12}. However, the cause for

neutrophil dysfunction has remained unclear. Furthermore, the ability of neutrophils from HSCT patients to undergo NETosis is unknown.

NETosis is a cell death pathway characterized by release of extracellular web-like structures composed of chromatin, histones, and granular proteins ¹³⁻¹⁵. NETs serve as antimicrobial defenses against extracellular pathogens including bacteria ¹⁶. Takei *et al.* described this as a novel form of cell death, distinct from apoptosis and necrosis, due to its dependence on chromatin decondensation, increase in membrane permeability and its independence from necrosis-inducing or apoptosis-inducing stimuli ^{17, 18}. Studies have shown NETosis may be dependent on NADPH oxidase or myeloperoxidase-generated reactive oxygen species, autophagy, neutrophil elastase, and histone citrullination by peptidylarginine deiminase 4 ¹⁹⁻²¹. Live cells can also participate in a process called "vital NETosis" where neutrophils maintain their membrane integrity while rapidly releasing NETS and continuing to chemotax and phagocytize bacteria ^{22, 23}.

We previously demonstrated that host defense against both *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* is impaired following BMT in mice ²⁴⁻²⁶. As NETs can effectively kill both *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa* ^{14, 18, 27}, it is unclear whether the bactericidal defects relate to impaired NETosis post-transplant. We showed defective neutrophil function is attributable to overproduction of PGE₂ ²⁵. PGE₂ is generated using cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes (basal COX-1 or inducible COX-2) ²⁸. Inhibition of COX with indomethacin rescued the functional bactericidal defects *in vivo* ²⁵. Similar pathways can be involved in both intracellular killing and NETosis. NADPH oxidase activity and autophagy ²⁹ can promote NETosis and killing, but regulation is poorly

understood. While much is known about inducers of NETosis (e.g. PMA, bacterial components, and IL-8), nothing is known of physiological inhibitors or negative regulators. Here, we propose a novel role for PGE₂ as an inhibitor of NETosis.

4.2 Results

NETosis is impaired post-syngeneic (syn) and allogeneic (allo) BMT: To determine whether the capacity to undergo NETosis was deficient or intact following BMT, neutrophils were recruited into the lungs of untransplanted control or syn or allo BMT mice. We next examined NET formation following treatment with PMA or infection with S. pneumoniae. PMA, a known inducer of NETosis, stimulated NETs in untransplanted control neutrophils; however, PMA-treated syn and allo BMT neutrophils exhibited impaired extracellular DNA release as measured by extracellular Sytox fluorescence vs. controls (Fig.4-1A-B). These observations were supported by immunofluorescence that showed few visible NETs in untreated groups (Fig.4-1C top row), but extensive, intact NETs upon PMA stimulation in controls. In contrast, NETs from both syn and allo BMT cells were significantly decreased and appeared structurally less intact (Fig.4-1C bottom row). Defective NETosis was also noted in neutrophils from BMT mice exposed to S. pneumoniae, a relevant HSCT pathogen (Fig.4-1A). We confirmed that neutrophils from syn BMT mice exhibited basal defects in production of hydrogen peroxide (Fig.4-1D).

COX inhibitors restore NET formation post-BMT: To determine whether NETosis was negatively regulated by increased COX-2 activity, syn BMT mice were intraperitoneally injected with indomethacin, a non-selective COX inhibitor prior to the

recruitment of neutrophils. Following *in vivo* inhibition of COX, NETosis was restored in neutrophils from syn BMT mice (Fig.4-2A). *In vivo* treatment with indomethacin did not



Figure 4-1: NETosis is impaired post-syn and allo BMT. LPS-recruited neutrophils from the lung of (A) syn BMT or (B) allo BMT and untransplanted control mice were stimulated for 5 h with PMA (100 nM), *S. pneumoniae* (MOI: 5), or left untreated and NETosis was measured by Sytox Green fluorescence. (C) NETosis following 5 h PMA treatment in LPS-recruited neutrophils from untransplanted control, syn BMT, and allo BMT mice was visualized by immunofluorescence via staining of DNA (Hoechst, blue) and neutrophil elastase (green, control and syn BMT 20x; allo BMT 40x magnification; arrowheads denote NETs in BMT groups). (D) Lung neutrophils were harvested 18-20h post-LPS intratracheal injection and H₂O₂ production was measured colorimetricly via the Amplex Red reagent; *P<0.05, **P <0.01, ***P <0.001, ****P <0.0001 relative to control. In panel A, n=6 /group for media and PMA stimulations and n=3/group for S. pneumoniae stimulation; in panel B, n=3/group; in panel D, the n=15/group

affect neutrophil recruitment as LPS exposure recruited 89±1.77% neutrophils in syn BMT receiving indomethacin which was comparable to the 88.7±1.34% neutrophils recruited in untreated control and 87.1±1.32% in vehicle-treated syn BMT mice. Immunofluorescence studies again confirmed the stimulatory effects of indomethacin on NETosis, as *in vivo* inhibition of COX visibly enhanced NET production from syn BMT neutrophils compared to untransplanted control neutrophils (Fig.4-2C). NETosis was increased in allo BMT mice upon *in vitro* COX inhibition with indomethacin (Fig.4-2B). The ability of PMA to induce NETs in syn BMT mice was also restored by diclofenac, an inhibitor with higher affinity for COX-2 than COX-1, or by addition of anti-PGE₂ (Fig.4-3A-B). Similarly, neutrophils from mice deficient in PGE synthase showed enhanced PMA-induced NETosis compared to cells from wild-type mice (Fig.4-3C).

PGE² **inhibits PMA-induced NETs from murine and human neutrophils:** Neutrophils from BMT mice have elevated levels of cytosolic phospholipase A₂ and COX-2 (Fig.4-4). PGE₂ causes functional defects in alveolar macrophages and neutrophils that occur post-BMT ^{25, 26, 30}. Thus, we focused on the effects of PGE₂ on NETosis. Interestingly, *in vitro* treatment with PGE₂ was able to decrease NET release from control murine neutrophils despite stimulation with PMA (Fig.4-5A). This effect was reversed in the presence of anti-PGE₂ antibodies (Fig.4-5B). PGE₂ was also able to inhibit NETosis in cells from normal volunteers (Fig.4-5C). Activation of the COX pathway in syn BMT mice results in ~4 ng/ml (11.34 nM) PGE₂ in the BALF²⁵ and elevated levels are also seen in HSCT BALF (Fig.4-4B). Figure 3D demonstrates that physiologic levels of

PGE₂ (10 nM) are sufficient to limit PMA-induced NETosis in a control subject. Immunofluorescence studies showed a significant absence of intact NET formation upon the simultaneous treatment of human or murine neutrophils with PMA and PGE₂ (Fig.4-3E).



Figure 4-2: Indomethacin rescues impaired NETosis post-BMT. LPS-recruited pulmonary neutrophils from untransplanted control, syn BMT, or syn BMT mice following i.p. injection with indomethacin (1.2 mg/kg) were treated with PMA (100 nM) or left untreated for 5 h and NETosis was measured via (A) Sytox fluorescence or (C) immunofluorescence studies (gray scale of Hoechst DNA staining at 20x magnification; arrowheads denote NETs). (B) Sytox fluorescence was performed in LPS-recruited allo BMT neutrophils to measure NETosis following 5 h in vitro treatment with indomethacin (10 μ M), PMA (100 nM), PMA and indomethacin, or media alone; *P <.05, **P <.01, ***P <.001. In panels A and B, n=4/group.

PGE₂ signaling inhibits NETosis via both PKA- and Epac-mediated pathways:

PGE₂ signals through EP receptors 1-4 and we previously showed that both EP2 and EP4 were enhanced on BMT neutrophils when compared to their respective levels on control cells [²⁵ and inset in Fig.4-6A]; however, it should be noted that EP2 levels are still higher than EP4 levels on BMT neutrophils when compared to each other (Fig.6A, large graph). To determine whether EP2 signaling regulated NETosis, BMT neutrophils were treated with an EP2 receptor antagonist (PF-04418948). Treatment with the EP2 antagonist enhanced NETosis in both syn and allo murine BMT neutrophils (Fig.4-6B-C). As EP2 and EP4 signal through PKA and/or Epac ³¹⁻³³, the effects of PKA- or Epacagonists on NETosis were analyzed. Activation of either the PKA or Epac pathway was able to effectively block NET production (Fig.4-6D).

Blocking PGE² signaling rescues NETosis in allogeneic HSCT patients: We next investigated the effects of EP receptor antagonism on NETosis in neutrophils from the peripheral blood (Fig.4-7A-C) or bronchoalveolar lavage (Fig.4-7B) of allogeneic HSCT patients. Blocking EP2 or EP4 signaling enhanced NET formation in HSCT samples. Healthy human peripheral blood neutrophils were treated with PMA, PKA agonist, Epac agonist, or a combination of these treatments. Similar to our murine data, PMA was able to induce NETs and this function was decreased by concurrent treatment with PKA agonist or the Epac agonist (Fig.4-8A). In HSCT patients, as expected PMA did not significantly induce NETs alone, but was able to in the presence of a PKA antagonist (Fig.4-8B). The Epac antagonist was toxic in the HSCT neutrophils (data not shown).

PGE² **inhibits autophagy-induced NET release:** The mechanism(s) by which NETs are released into the extracellular space may involve autophagy as well as reactive oxygen species, myeloperoxidase (MPO), and neutrophil elastase expression ²⁹. In support of this, PMA treatment can stimulate NADPH oxidase activity and autophagy ³⁴. Autophagy has been shown to play an important role in promoting clearance of intracellular pathogens ³⁵. In the presence of nutrients, *m*ammalian *t*arget *of ra*pamycin (mTOR) functions to inhibit autophagy ³⁶. Rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor, promotes



Figure 4-3: Diclofenac or anti-PGE₂ can rescue NETosis post-BMT and mPGES ^{-/-} mice have enhanced NETosis. A) LPS-recruited pulmonary neutrophils were isolated from syn BMT mice or syn BMT mice treated with diclofenac (30 mg/kg in saline) and were then cultured in the presence of media alone (mock), PMA (100 nM) or PMA + anti-PGE₂ for 5 h and NETosis was measured via Sytox fluorescence (SF). B) LPS-recruited neutrophils isolated from control, syn BMT or syn BMT mice treated with diclofenac were collected and total RNA was isolated. qRT-PCR was used to analyze expression of COX-2. C) LPS-recruited neutrophils from WT and PGE synthase (mPGES)^{-/-} mice were treated with media or PMA as above and NETosis was measured by SF; *P <.05, **P <.01, ****P<0.0001, ns=not significant.

NET release in neutrophils from control mice but not in cells from syn BMT mice (Fig.4-9A), suggesting impaired autophagy-mediated NETosis post-transplant. Treatment with PGE₂ conferred defective NET release in control murine neutrophils despite concomitant stimulation with rapamycin (Fig.4-9B). This inhibition was corroborated by western blot analysis as less MPO was detected in the supernatant of rapamycin plus PGE₂-treated neutrophils than was released from cells treated with rapamycin alone (Fig.4-9C). Furthermore, EP2 receptor antagonism restored rapamycin-induced NET formation in syn BMT lung neutrophils (Fig.4-9D).



Figure 4-4: BMT neutrophils have elevated cPLA2 and COX-2 levels and human BALF post-HSCT has increased PGE₂ levels. A) LPS-recruited neutrophils were collected from untransplanted control mice or syn BMT mice and Western lysates were prepared for analysis of cPLA2 and COX-2. Expression was compared to levels of β -actin protein in cells. Shown are representative blots from one mouse, representative of data from 3 animals. B) BALF that had been collected from n=22 HSCT patients and n=8 normal volunteers as part of a long term follow up study on HSCT patients were analyzed for levels of PGE₂ by ELISA, p=0.0025.

NETosis is dependent on both NADPH oxidase and autophagy ²⁹, so we next modulated these pathways in neutrophils collected from the bone marrow of control mice. PMA effectively induced NET release from bone marrow neutrophils, a process significantly inhibited following inhibition of autophagy (wortmannin treatment) or inhibition of reactive oxygen species (diphenyleneiodonium (DPI) treatment) (Fig.4-9E).Interestingly, when examining rapamycin-induced NETosis, PGE₂ was more effective in limiting this pathway than either wortmannin or DPI treatment (Fig.4-9F).



Figure 4-5: PGE₂ inhibits PMA-induced murine and human NETs. (A) Murine neutrophils were stimulated with PGE₂, PMA, combination or with (B) anti-PGE₂ for 5 h and measured for NETosis via Sytox fluorescence (SF). (C) Human neutrophils were stimulated with PMA, PGE₂, PMA + PGE₂ or (D) 10nM PGE₂ or were left untreated for 3h before NETosis was measured by SF or (E) immunofluorescence. (Hoechst, DNA, blue; neutrophil elastase (green); 60x magnification; arrowheads denote NETs); *P <0.05, **P <0.01, ***P <0.001, ****P <0.0001.


Figure 4-6: Inhibition of PGE₂ signaling rescues murine NET production post-BMT. (A) Total RNA was isolated from neutrophils collected from control and syn BMT mice (n=6 per group) and real-time RT-PCR was performed to analyze expression of EP2 and EP4 receptors. Inset shows levels of EP2 and EP4 in BMT samples compared to their respective levels in cells from control untransplanted mice (normalized to 1). The large panel shows the levels of EP4 when compared to EP2 (normalized to 1) in the syn BMT cells alone. LPS recruited neutrophils were collected from (B) syn (n=5-6/group) and (C) allo (n=4-5/group) BMT mice were treated with PMA (100 nM), an EP2 antagonist (EP2 anta; 10 nM), or PMA and EP2 anta for 5 h and NETs were measured by Sytox fluorescence. (D) Effects of downstream PGE₂ signaling on NETosis were determined with 5 h PKA agonist (PKA ag=6-Bnz-cAMP; 500 μ M) and Epac agonist (EPAC ag=8-pCPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP; 500 μ M) treatment plus or minus PMA on untransplanted control neutrophils. NET production was determined by Sytox fluorescence (n=4-6 pooled from 2 separate experiments; shown as "percent of control"); *P <0.05, **P <0.01, ***P<0.001.

When neutrophils from an age-matched control and HSCT patient were collected and

analyzed on the same day, the cells from the HSCT patient were defective in NETosis

induced both by PMA and rapamycin relative to the control subject (Fig.4-10A). In human control neutrophils, rapamycin effectively induced NETosis (Fig.4-10B). This rapamycin-stimulated NETosis was reduced by PGE₂, PKA agonists or Epac agonists (Fig.4-10B).



Figure 4-7: Blocking EP receptor signaling rescues NETs in allogeneic HSCT patients. Neutrophils collected from peripheral blood (A and C) or BAL (B) from allo HSCT patients were incubated with media, PMA (100 nM), EP2 antagonist (10 nM), or EP4 antagonist (AE3-208, 1µM) as indicated and NETosis was measured by Sytox fluorescence. Panel A reports the mean ± 95% CI as estimated via mixed effect linear models for n=5 HSCT patients and panel C reports data from n=6 HSCT patients (see supplemental table S1C). *P <0.05, **P <0.01, ****P <0.0001.

Overall, these data suggest that the inhibition of NETs by PGE₂ signaling is a universal feature of neutrophils obtained from both lung and bone marrow compartments in mice and from lung and peripheral blood of humans. In addition, PGE₂ can inhibit NETosis induced by a variety of stimuli.

4.3 Discussion

Neutrophil responses have been shown to be particularly important for host response to pulmonary infection. We have previously shown that neutrophils are unable to clear engulfed pathogens post-BMT²⁵. Here we show that neutrophils recruited to the lung also exhibit impaired NETosis following either syngeneic or allogeneic BMT implying that extracellular killing mechanisms may also be defective post-BMT. This impairment is caused by overproduction of PGE₂ and signaling via the EP2 or EP4 receptor. We verified the ability of physiologic doses of PGE₂ to limit NETosis and utilized anti-PGE₂ antibodies to confirm specificity. We previously measured EP4 receptor expression to be 4.8-fold higher in BMT PMNs while EP2 was 2.4-fold higher compared to untransplanted controls [inset Fig. 4-6A ²⁵]. EP4 has higher affinity for PGE₂ than does EP2 (0.79 nM vs 4.9 nM) ³⁷, but given the fact that EP2 levels are over 4-fold higher than EP4 levels (Fig.4-6A large panel) when compared to each other on BMT neutrophils and both of these receptors signal via a cAMP intermediate, it is not surprising that both EP2 and EP4 antagonists are effective in restoring NETosis posttransplant. We were only able to obtain one BALF sample with sufficient neutrophils for analysis, but BALF-derived cells behaved similarly to peripheral-blood derived cells from other HSCT patients in responses to EP2 antagonists (Fig.4-7A-B). While it is possible that other changes in the lung post-BMT (e.g. elevated IL-6 and GM-CSF; decreased

TNF α , IFN- γ , and leukotrienes) ^{24, 30, 38, 39} or other COX-2 effectors (e.g. thromboxane and prostacyclin) may also serve roles in regulating NETosis, our studies prove that PGE₂ signaling limits NETosis.



Figure 4-8: Alterations in PGE₂ signaling can influence NETosis in Control and HSCT patients. Neutrophils were collected from peripheral blood of 4 normal subjects (A) or from 8 HSCT patients (B). Cells were cultured in the presence of media, PMA (100 nM), Epac agonist (EPAC ag, 8-pCPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP; 500 µM), PKA agonist (PKA ag, 6-Bnz-cAMP; 500 µM) or PKA antagonist (H89, 20 µM; Sigma) as indicated for 3 hours and NETosis was measured by Sytox fluorescence; ***P<0.001, ****P <0.0001. Graphs represent the mean ± 95% CI as estimated via mixed effect linear models (see supplemental tables S1D and S1E).

As PGE₂-EP2 or PGE₂-EP4 intracellular signaling relies on PKA and/or Epac ⁴⁰, we explored the contribution of both pathways in NET regulation. Interestingly, the use of either PKA or Epac agonists was sufficient for the inhibition of NETosis in murine and human cells and the use of both agonists did not result in an additive effect. Similar inhibitory effects of PGE₂ on NETosis were observed regardless of source of neutrophils (BAL or peripheral blood) or species (humans or mice) or stimulus (PMA, rapamycin, bacteria), suggesting that this is a well-conserved mechanism. It is interesting that the neutrophils collected from allogeneic HSCT patients showed



spontaneous NETosis following treatment with EP2 or EP4 antagonists alone (Fig.4-7) which may indicate that cells from these patients were stimulated *in vivo*, yet unable to

Remijsen et al. previously showed that autophagy was required for the productive

release of NETs ²⁹. Our data demonstrate that recruited lung neutrophils from

untransplanted control mice as well as neutrophils isolated from murine bone marrow or

normal volunteers induce NET formation following stimulation of autophagy via

Figure 4-9: PGE₂ inhibits autophagy-induced murine NETosis. (A) LPS-recruited lung neutrophils of untransplanted control and syn BMT mice were treated with 200 nM rapamycin or were left untreated for 5 h prior to Sytox fluorescence detection; n=6/group. (B) LPS-recruited lung neutrophils from untransplanted control mice were treated with 10 μ M PGE₂, rapamycin, or rapamycin + PGE₂ for 5 h prior to Sytox fluorescence detection; n=6/group. (C) LPS-recruited lung neutrophils of untransplanted control mice were stimulated with rapamycin, rapamycin + PGE₂, or were unstimulated for 5 h prior to removal of supernatants and western blot analysis of this supernatant for myeloperoxidase. The western blot depicts dividing lines to denote altered lane order from the original blot. (D) LPS-recruited lung neutrophils from syn BMT mice were treated with EP2 antagonist (10 nM), rapamycin, rapamycin + EP2 antagonist, or were untreated for 5 h prior to detection of Sytox fluorescence, n=6/group. (E) Bone marrow neutrophils from control mice were treated with PMA, PMA + wortmannin (100 nM), or PMA + diphenyleneiodonium (DPI; 10 μ M) for 5 h prior to Sytox measurement, n=5/group. (F) Bone marrow neutrophils from control mice were treated as above with media, PGE₂, wortmannin, DPI or combinations of these drugs with rapamycin for 5 h prior to detection of Sytox fluorescence, n=5-8/condition. *P <0.05, **P <0.001, ***P <0.001,

rapamycin (Fig.4-9B,F and 4-10B); however, NETosis was defective in syn BMT lung neutrophils despite exposure to rapamycin (Fig.4-9D). When cells from a control and HSCT patient were analyzed simultaneously, the response to rapamycin was diminished in the HSCT sample relative to the control (Fig.4-10A). There were differences in the collection of the cells as murine neutrophils recruited to the lung were exposed to LPS prior to treatment with rapamycin whereas murine bone marrow and human peripheral blood neutrophils are unstimulated. LPS alone can induce NET formation ^{14, 18}, however it is likely that not all neutrophils produce NETs following the initial recruitment with LPS as our studies with murine lung neutrophils show clear changes in NET release following treatments. Furthermore, the fact that rapamycin was sufficient to induce NETs from human neutrophils in the absence of any priming factors, like fMLP, suggests that autophagy induction is sufficient to induce NET

Hydrogen peroxide, a reactive oxygen species (ROS), was decreased in syn BMT neutrophils. As ROS production is required for NETosis, it is possible that PGE₂-dependent inhibition of NETosis is mediated through the Epac-mediated inhibition of ROS. Recently, a renal ischemia-reperfusion study found that activation of Epac reduced mitochondrial ROS production via interaction with Rap1 in tubular epithelial cells ⁴¹. Thus, it is possible that Epac signaling upstream of NAPDPH oxidase or mitochondrial ROS production mediates inhibition of NETs. Alternatively, the effect of PGE₂ and Epac on autophagy is unknown. However, previous studies have shown a possible role for PKA in autophagy inhibition via phosphorylation of LC3 ⁴² or activation of TORC1⁴³. Thus, it is possible that BMT neutrophils exhibit defective NETosis as a

consequence of reduced autophagy and/or ROS production secondary to PGE₂ stimulation. These pathways are likely linked, and this may also explain why inhibition of either PKA or Epac restored NETosis post-transplant.

Previous studies from our lab demonstrated that blocking EP2 signaling improves lung alveolar macrophage function post-HSCT by restoring bactericidal killing ²⁵. Our current study extends this work to suggest that EP2 or EP4 antagonists may also restore both intracellular and extracellular killing mechanisms in neutrophils post-transplant. It is worth noting that the EP2 and/or EP4 antagonists or PKA antagonists restored function to neutrophils of HSCT patients despite the fact that these patients were often on immunosuppressive medications (Table 1). Thus, this strategy may be a way to improve innate immune function while maintaining immunosuppressive control of graft vs. host disease. A limitation of our study is that the sample size for the human studies is small; however, findings were highly reproducible between mice and humans, and all findings are consistent with our conclusion that PGE₂ signaling inhibits NETosis.

Another implication of our work is that there may be a therapeutic role for EP2 or EP4 agonists for the inhibition of pathological NETosis in diseases where uncontrolled NET formation induces exacerbation of disease ⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶. Currently, therapies under development or in use for targeting NETs in autoimmune diseases like Lupus include DNase ^{47, 48}, anti-histone antibodies ^{49, 50}, and anti-proteases ⁵¹. In the case of anti-histone antibodies, the possibility of promoting autoimmunity may outweigh the benefits of this therapy. Prior to our studies, physiological factors aside from DNase that could potentially suppress NETosis were unknown. Here, we reveal PGE₂ signaling via EP2 or EP4 as a negative regulator of NETosis.



Figure 4-10: PGE₂ regulates NETosis induced by autophagy in human neutrophils. (A) Human peripheral blood neutrophils from control subject 5 (age 50) and HSCT 2 (age 47) were collected on the same day and stimulated for 3 h in the presence of media, PMA (100nM) or rapamycin (200 nM) before being analyzed by Sytox fluorescence, n=10 replicates per patient per group. (B) Peripheral blood neutrophils collected from 4 normal volunteers were cultured for 3 h in the presence of media, PGE₂ (10 μ M), the Epac agonist (EPAC ag, 8-pCPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP; 500 μ M), PKA agonist (PKA ag, 6-Bnz-cAMP; 500 μ M), or combinations of these agents with rapamycin (200 nM) for 3 hours prior to Sytox detection; *P <0.05, ****P <0.0001.

4.4 References

 Gratwohl A BH, Aljurf M, Pasquini MC, Bouzas LF, Yoshimi A, Szer J, Lipton J, Schwendener A, Gratwohl M, Frauendorfer K, Niederwieser D, Horowitz M, Kodera Y;

Worldwide Network of Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Hematopoietic stem cell

transplantation: A global perspective. JAMA 2010; 303(16): 1617-1624.

- Afessa B, Peters SG. Major complications following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2006; 27(3): 297-309.
- Afessa B, Abdulai RM, Kremers WK, Hogan WJ, Litzow MR, Peters SG. Risk factors and outcome of pulmonary complications after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplant. *Chest* 2012; **141**(2): 442-450.

- Sharma S NH, Peters SG, Tefferi A, Litzow MR, Aubry MC, Afessa B. Pulmonary Complications in Adult Blood and Marrow Transplant Recipients*Autopsy Findings. *CHEST Journal* 2005; **128**(3): 1385-1392.
- 5. Craig A, Mai J, Cai S, Jeyaseelan S. Neutrophil recruitment to the lungs during bacterial pneumonia. *Infect Immun* 2009; **77**(2): 568-575.
- Ramaprasad C, Pouch S, Pitrak DL. Neutrophil function after bone marrow and hematopoietic stem cell transplant. *Leuk* 2010; **51**(5): 756-767.
- Bianchi M HA, Brinkmann V, Siler U, Seger RA, Zychlinsky A, Reichenbach J.
 Restoration of NET formation by gene therapy in CGD controls aspergillosis, vol. 114, 2009, 2619-2622pp.
- Bianchi M, Niemiec MJ, Siler U, Urban CF, Reichenbach J. Restoration of anti-Aspergillus defense by neutrophil extracellular traps in human chronic granulomatous disease after gene therapy is calprotectin-dependent. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2011; **127**(5): 1243-1252.e1247.
- Gadish M, Kletter Y, Flidel O, Nagler A, Slavin S, Fabian I. Effects of recombinant human granulocyte and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factors on neutrophil function following autologous bone marrow transplantation. *Leuk Res* 1991; 15(12): 1175-1182.
- Miyagawa B, Klingemann H-G. Phagocytosis and burst activity of granulocytes and monocytes after stem cell transplantation. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 1997; **129**(6): 634-637.

- Scholl S, Hanke M, Höffken K, Sayer HG. Distinct reconstitution of neutrophil functions after allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. *Journal of Cancer Research* and Clinical Oncology 2007; **133**(6): 411-415.
- Pursell K, Verral S, Daraiesh F, Shrestha N, Skariah A, Hasan E *et al.* Impaired phagocyte respiratory burst responses to opportunistic fungal pathogens in transplant recipients: in vitro effect of r-metHuG-CSF (Filgrastim). *Transplant Infectious Disease* 2003; 5(1): 29-37.
- Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil Function: From Mechanisms to Disease. *Annual Review of Immunology* 2012; **30**(1): 459-489.
- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS *et al.* Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Kill Bacteria. *Science* 2004; **303**(5663): 1532-1535.
- 15. Brinkmann V, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil extracellular traps: Is immunity the second function of chromatin? *The Journal of Cell Biology* 2012; **198**(5): 773-783.
- Branzk N, Lubojemska A, Hardison SE, Wang Q, Gutierrez MG, Brown GD *et al.* Neutrophils sense microbe size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens. *Nat Immunol* 2014; **15**(11): 1017-1025.
- 17. Takei H, Araki A, Watanabe H, Ichinose A, Sendo F. Rapid killing of human neutrophils by the potent activator phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) accompanied by changes different from typical apoptosis or necrosis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 1996; **59**(2): 229-240.
- Fuchs TA, Abed U, Goosmann C, Hurwitz R, Schulze I, Wahn V *et al.* Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 2007; **176**(2): 231-241.

- Papayannopoulos V, Metzler KD, Hakkim A, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 2010; **191**(3): 677-691.
- Metzler KD, Fuchs TA, Nauseef WM, Reumaux D, Roesler J, Schulze I *et al.* Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity, vol. 117, 2011, 953-959pp.
- Hakkim A, Fuchs TA, Martinez NE, Hess S, Prinz H, Zychlinsky A *et al.* Activation of the Raf-MEK-ERK pathway is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *Nat Chem Biol* 2011; 7(2): 75-77.
- Pilsczek FH, Salina D, Poon KKH, Fahey C, Yipp BG, Sibley CD *et al.* A Novel Mechanism of Rapid Nuclear Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation in Response to Staphylococcus aureus. *The Journal of Immunology* 2010; **185**(12): 7413-7425.
- 23. Yipp BG, Kubes P. *NETosis: how vital is it?*, vol. 122, 2013, 2784-2794pp.
- Ojielo C, Cooke KR, Mancuso P, Standiford TJ, Olkiewicz KM, Cloutheir S *et al.* Defective phagocytosis and clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the Lung
 Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *J Immunol* 2003; **171**: 4416-4424.
- Ballinger MN, Aronoff DM, McMillan TR, Cooke KR, Okiewicz K, Toews GB *et al.* Critical Role of Prostaglandin E2 Overproduction in Impaired Pulmonary Host Response Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *J Immunol* 2006; **177:** 5499-5508.
- 26. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani CH, Moore TA, Levine AM, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2-induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus post-bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2013; **190**(11): 5809-5817.

- 27. Young RL, Malcolm KC, Kret JE, Caceres SM, Poch KR, Nichols DP *et al.* Neutrophil Extracellular Trap (NET)-Mediated Killing of <italic>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</italic>: Evidence of Acquired Resistance within the CF Airway, Independent of CFTR. *PLoS ONE* 2011; 6(9): e23637.
- Dubois RN, Abramson SB, Crofford L, Gupta RA, Simon LS, Van De Putte LB *et al.* Cyclooxygenase in biology and disease. *Faseb J* 1998; **12**(12): 1063-1073.
- 29. Remijsen Q, Berghe TV, Wirawan E, Asselbergh B, Parthoens E, De Rycke R *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular trap cell death requires both autophagy and superoxide
 generation. *Cell Res* 2011; 21(2): 290-304.
- 30. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Moore BB. Defective pulmonary innate immune responses poststem cell transplantation; review and results from one model system. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2013; **4**.
- Aronoff DM, Canetti C, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits alveolar macrophage phagocytosis through an E-prostanoid 2 receptor-mediated increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. *J Immunol* 2004; **173**(1): 559-565.
- Schmidt M, Dekker FJ, Maarsingh H. Exchange Protein Directly Activated by cAMP (epac): A Multidomain cAMP Mediator in the Regulation of Diverse Biological Functions. *Pharmacological Reviews* 2013; 65(2): 670-709.
- 33. Gloerich M, Bos JL. Epac: Defining a New Mechanism for cAMP Action. *Annual Review* of *Pharmacology and Toxicology* 2010; **50**(1): 355-375.
- 34. Mitroulis I, Kourtzelis I, Kambas K, Rafail S, Chrysanthopoulou A, Speletas M *et al.* Regulation of the autophagic machinery in human neutrophils. *European Journal of Immunology* 2010; 40(5): 1461-1472.

- 35. Boya P, Reggiori F, Codogno P. Emerging regulation and functions of autophagy. *Nat Cell Biol* 2013; **15**(7): 713-720.
- 36. Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the Pathogenesis of Disease. *Cell* 2008; **132**(1): 27-42.
- Xiao Y, Araldi GL, Zhao Z, Brugger N, Karra S, Fischer D *et al.* Discovery of novel prostaglandin analogs of PGE2 as potent and selective EP2 and EP4 receptor agonists. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2007; **17**(15): 4323-4327.
- 38. Ballinger MN, Hubbard LL, McMillan TR, Toews GB, Peters-Golden M, Paine R, 3rd et al. Paradoxical role of alveolar macrophage-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in pulmonary host defense post-bone marrow transplantation. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology 2008; 295(1): L114-122.
- Coomes SM, Wilke CA, Moore TA, Moore BB. Induction of TGF-beta 1, not regulatory T cells, impairs antiviral immunity in the lung following bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2010; **184**(9): 5130-5140.
- Aronoff DM, Canetti C, Serezani CH, Luo M, Peters-Golden M. Cutting edge: macrophage inhibition by cyclic AMP (cAMP): differential roles of protein kinase A and exchange protein directly activated by cAMP-1. *J Immunol* 2005; **174**(2): 595-599.
- 41. Stokman G, Qin Y, Booij TH, Ramaiahgari S, Lacombe M, Dolman MEM *et al.* Epac-Rap Signaling Reduces Oxidative Stress in the Tubular Epithelium. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2014.

- 42. Cherra SJ, Kulich SM, Uechi G, Balasubramani M, Mountzouris J, Day BW *et al.* Regulation of the autophagy protein LC3 by phosphorylation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 2010; **190**(4): 533-539.
- 43. Mavrakis M, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Stratakis CA, Bossis I. Depletion of type IA regulatory subunit (RIα) of protein kinase A (PKA) in mammalian cells and tissues activates mTOR and causes autophagic deficiency. *Human Molecular Genetics* 2006; 15(19): 2962-2971.
- 44. Dwivedi N, Neeli I, Schall N, Wan H, Desiderio DM, Csernok E *et al.* Deimination of linker histones links neutrophil extracellular trap release with autoantibodies in systemic autoimmunity. *The FASEB Journal* 2014; **28**(7): 2840-2851.
- 45. Carmona-Rivera C, Zhao W, Yalavarthi S, Kaplan MJ. Neutrophil extracellular traps induce endothelial dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus through the activation of matrix metalloproteinase-2. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 2014.
- 46. Yu Y. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Journal of clinical & cellular immunology* 2013; **4**(02).
- 47. Shak S, Capon DJ, Hellmiss R, Marsters SA, Baker CL. Recombinant human DNase I reduces the viscosity of cystic fibrosis sputum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1990; **87**(23): 9188-9192.
- 48. Hakkim A, Fürnrohr BG, Amann K, Laube B, Abed UA, Brinkmann V *et al.* Impairment of neutrophil extracellular trap degradation is associated with lupus nephritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2010; **107**(21): 9813-9818.
- 49. Xu J, Zhang X, Pelayo R, Monestier M, Ammollo CT, Semeraro F *et al.* Extracellular histones are major mediators of death in sepsis. *Nat Med* 2009; **15**(11): 1318-1321.

- 50. Cheng OZ, Palaniyar N. NET balancing: A problem in inflammatory lung diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2013; **4**.
- 51. Greene CM, McElvaney NG. Proteases and antiproteases in chronic neutrophilic lung disease relevance to drug discovery. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2009; **158**(4): 1048-1058.

Table 4-1: Human Subject Characteristics

| Subje | Ag | Gende | HSC | Days | Indication for | Conditioni | Chroni | Current |
|--------|----|-------|------|-------|----------------|-------------|--------|-------------------|
| ct ID | е | r | т | post- | HSCT | ng | С | Immunosuppressi |
| | | | Туре | HSC | | Regimen | GVHD | ve Regimen |
| | | | | т | | | ? | |
| HSCT | 65 | М | Allo | 806 | Acute | Fludarabine | Presen | Dexamethasone |
| 1 | | | | | Myelomonocy | and | t | Prednisone |
| (BALF) | | | | | tic Leukemia | Busulfan | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| HSCT | 47 | F | Allo | 158 | Acute | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 2 | | | | | Myelomonocy | and | | |
| | | | | | tic Leukemia | Busulfan | | |
| HSCT | 64 | F | Allo | 616 | Acute Myeloid | Fludarabine | Presen | Predinosone |
| 3 | | | | | Leukemia | and | t | |
| | | | | | | Busulfan | | |
| HSCT | 70 | F | Allo | 58 | Myelodysplast | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 4 | | | | | ic Syndrome | and | | Methotrexate (low |
| | | | | | | Busulfan | | dose) |
| HSCT | 63 | F | Allo | 91 | Myelofibrosis | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 5 | | | | | | and | | Prednisone |
| | | | | | | Busulfan | | |
| HSCT | 67 | М | Allo | 20 | Acute Myeloid | Clofaradine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 6 | | | | | Leukemia | Bulsufan | | Cellecept |
| HSCT | 30 | М | Allo | 176 | Acute Myeloid | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 7 | | | | | Leukemia | and | | Restasis |
| | | | | | | Busulfan | | |
| | | | | | l | | | 1 |

| HSCT | 27 | М | Allo | 26 | T cell Acute | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
|---------|----|---|------|----|---------------|-------------|--------|--------------|
| 8 | | | | | Lymphoblastic | and | | |
| | | | | | Leukemia | Busulfan | | |
| HSCT | 55 | М | Allo | 55 | Myelodysplast | Fludarabine | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 9 | | | | | ic Syndrome | and | | Carfilozomib |
| | | | | | | Busulfan | | |
| HSCT | 71 | М | Allo | 35 | Myelodysplast | | Absent | Tacrolimus |
| 10 | | | | | ic Syndrome- | Fludarabine | | Restasis |
| | | | | | Refractory | and | | |
| | | | | | Anemia with | Busulfan | | |
| | | | | | Excess | | | |
| | | | | | Blasts-2 | | | |
| HSCT | 46 | М | Allo | 83 | Philadelphia | Fludarabine | Presen | Prednisone |
| 11 | | | | | chromosome+ | and total | t | Sirolimus |
| | | | | | Acute | body | | |
| | | | | | Lymphoblastic | irradiation | | |
| | | | | | Leukemia | | | |
| HSCT | 55 | F | Allo | 51 | Angio- | | Presen | Prednisone |
| 12 | | | | | immunoblastic | Fludarabine | t | Tacrolimus |
| | | | | | T-cell | and | | |
| | | | | | Lymphoma | Busulfan | | |
| | | | | | post auto | | | |
| | | | | | transplant | | | |
| Control | 50 | F | none | | | | | |
| 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Control | 23 | М | none | | | | | |
| 2 | | | | | | | | |

| Control | 23 | F | none |
|---------|----|---|------|
| 3 | | | |
| | | | |
| Control | 26 | F | none |
| 4 | | | |
| • | | | |
| Control | 51 | F | none |
| 5 | | | |
| Ũ | | | |
| Control | 53 | М | none |
| 6 | | | |
| 5 | | | |

Chapter 5. Discussion

5.1 Elevated PGE₂ post-BMT mediates IL-1β-related acute lung injury (ALI)

HSCT transplant patients are susceptible to opportunistic bacterial infections particularly with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. This Gram-negative bacterium has been shown to cause much of its lung pathology by inducing IL-1 β -dependent acute lung injury (ALI)¹. PGE₂ is elevated in HSCT patients and reducing its levels has shown improvement in clearance of *P. aeruginosa*^{2, 3}. Yet, the role of PGE₂ in regulating IL-1β was not well understood. Thus, in chapter 3 of this dissertation, I aimed to study the role of PGE₂ in IL-1β related lung injury caused by *P. aeruginosa*. Using a BMT mouse model (described in chapter 1), I detected a more severe ALI, and more bacterial burden in BMT mice compared to control mice⁴. Interestingly, using an LPS-induced ALI model, I determined that the severe ALI in BMT mice was not dependent on the increased bacterial burden, but rather, it was dependent on excessive secretion of IL-1B. Moreover, I found that IL-1 β release did not just correlate with elevated levels of PGE₂, but also, PGE₂ dependent stimulation of the EP2/EP4 receptors in alveolar macrophages (AMs) was responsible for the exacerbated IL-1^β pathology. Furthermore, I performed treatments with a non-selective COX-inhibitor, indomethacin, in BMT mice and observed reduced lung injury, less IL-1β and improved bacterial clearance. These findings suggest ideas for the development of new therapeutic strategies to improve outcomes of HSCT patients with pulmonary infections with P. aeruginosa. However, the translatability of our findings is limited for multiple reasons

including use of our mouse model and choice of experimental reagents as discussed below. Such limitations should be addressed before fully considering this pathway as a therapeutic target.

One of the limitations in the work performed in chapter 3 is that all murine experiments were in syngeneic BMT models, where total body irradiation (TBI) was used for conditioning, 5x10⁶ total bone marrow cells were infused to reconstitute the immune system, and all experiments were performed at 5 weeks post-transplant (postengraftment phase). To a large extent, these BMT mice replicate the immunosuppression to bacterial infections and the elevated levels of PGE2 found in humans post-HSCT⁵ making it a good system to study post-transplant infections; however, around 47% of transplants performed each year are allogeneic⁶. Thus, the findings in this dissertation should be reproduced or tested using an allogeneic BMT murine model. Additionally, in the clinics, TBI is not the standard conditioning given to all HSCT patients. The conditioning regimen will depend on the disease. Combinations of chemotherapy and TBI are mostly given to the patients' pre-transplant⁷. Research in the laboratory of my advisor has shown differences in lung and spleen immune reconstitution post-TBI or chemotherapy. It was reported that mice (C57BL/6J) exposed to 13Gy of TBI prior to BMT have an immune reconstitution of 95% donor cells in the spleen and around 81% donor cells in the alveolar compartment⁸; whereas chemotherapy performed by busulfan and cyclophosphamide treatment lead to an immune reconstitution of 72% spleenocytes from donor cells and 57% of alveolar cells from donor sources⁸. Both conditioning regimens lead to elevated levels of PGE₂ secreted by AMs, and AMs were defective in bacterial phagocytosis⁸. Thus, we can

hypothesize that elevated levels of PGE₂ in the lung, independent of the conditioning regimen, would exacerbate IL-1 β related ALI. However, findings discussed in chapter 3 should be replicated in a BMT mouse model where different conditioning regimens including chemotherapy are performed.

As mentioned before, our findings show that improved bacterial clearance in BMT mice can be achieved by decreasing the levels of PGE₂. These experiments were all performed with *P. aeruginosa* infected mice, and no other bacteria were used in vivo. My focus was on *P. aeruginosa* because it is one of the main pathogens affecting HSCT individuals, and this bacterium is now considered to be a critical public threat. However, multiple bacteria can present lung complications in HSCT individuals including methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and Streptococcus pneumoniae^{5, 9-} ¹¹. In chapter 3, using *in vitro* assays, I was able to demonstrate that PGE₂ can exacerbate IL-1β release when cells are challenged with MRSA and S. pneumoniae suggesting that exacerbated IL-1 β is not pathogen specific, and it can also occur without stimulation of the Gram-negative sensor, TLR4, as both MRSA and S. pneumoniae are gram-positive bacterium. Yet, to make inhibition of PGE₂ a global treatment to combat bacterial infections, we should perform MRSA and S. pneumoniae infections, along with other bacteria, in BMT mice and test the ability of PGE₂ signaling inhibitors to decrease bacterial burden. Apart from bacterial infections, PGE₂ has been reported to play both positive and negative roles in the outcome of multiple viral and fungal pathogens¹². So implications of blocking PGE₂ in HSCT subjects may go beyond bacterial pathogens, and extend to all pathogens whose pathology is known to be regulated by PGE₂. However, we would not expect that inhibition of PGE₂ in HSCT

would confer protection to all pathogens. For example, additional work in the laboratory of my advisor has shown that BMT mice have impaired immunity to gamma herpesvirus, but this was independent of high levels of PGE^{213, 14}. However, HSCT patients are highly susceptible to infections with fungal pathogens including *Candida albicans* and the pathology caused by this pathogen is known to be partially regulated by PGE¹⁵. Thus, we can hypothesize that inhibition of PGE² may also play a positive role in BMT subjects post-*C. albicans* infection. Thus, it would be of high importance to test inhibition of PGE² in BMT mice infected with not just bacterial pathogens, buy also fungal and viral pathogens.

An additional limitation of our findings is the sole use of the non-selective COX inhibitor, indomethacin, in *P. aeruginosa* infected mice to reduce PGE₂. Indomethacin will not just reduce the levels of PGE₂ but also other COX metabolites, which might also be playing a role in *P. aeruginosa* pathogenesis. *P. aeruginosa* lung infection in mice has been shown to dysregulate levels of eicosanoids including elevating levels of PGE₂ and prostacyclin (PGI₂). This is due to the expression of a type three secretion system effector molecule, ExoU, a homologue of phospholipase A₂¹⁶. ExoU is a marker of high virulence in *P. aeruginosa*¹⁷. Previously, the laboratory of my advisor showed that PGI₂ is also found elevated in BMT mice⁸. As our approach to reduce PGE₂ is also affecting all COX metabolites including PGI₂, future experiments should focus on using specific PGE₂ signaling inhibitors. Additionally, experiments should also address the effect of PGI₂, *in vivo*, post-*P. aeruginosa* infection in BMT mice.

5.2 PGE₂ mediated IL-1β increase is dependent on EP2/EP4 signaling and activation of CREB

In chapter 3, we demonstrated that PGE₂ stimulation in murine macrophages and human monocyte-derived macrophages lead to increased IL-1β transcript levels. This serves as "signal 1" of inflammasome-mediated IL-1β secretion which is normally restricted to pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) including toll-like receptors $(TLRs)^{18}$. Signal 2 of IL-1 β secretion is mediated by a wide array of signals leading to activation of caspase-1 and one or multiple members of the inflammasome family (NLP3, NLRC4, etc.). Some stimulations such as LPS can lead to both signal 1 and 2. For example, we can achieve increased IL-1β secretion in macrophages, *in vitro*, with prolonged LPS stimulation. Prolonged stimulation with LPS doesn't just lead to a TLR4dependent increase in pro-IL-1β, but also to a moderate activation of caspase-1¹⁹; thus, activating both signal 1 and signal 2 for IL-1ß secretion. This is an effect unique to murine macrophages as only signal 1 is necessary for IL-1 β secretion in human monocytes, probably because of the constant expression of caspase-1^{20, 21}. Single stimulation with PGE₂ did not affect caspase-1. To understand how PGE₂ was mediating the increase in pro-IL-1 β , we decided to focus on the PGE₂ signaling pathway. PGE₂ can signal through 4 different G-protein-coupled receptors termed EP1-EP4¹². The mechanism that we found to contribute to this increase was activation of cAMP-PKA by stimulation of EP2 and EP4 receptors, and not the EP3 receptor. However, we did not test the EP1 receptor as we were lacking a specific agonist for EP1 that would not activate other EP receptors. Hence, the role of EP1 in PGE₂ dependent increased IL-1ß should be addressed. Nevertheless, we do not anticipate an

increase in IL-1β expression post-EP1 stimulation. This is because our data suggest that IL-1β increase is mediated by the activation of PKA and not by the EP1 intracellular signaling pathway mediators, calcium and protein kinase C (PKC). PKA stimulation leads to the activation of two downstream transcription factors, NFκB and CREB²². We demonstrated that inhibition of the transcription factor CREB, with the use of a selective antagonist, was able to abolish the increase in IL-1β. Thus, we concluded that CREB was the main transcription factor necessary for PGE₂-dependent IL-1β increase. However, we never tested the role of the master transcription factor, NFκB. Interestingly, shortly before we published our findings, another research laboratory reported that PGE₂ increases IL-1β production²³. They attributed this increase to activation of NFκB dependent on EP2/EP4 stimulation. Thus, CREB might not be the only transcription factor playing a role in increasing levels of IL-1β post-EP2/EP4. If our results are taken together with the other laboratories, both NFkB and CREB are likely involved.

5.3 Improving bacterial clearance post-IL1β inhibition

As mentioned before, in the lung of BMT mice, *P. aeruginosa* induces exacerbated levels of IL- β secreted mainly by AMs leading to ALI and high mortality. As we demonstrated that increased levels of PGE₂, in BMT mice, regulated the exacerbated levels of IL-1 β post- *P. aeruginosa* infection, we hypothesized that reducing PGE₂ would further reduce the levels of IL-1 β in the lung which would in turn reduce ALI. In accordance with our hypothesis, we detected less ALI and less IL-1 β after indomethacin (non-selective COX inhibitor) treatments in *P. aeruginosa* infected BMT mice. Additionally, not to our surprise, we detected improved bacterial clearance. While PGE₂

can regulate IL-1 β secretion, it also participates is multiple pathways of inflammation and immunity. Thus, the improved bacterial clearance post-indomethacin treatment can be due to the many immunosuppressing effects that PGE₂ has on immune cells including, but not limited, to inhibition of autophagy, NETs, phagocytosis and ROS production rather than inhibition of IL-1β. However, others have shown that inhibition of IL-1β specifically, independent of PGE₂ inhibitors, can lead to improved *P. aeruginosa* clearance. For example, II1R1^{-/-} mice and administration of neutralizing antibodies to IL-1β can improve bacterial clearance against *P. aeruginosa* in the lung ^{1, 24}. The reasons behind improved bacterial clearance post-IL-1ß neutralization are not well understood. It is worth noting that specific inhibition of other cytokines including IL-18, TNF- α and IL-36 cytokines ^{1, 25, 26} have also been shown to improve *P. aeruginosa* clearance in the lung. These findings suggest that reducing inflammation seems to be an efficient method to improve *P. aeruginosa* clearance in the lung and might not be specific to one cytokine including IL-1^β. Thus, the improved *P. aeruginosa* clearance post-IL1^β inhibition might be due to reduced inflammation rather than an IL-1ß specific effect on immune cells.

5.4 Control of IL-1β by PGE₂

PGE₂ is involved in many physiological processes and plays a role in both pro and antiinflammatory responses by regulating different inflammatory mediators including cytokines^{27, 28}. IL-1 β is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays an essential role in controlling immune responses to pathogens. However, if not regulated, elevated levels of IL-1 β can be pathologic as it has been reported in the lung post-*P. aeruginosa* infection²⁹. Hence, our findings showing that decreasing PGE₂ can lead to decreased

IL-1β-mediated pathology post-*P. aeruginosa* infection are of great clinical interest. However, our *in vivo* therapeutic approach to reduce PGE₂ was using a COX-inhibitor, which will not just decrease the levels of PGE₂, but also all COX metabolites including other prostaglandins (PGD₂, PGI₂, and PGF_{2α}) and thromboxane A2. Thus, we cannot completely attribute decreased IL-1β to decreased PGE₂. To overcome this limitation, future experiments should focus on specifically inhibiting PGE₂ and measuring the effect on IL-1β. We could perform this experiment with the use of a selective EP2/EP4 antagonist *in vivo*²³. Additionally, decreasing inflammation by a COX inhibitor might affect multiple cytokines, not just IL-1β. Thus, future experiments should focus on using IL-1β specific inhibitors such as Anakinra and or neutralizing IL-1β monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies in BMT mice post *P. aeruginosa* infection to determine the specific role of IL-1β.

5.5 AMs post-BMT mediate IL-1 β related pathology post-*P. aeruginosa* infection Secretion of IL-1 β by AMs post-*P. aeruginosa* infection has been shown to create lung pathology¹. In our BMT mice, we were able to detect that AMs, but not interstitial macrophages, were responsible for elevated levels of IL-1 β and we attributed this to increased COX-1 and COX-2 expression in this cell type. However, neutrophils have been reported to secrete high levels of IL-1 β post lung bacterial infection³⁰. We did not address the role of neutrophils in secreting IL-1 β post-BMT. To address this issue, future experiments should focus on depleting AMs before bacterial challenge in BMT mice. We can achieve this by treating BMT mice with clodronate liposomes which will deplete AMs¹. If we can still detect exacerbated levels of IL-1 β post-bacterial infection in BMT mice it will mean that AMs are not the main source of IL-1 β but rather other

immune cells such as neutrophils can also contribute. Additionally, we can measure IL-1 β in the lung of BMT mice post-bacterial challenge with or without neutrophil depletion with anti-Ly6G antibodies. If we reduce the levels of lung infiltrating neutrophils, and still detect the elevated levels of IL-1 β , we can clearly attribute exacerbated levels of IL-1 β to AMs.

5.6 PGE₂ inhibits autophagy-mediated clearance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

Autophagy is an intracellular homeostatic process for energy conservation in which the cell engulfs cytoplasmic proteins and organelles for degradation³¹. It is characterized by formation of a double membrane vesicle termed an "autophagosome" which fuses with the lysosome to create the "autolysosome", where engulfed material will be destroyed by lysosomal hydrolases³². Interestingly, autophagy has been shown to play a pivotal role in the destruction of invading microorganisms, control of inflammation, as well as an essential role in antigen presentation³¹. Autophagy can be induced in different ways including amino acid starvation, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibition, inflammatory cytokine stimulation, as well as PRR (e.g. TLR4) activation³³⁻³⁷. AMs, particularly, have been shown to primarily clear *P. aeruginosa* using autophagy machinery³⁸. As explained in chapter 3, in our efforts to explain why PGE₂ inhibits clearance of *P. aeruginosa*, we decided to study autophagy. We demonstrated that PGE₂ stimulation in AMs was able to interrupt the autophagy-mediated killing of P. aeruginosa. The direct pathway of how PGE₂ inhibits autophagy-mediated bacterial clearance was not determined, but the EP4-mediated activation of ERK1/2 signaling might explain autophagy inhibition as ERK1/2 is a well-known activator of mTOR, a negative regulator of autophagy³⁹. However, we did not test this, rather, we showed

that PGE₂ stimulation in macrophages downregulates the lipidation of microtubuleassociated protein 1A/1B-light chain 3 (LC3), an autophagy-related protein, and these results were considered a direct measurement of autophagy inhibition. However, recently, a role for LC3 in others pathways has been reported including a role in the newly identify pathway, LC3-mediated phagocytosis⁴⁰. Thus, with the set of experiments that we performed in chapter 3, we cannot completely conclude that PGE₂ specifically inhibits autophagy. As a future direction, we should perform autophagy related canonical stimulations including rapamycin treatment with and without the presence of PGE₂, and measure autophagy by visualizing the double membrane vesicle using electron microscopy. Using this method, we could conclude whether PGE₂ inhibits autophagy, specifically.

5.7 Link between PGE₂, autophagy, and the inflammasome.

The inflammasome controls the release of IL-1β, which if dysregulated can lead to a decrease in pathogen clearance, or to the development of different IL-1β-driven autoinflammatory syndromes. Here, we show that PGE₂ plays a role in exacerbating the secretion of IL-1β in macrophages. We have found that this exacerbation is due to priming the cells for IL-1β secretion, rather than activating the inflammasome. We determined that this was due to elevation of intracellular cAMP, and activation of PKA mediated by the receptors EP2 and EP4. However, others have reported that PGE₂ inhibits release of IL-1β when pathogenic signals are activators of the specific NLRP3 inflammasome^{41, 42}. PGE₂-mediated inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome was found to be mediated by PKA-mediated phosphorylation of the Ser295 residue which inhibits its function⁴¹. We found that these differences were due to the time of exposure to

PGE₂. A short exposure (5 minutes in culture) to high levels of PGE₂ inhibits the NLRP3-mediated secretion of IL-1β by a post-translational modification⁴¹. However, longer exposures (4 hours in culture) to PGE₂ boost the levels of intracellular IL-1β by stimulating NFkB and CREB-dependent transcription of the IL-1β gene; thus, amplifying amounts of pro-IL-1β for processing after exposure to microbial compounds ^{4, 23}. Additionally, although we did not test, another mechanism for PGE₂-mediated increase of IL-1β can be by the inhibition of autophagy. It has been reported that autophagy vesicles can target inflammasome components for degradation to reduce IL-1β secretion ^{43, 44}. Thus, PGE₂ mediated inhibition of autophagy could lead to a non-regulated activation of the inflammasome. To asses this, future experiments should focus on the role of PGE₂-mediated inhibition of autophagy on IL-1β release.

5.8 PGE₂ mediated inhibition of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs)

Neutrophils are the most abundant innate immune effector cell in humans, and their antimicrobial responses are essential for combating bacterial infections⁴⁵. One of the major strategies to combat pathogens is the release of NETs, which are decondensed chromatin web-like structures loaded with antimicrobial peptides including myeloperoxidase (MPO) and neutrophil elastase. NETs can neutralize and kill bacteria, fungi, viruses, and parasites⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷. The mechanism of NETs release involves the translocation of NE protein into the nucleus by reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent MPO activation leading to NE-dependent chromatin disruption and histone citrullination by protein-arginine deiminase type 4 (PAD4)⁴⁵. In chapter 4, we tested the ability of neutrophils from HSCT patients to secrete NETs by PMA stimulation. We detected an impaired ability of neutrophils from HSCT patients from HSCT patients to induce NETs.

Neutrophils from BMT mice also had an impaired ability to release NETs. We confirmed increased levels of PGE_2 in our human HSCT subjects (n=12) compared to healthy donor volunteers. Increased PGE₂ in our patients was independent of age, gender, conditioning regimen, and days post-transplant (dpt) (20-806, dpt). Interestingly, indomethacin treatment was able to restore normal function for NET release in neutrophils coming from HSCT patients. We reported that autocrine stimulation of EP2/EP4 in HSCT/BMT neutrophils was responsible for the impairment in NET release. Shortly after our publication, another laboratory published similar findings supporting our work in a non HSCT context⁴⁸. The mechanism is still unknown, but we provided evidence that might involve the inhibition of autophagy which is a known NET regulator⁴⁹. However, our experimental design was to induce autophagy-mediated release of NETs in neutrophils by rapamycin treatments, and measure the impact of PGE2 on NET release. We detected decreased release of NETs. However, we did not fully measure autophagy in these cells. Thus, as mentioned before, future experiments should focus on understanding the possible mechanism of autophagy inhibition by PGE₂ with a focus on both AMs and neutrophils. Apart from inhibiting autophagy, PGE₂ could be inhibiting NETs by other mechanisms including inhibition of the NADPH oxidase. In chapter 4 we reported inhibition of NETs release in neutrophils post-PMA stimulation. PMA induction of NETs release has been shown to be dependent on free superoxide production with a downstream phosphorylation of the enzymes p38, MAPK and ERK. As we, and others, have shown that inhibiting the NADPH oxidase completely abolished NETs release, we believe this is a pathway that PGE₂ might be interfering with as PGE₂ has been shown to inhibit NADPH oxidase⁵⁰. Of note however, PGE₂

inhibition of NAPH oxidase was shown in AMs and not in neutrophils. To overcome this limitation, future experiments should target the PGE₂-mediated regulation of NADPH oxidase in neutrophils stimulated for NETs release.

One of the limitations in chapter 4 is that all experiments performed to prove the role of PGE₂ regulation of NETs were done post-PMA stimulation and not with other stimulants including bacterial infections. We can speculate that PGE₂ will also inhibit NETs release upon bacterial infections as NADPH oxidase plays an essential role in microbial clearance. However, NETs release post-bacterial and fungal infections has been shown to be dependent on scavenger receptors, in particular Dectin-1. As PGE₂ has been shown to alter expression of many scavenger receptors, the effects of PGE₂ in regulation of NETs release upon microbial infection might be different and should be addressed. Furthermore, all experiments performed in chapter 4 were performed by measuring NETs in an *in vitro* model; future experiment should focus in measuring NET release impairment in vivo using BMT mice. We can do that this by flow cytometry⁵¹ post-S. pneumoniae infection, as we provided evidence that PGE₂ decreases S. pnuemoniae-mediated NETs release. We can additionally develop BMT chimeras with the use of bone marrow from mice lacking essential proteins for NETs release such as MPO^{-/-} (MPO deficiency does not block, but delays NETs release⁵²), NE^{-/-} and/or PAD4^{-/-} mice. In these mice we can inhibit PGE₂ post-S. pneumoniae infection and determine whether PGE₂ inhibition is unable to improve bacterial clearance. We could also consider experiments to measure NETs in histology sections or to treat WT BMT mice with DNAse to degrade NETs in vivo and determine outcomes.

Even though the mechanism of PGE₂ inhibition of NETs release is unknown, its implications can provide benefit for combating multiple infections. For example, the bacterial pathogens *S. aureus*^{46, 53} and *P. aeruginosa*⁵⁴, the viral pathogens respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) ⁵⁵ and influenza virus⁵⁶ as well as the fungal pathogen *C. albicans*⁵⁷ are all known inducers of NETs and they are all known to cause post-transplant infectious complications^{10, 58-62}. So our future experiments should focus on understanding the therapeutic benefit that PGE₂ inhibition can provide in NETs regulation against these microbes in an *in vivo* model.

5.9 Polarization of PGE₂ in macrophages, and the role of metabolism in this process.

Macrophages are tissue resident immune cells capable of inducing pathogen clearance and stimulating adaptive immunity upon encountering foreign molecules. However, apart from its many immunological functions, macrophages oversee physiologic homeostatic functions including removal of apoptotic cells and iron recycling from erythrocytes. Thus, upon pathogen exposure the macrophages adopt a proinflammatory environment that needs to be tightly regulated. This is known as the M1 stage. One of the characteristics of the M1 macrophage stage is overexpression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) as well as pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β and TNF- α^{63} . In culture, we can achieve this by stimulating macrophages with a pathogen associated molecular patter such as LPS in combination with macrophage activating signals such as IFN- γ . In the absence of a pathogenic stimulation, macrophages are in an anti-inflammatory stage termed M2. In culture we can achieve an M2 stage by stimulating macrophages with IL-4 and IL-13 cytokines. As we noticed

that PGE₂ stimulation induced high levels of IL-1 β , we decided to investigate if it was also inducing a M1 stage. To our surprise, when we stimulated macrophages with PGE2 we couldn't detect any difference in the M1 marker, iNOS (Figure 5-1 top left). However, PGE₂ stimulation did have an effect in inducing a higher M2 stage as seen by elevation of the M2 marker, Arginase-1, post-M2 stimulation. This phenotype has been reported and was determined to be mediated via the cyclic AMP-responsive element binding (CREB)-mediated induction of Krupple-like factor 4 (KLF4)⁶⁴. Even though, PGE₂ does not induce high levels of iNOS it does induce high levels of IL-1β which is a phenotype of M1 polarization. Interestingly when comparing the increased elevation of IL-1 β transcript levels we find that a single stimulation of PGE₂ can raise IL-1β transcript levels as strong as dual stimulation with LPS and IFN-y (Figure 5-1, bottom). Moreover, together with M1 stimulants, PGE₂ can further increase levels of IL-1β. We detected this phenotype just with IL-1 β and not with IL-6 or TNF- α (data not shown). Our data show that PGE₂ is not polarizing macrophages into a M1 nor M2 stage, rather it has a direct effect in increasing IL-1 β transcript levels. One finding that is still not explained is why polarization to M2 can limit the ability of PGE₂ to induce IL-1 β transcript levels (Figure 5-1, bottom). The most likely explanation is that M2 polarization may induce an epigenetic change that limits access of transcription factors to the IL-1β promoter. This is another area for future investigation.

Others have reported macrophage polarization stages with characteristic of both M1 and M2. These macrophages are termed regulatory macrophages and it can be achieved by prostaglandin stimulation as well as by stimulation with apoptotic bodies and IL-10⁶⁵. However, the direct effect on IL-1β but no other pro-inflammatory cytokines,

makes us believe that PGE₂ might not be inducing a regulatory stage. To clearly study the effects of PGE₂ in macrophage polarization we might want to study its effects in macrophage metabolism rather than measuring canonical markers of macrophage polarization. This is because macrophage polarization and metabolism are tightly



Figure 5-1 PGE₂ **increases IL-1** β **expression without inducing a canonical M1 polarization stage.** BMDMs were treated or not with LPS (100ng/ml) and IFN- γ (50ng/ml) to induce M1 stage or treated with IL-14 (10ng/ml) and IL-13 (10ng/ml) to induce M2 stage together or not with PGE2 (1µM). All stimulations were performed for 6 hours and iNOS (top left), Arginase-1 (top right), and IL-1 β (bottom) gene expression was assesses by RTq-PCR. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. *P<0.05 ,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ***P<0.0001.

associated. M1 macrophages increase glucose consumption and lactate release and decrease oxygen consumption rate whereas M2 macrophages mainly employ oxidative glucose metabolism pathways⁶⁶. Thus, to understand the role of PGE₂ in polarization, future experiments should focus on the effect of PGE₂ in macrophage metabolism.

5.10 Cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors as a therapeutic strategy

In this dissertation, I successfully used a non-selective COX inhibitor, indomethacin, to restore immunity to bacterial pathogens in BMT mice and HSCT neutrophils. However, indomethacin, together with other non-steroidal inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), especially selective COX-2 inhibitors, have been shown to be highly toxic leading to serious gastrointestinal and cardiovascular injury^{67, 68}. Thus, therapeutic strategies should focus not just on decreasing PGE₂ levels but also on reducing toxicity. To overcome this, we should use more selective inhibitors of the PGE₂ signaling pathway. In mice, researchers have shown improved outcome in disease models with selective antagonists for EP2 and EP4²³. Additionally, we could consider specific inhibitors of microsomal PGE synthase-1 (mPGES1), the enzyme downstream of COX and responsible for PGE₂ synthesis, which has been shown not to induce cardiovascular injury. Thus, future experiments should focus on replicating our findings with the use of selective antagonists for EP2 and EP4 as well as inhibitors of mPGES1. Additionally, we can opt for treating our BMT mice with indomethacin loaded nanoparticles⁶⁹, which will be ingested by phagocytic cells leading to decreased toxicity, prior to bacterial challenge. This therapeutic strategy has been tried as an inhaled therapy, with other drugs, to treat pulmonary bacterial infections⁷⁰.

HSCT patients are routinely prescribed immunosuppressive drugs to treat or prevent GVHD (allogeneic transplant) and or other drugs including antibiotics, antifungal or antiviral drugs to prevent infections^{9, 71-73}. Our findings showing a role for PGE₂ inhibition in improving antimicrobial response is not intended to be used as a single treatment post-HSCT, but rather, to be used in combination with other drugs that HSCT patients may also be prescribed. Thus, our findings need to first be tested in Phase 1 clinical trials to help understand the right dose and frequency with which the drug needs to be given in order to reduce PGE₂ levels systemically or locally in the lung and to detect whether there is a significant decrease in frequency of infections compared to placebo control.

In this dissertation we focus particularly on HSCT patients, who are known to have exacerbated levels of PGE_2^{74} . However, our findings can be relevant also in a non-HSCT context as naturally secreted PGE_2 can be inhibited to improve bacterial clearance even in cells from control subjects^{50, 75-80}. Additionally, a research article, shortly published after our findings in chapter 3, showed how endogenous PGE_2 is necessary for IL-1 β induction⁸¹. In that article, inhibition of PGE_2 by indomethacin led to decreased LPS-induced IL-1 β in macrophages. Thus, our findings related to inhibition of PGE_2 to reduce IL-1 β -ALI should be tested in a non-HSCT setting as well and may be able to improve outcomes for ALI caused by many stimuli.

5.11 Summary

My doctoral dissertation research work aims to identify cell signaling pathways, mediators, and/or strategies to combat respiratory bacterial infections in HSCT patients. These patients have high levels of PGE₂ in the serum and BALF. PGE₂ is a known
immune suppressor against multiple pathogens. Here, I decided to focus on the implication of high levels of PGE₂ in regulating immunity to bacterial infections. Two of my major research projects are well described in chapter 3 and 4 of this dissertation. In chapter 3, I identified that high levels of PGE₂ induces exacerbated levels of IL-1 β in BMT mice leading to severe ALI post-*P. aeruginosa* infection. This is dependent on adenyl cyclase (AC) activation by EP2 and/or EP4 receptor stimulation which leads to activation of the transcription factor CREB. Furthermore, reducing levels of PGE₂ with indomethacin treatments was able to decrease IL-1 β levels, improve bacterial killing, and reducing ALI in BMT mice post-*P. aeruginosa* infection. In chapter 4, together with a fellow graduate student at the time, we showed how PGE₂ production impaired NET release in murine and human neutrophils. Furthermore, indomethacin treatments were able to restore NET release. Our findings suggest new therapeutic strategies aimed at blocking PGE₂ production or signaling may have positive impacts against bacterial infections in HSCT subjects.

5.12 References

- 1. Cohen TS, Prince AS. Activation of inflammasome signaling mediates pathology of acute P. aeruginosa pneumonia. *J Clin Invest* 2013; **123**(4): 1630-1637.
- Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani CH, Moore TA, Levine AM, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2-induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus post-bone marrow transplant. *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md : 1950*) 2013; **190**(11): 5809-5817.

- 3. Hubbard L, Wilke C, White E, Moore B. PTEN Limits Alveolar Macrophage Function Against Pseudomonas aeruginosa Following Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2011; **45**(5): 1050-1058.
- 4. Martinez-Colon GJ, Taylor QM, Wilke CA, Podsiad AB, Moore BB. Elevated prostaglandin E2 post-bone marrow transplant mediates interleukin-1beta-related lung injury. *Mucosal Immunol* 2018; **11**(2): 319-332.
- 5. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Moore BB. Defective pulmonary innate immune responses post-stem cell transplantation; review and results from one model system. *Frontiers in immunology* 2013; **4:** 126.
- 6. Niederwieser D, Baldomero H, Szer J, Gratwohl M, Aljurf M, Atsuta Y *et al.* Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation activity worldwide in 2012 and a SWOT analysis of the Worldwide Network for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Group including the global survey. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2016; **51**(6): 778-785.
- Sorror M, Storer B, Sandmaier BM, Maloney DG, Chauncey TR, Langston A *et al.* Hematopoietic cell transplantation-comorbidity index and Karnofsky performance status are independent predictors of morbidity and mortality after allogeneic nonmyeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Cancer* 2008; 112(9): 1992-2001.
- 8. Hubbard LL, Ballinger MN, Wilke CA, Moore BB. Comparison of conditioning regimens for alveolar macrophage reconstitution and innate immune function post bone marrow transplant. *Exp Lung Res* 2008; **34**(5): 263-275.
- 9. Alp S, Akova M. Antibacterial Resistance in Patients with Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis* 2017; **9**(1): e2017002.
- 10. Montoro J, Pinana JL, Moscardo F, Sanz J. Infectious Complications after Umbilical Cord-Blood Transplantation from Unrelated Donors. *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis* 2016; **8**(1): e2016051.
- 11. Ullah K, Raza S, Ahmed P, Chaudhry QU, Satti TM, Ahmed S *et al.* Posttransplant infections: single center experience from the developing world. *Int J Infect Dis* 2008; **12**(2): 203-214.
- 12. Martinez-Colon GJ, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2 as a Regulator of Immunity to Pathogens. *Pharmacol Ther* 2018; **185**: 135-146.

- 13. Coomes SM, Wilke CA, Moore TA, Moore BB. Induction of TGF-beta 1, not regulatory T cells, impairs antiviral immunity in the lung following bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2010; **184**(9): 5130-5140.
- 14. Zhou X, Loomis-King H, Gurczynski SJ, Wilke CA, Konopka KE, Ptaschinski C *et al.* Bone marrow transplantation alters lung antigen-presenting cells to promote TH17 response and the development of pneumonitis and fibrosis following gammaherpesvirus infection. *Mucosal Immunol* 2016; **9**(3): 610-620.
- 15. de Quadros AU, Bini D, Pereira PA, Moroni EG, Monteiro MC. Antifungal activity of some cyclooxygenase inhibitors on Candida albicans: PGE2-dependent mechanism. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)* 2011; **56**(4): 349-352.
- 16. Saliba AM, Nascimento DO, Silva MC, Assis MC, Gayer CR, Raymond B *et al.* Eicosanoid-mediated proinflammatory activity of Pseudomonas aeruginosa ExoU. *Cellular microbiology* 2005; **7**(12): 1811-1822.
- 17. Schulert GS, Feltman H, Rabin SD, Martin CG, Battle SE, Rello J *et al.* Secretion of the toxin ExoU is a marker for highly virulent Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates obtained from patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2003; **188**(11): 1695-1706.
- 18. Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. *Nature* 2012; **481**(7381): 278-286.
- 19. Schumann RR, Belka C, Reuter D, Lamping N, Kirschning CJ, Weber JR *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide activates caspase-1 (interleukin-1-converting enzyme) in cultured monocytic and endothelial cells. *Blood* 1998; **91**(2): 577-584.
- 20. Netea MG, Nold-Petry CA, Nold MF, Joosten LA, Opitz B, van der Meer JH *et al.* Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for processing and release of IL-1beta in monocytes and macrophages. *Blood* 2009; **113**(10): 2324-2335.
- 21. Man SM, Kanneganti TD. Converging roles of caspases in inflammasome activation, cell death and innate immunity. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2016; **16**(1): 7-21.

- 22. Cheng X, Ji Z, Tsalkova T, Mei F. Epac and PKA: a tale of two intracellular cAMP receptors. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)* 2008; **40**(7): 651-662.
- 23. Zoccal KF, Sorgi CA, Hori JI, Paula-Silva FW, Arantes EC, Serezani CH *et al.* Opposing roles of LTB4 and PGE2 in regulating the inflammasome-dependent scorpion venom-induced mortality. *Nat Commun* 2016; **7:** 10760.
- 24. Palomo J, Marchiol T, Piotet J, Fauconnier L, Robinet M, Reverchon F *et al.* Role of IL-1beta in experimental cystic fibrosis upon P. aeruginosa infection. *PloS one* 2014; **9**(12): e114884.
- 25. Skerrett SJ, Martin TR, Chi EY, Peschon JJ, Mohler KM, Wilson CB. Role of the type 1 TNF receptor in lung inflammation after inhalation of endotoxin or Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *The American journal of physiology* 1999; **276**(5 Pt 1): L715-727.
- 26. Aoyagi T, Newstead MW, Zeng X, Nanjo Y, Peters-Golden M, Kaku M *et al.* Interleukin-36gamma and IL-36 receptor signaling mediate impaired host immunity and lung injury in cytotoxic Pseudomonas aeruginosa pulmonary infection: Role of prostaglandin E2. *PLoS pathogens* 2017; **13**(11): e1006737.
- 27. Ricciotti E, FitzGerald GA. Prostaglandins and inflammation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2011; **31**(5): 986-1000.
- 28. Dennis EA, Norris PC. Eicosanoid storm in infection and inflammation. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2015; **15**(8): 511-523.
- 29. Wonnenberg B, Bischoff M, Beisswenger C, Dinh T, Bals R, Singh B *et al.* The role of IL-1beta in Pseudomonas aeruginosa in lung infection. *Cell Tissue Res* 2016.
- 30. Hassane M, Demon D, Soulard D, Fontaine J, Keller LE, Patin EC *et al.* Neutrophilic NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent IL-1beta secretion regulates the gammadeltaT17 cell response in respiratory bacterial infections. *Mucosal Immunol* 2017; **10**(4): 1056-1068.
- 31. Deretic V, Saitoh T, Akira S. Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2013; **13**(10): 722-737.

- 32. Shibutani ST, Saitoh T, Nowag H, Munz C, Yoshimori T. Autophagy and autophagy-related proteins in the immune system. *Nature immunology* 2015; **16**(10): 1014-1024.
- 33. Pilli M, Arko-Mensah J, Ponpuak M, Roberts E, Master S, Mandell MA *et al.* TBK-1 promotes autophagy-mediated antimicrobial defense by controlling autophagosome maturation. *Immunity* 2012; **37**(2): 223-234.
- 34. Sanjuan MA, Dillon CP, Tait SW, Moshiach S, Dorsey F, Connell S *et al.* Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 2007; **450**(7173): 1253-1257.
- 35. Shi CS, Kehrl JH. TRAF6 and A20 regulate lysine 63-linked ubiquitination of Beclin-1 to control TLR4-induced autophagy. *Sci Signal* 2010; **3**(123): ra42.
- 36. Singh SB, Davis AS, Taylor GA, Deretic V. Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. *Science* 2006; **313**(5792): 1438-1441.
- 37. Tattoli I, Sorbara MT, Vuckovic D, Ling A, Soares F, Carneiro LA *et al.* Amino acid starvation induced by invasive bacterial pathogens triggers an innate host defense program. *Cell Host Microbe* 2012; **11**(6): 563-575.
- 38. Yuan K, Huang C, Fox J, Laturnus D, Carlson E, Zhang B *et al.* Autophagy plays an essential role in the clearance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa by alveolar macrophages. *J Cell Sci* 2012; **125**(Pt 2): 507-515.
- 39. Choi J, Jo M, Lee E, Choi D. ERK1/2 is involved in luteal cell autophagy regulation during corpus luteum regression via an mTOR-independent pathway. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2014; **20**(10): 972-980.
- 40. Heckmann BL, Boada-Romero E, Cunha LD, Magne J, Green DR. LC3-Associated Phagocytosis and Inflammation. *J Mol Biol* 2017.
- 41. Mortimer L, Moreau F, MacDonald JA, Chadee K. NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition is disrupted in a group of auto-inflammatory disease CAPS mutations. *Nature immunology* 2016; **17**(10): 1176-1186.
- 42. Sokolowska M, Chen LY, Liu Y, Martinez-Anton A, Qi HY, Logun C *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation through EP4

Receptor and Intracellular Cyclic AMP in Human Macrophages. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2015; **194**(11): 5472-5487.

- 43. Spalinger MR, Lang S, Gottier C, Dai X, Rawlings DJ, Chan AC *et al.* PTPN22 regulates NLRP3-mediated IL1B secretion in an autophagy-dependent manner. *Autophagy* 2017; **13**(9): 1590-1601.
- Shi CS, Shenderov K, Huang NN, Kabat J, Abu-Asab M, Fitzgerald KA *et al.* Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1beta production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nature immunology* 2012; 13(3): 255-263.
- 45. Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2018; **18**(2): 134-147.
- 46. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* 2004; **303**(5663): 1532-1535.
- 47. Branzk N, Lubojemska A, Hardison SE, Wang Q, Gutierrez MG, Brown GD *et al.* Neutrophils sense microbe size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens. *Nature immunology* 2014; **15**(11): 1017-1025.
- 48. Shishikura K, Horiuchi T, Sakata N, Trinh DA, Shirakawa R, Kimura T *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 inhibits neutrophil extracellular trap formation through production of cyclic AMP. *Br J Pharmacol* 2016; **173**(2): 319-331.
- 49. Remijsen Q, Vanden Berghe T, Wirawan E, Asselbergh B, Parthoens E, De Rycke R *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular trap cell death requires both autophagy and superoxide generation. *Cell Res* 2011; **21**(2): 290-304.
- 50. Serezani CH, Chung J, Ballinger MN, Moore BB, Aronoff DM, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 suppresses bacterial killing in alveolar macrophages by inhibiting NADPH oxidase. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2007; **37**(5): 562-570.
- 51. Masuda S, Shimizu S, Matsuo J, Nishibata Y, Kusunoki Y, Hattanda F *et al.* Measurement of NET formation in vitro and in vivo by flow cytometry. *Cytometry A* 2017; **91**(8): 822-829.

- 52. Metzler KD, Fuchs TA, Nauseef WM, Reumaux D, Roesler J, Schulze I *et al.* Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity. *Blood* 2011; **117**(3): 953-959.
- Pilsczek FH, Salina D, Poon KK, Fahey C, Yipp BG, Sibley CD *et al.* A novel mechanism of rapid nuclear neutrophil extracellular trap formation in response to Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2010; 185(12): 7413-7425.
- 54. Floyd M, Winn M, Cullen C, Sil P, Chassaing B, Yoo DG *et al.* Swimming Motility Mediates the Formation of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Induced by Flagellated Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *PLoS pathogens* 2016; **12**(11): e1005987.
- Funchal GA, Jaeger N, Czepielewski RS, Machado MS, Muraro SP, Stein RT *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein promotes TLR-4-dependent neutrophil extracellular trap formation by human neutrophils. *PloS one* 2015; **10**(4): e0124082.
- 56. Narasaraju T, Yang E, Samy RP, Ng HH, Poh WP, Liew AA *et al.* Excessive neutrophils and neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to acute lung injury of influenza pneumonitis. *Am J Pathol* 2011; **179**(1): 199-210.
- 57. Urban CF, Reichard U, Brinkmann V, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil extracellular traps capture and kill Candida albicans yeast and hyphal forms. *Cellular microbiology* 2006; **8**(4): 668-676.
- 58. Krowka MJ, Rosenow EC, 3rd, Hoagland HC. Pulmonary complications of bone marrow transplantation. *Chest* 1985; **87**(2): 237-246.
- 59. Lossos IS, Breuer R, Or R, Strauss N, Elishoov H, Naparstek E *et al.* Bacterial pneumonia in recipients of bone marrow transplantation. A five-year prospective study. *Transplantation* 1995; **60**(7): 672-678.
- 60. Chi AK, Soubani AO, White AC, Miller KB. An update on pulmonary complications of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Chest* 2013; **144**(6): 1913-1922.
- Atilla E, Atilla PA, Bozdag SC, Demirer T. A review of infectious complications after haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantations. *Infection* 2017; 45(4): 403-411.

- 62. Cho SY, Lee HJ, Lee DG. Infectious complications after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: current status and future perspectives in Korea. *Korean J Intern Med* 2018; **33**(2): 256-276.
- 63. Bohlson SS, O'Conner SD, Hulsebus HJ, Ho MM, Fraser DA. Complement, c1q, and c1q-related molecules regulate macrophage polarization. *Frontiers in immunology* 2014; **5:** 402.
- 64. Luan B, Yoon YS, Le Lay J, Kaestner KH, Hedrick S, Montminy M. CREB pathway links PGE2 signaling with macrophage polarization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2015; **112**(51): 15642-15647.
- 65. Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2008; **8**(12): 958-969.
- 66. Zhu L, Zhao Q, Yang T, Ding W, Zhao Y. Cellular metabolism and macrophage functional polarization. *International reviews of immunology* 2015; **34**(1): 82-100.
- Boelsterli UA, Redinbo MR, Saitta KS. Multiple NSAID-induced hits injure the small intestine: underlying mechanisms and novel strategies. *Toxicol Sci* 2013; 131(2): 654-667.
- 68. Funk CD, FitzGerald GA. COX-2 inhibitors and cardiovascular risk. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 2007; **50**(5): 470-479.
- 69. Tomoda K, Terashima H, Suzuki K, Inagi T, Terada H, Makino K. Enhanced transdermal delivery of indomethacin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles by iontophoresis. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 2011; **88**(2): 706-710.
- 70. Gupta A, Pant G, Mitra K, Madan J, Chourasia MK, Misra A. Inhalable particles containing rapamycin for induction of autophagy in macrophages infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Mol Pharm* 2014; **11**(4): 1201-1207.
- 71. Soubani AO. Pulmonary complications of bone marrow transplantation. *CHEST* 1996; **109**(4): 1066-1077.

- 72. Kato K, Cui S, Kuick R, Mineishi S, Hexner E, Ferrara JL *et al.* Identification of stem cell transcriptional programs normally expressed in embryonic and neural stem cells in alloreactive CD8+ T cells mediating graft-versus-host disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*; **16**(6): 751-771.
- 73. Khurshid I, Anderson LC. Non-infectious pulmonary complications after bone marrow transplantation. *Postgrad Med J* 2002; **78**(919): 257-262.
- 74. Cayeux SJ, Beverly PCL, Schulz R, Dorken B. Elevated plasma prostaglandin E2 levels found in 14 patients undergoing autologous or stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 1993; **12:** 603-608.
- Aronoff DM, Canetti C, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits alveolar macrophage phagocytosis through an E-prostanoid 2 receptor-mediated increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2004; 173(1): 559-565.
- 76. Aronoff DM, Lewis C, Serezani CH, Eaton KA, Goel D, Phipps JC *et al.* Eprostanoid 3 receptor deletion improves pulmonary host defense and protects mice from death in severe Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2009; **183**(4): 2642-2649.
- 77. Medeiros AI, Serezani CH, Lee SP, Peters-Golden M. Efferocytosis impairs pulmonary macrophage and lung antibacterial function via PGE2/EP2 signaling. *J Exp Med* 2009; **206**(1): 61-68.
- 78. Kaul V, Bhattacharya D, Singh Y, Van Kaer L, Peters-Golden M, Bishai WR *etal.* An important role of prostanoid receptor EP2 in host resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in mice. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2012; **206**(12): 1816-1825.
- 79. Aronoff DM, Bergin IL, Lewis C, Goel D, O'Brien E, Peters-Golden M *et al.* Eprostanoid 2 receptor signaling suppresses lung innate immunity against Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* 2012; **98**(1-2): 23-30.
- Rogers LM, Thelen T, Fordyce K, Bourdonnay E, Lewis C, Yu H *et al.* EP4 and EP2 receptor activation of protein kinase A by prostaglandin E2 impairs macrophage phagocytosis of Clostridium sordellii. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2014; **71**(1): 34-43.

81. Zaslona Z, Palsson-McDermott EM, Menon D, Haneklaus M, Flis E, Prendeville H *et al.* The Induction of Pro-IL-1beta by Lipopolysaccharide Requires Endogenous Prostaglandin E2 Production. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2017; **198**(9): 3558-3564.

Chapter 6.

Influenza-induced immune suppression to Staphylococcus aureus is mediated by TLR9

6.1 Abstract

Bacterial infections, particularly with methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), increase mortality following influenza infection, but the mechanisms remain unclear. Expression of TLR9, a microbial DNA sensor, is increased in murine lung immune cells including macrophages, dendritic cells, and CD8⁺T cells, post-influenza infection. TLR9^{-/-} mice did not show differences in handling single viral nor bacterial infection. Surprisingly however, TLR9^{-/-} mice have improved survival and bacterial clearance in the lung post-influenza and MRSA coinfection, with no difference in viral load. Improved bacterial clearance post-coinfection was specific for MRSA, as there was no difference in the clearance of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Additionally, inhibition of TLR9 *in vivo* reduces lung bacterial burden post-MRSA coinfection. IFN-γ does not play a role in MRSA clearance. Rather, TLR9^{-/-} macrophages exhibit improved bacterial clearance, phagocytosis, and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression (iNOS) post-influenza infection. Thus, TLR9 inhibition improves the clearance of MRSA coinfection potentially by increasing macrophage antimicrobial function.

6.2 Background

Influenza viruses are single-stranded RNA viruses with a segmented genome (8) RNA molecules, encoding 10 proteins) capable of mutating their antigens to evade host immunity and causing seasonal outbreaks, leading to over a half million deaths per year, worldwide (World Health Organization, 2016)¹. Their nature allows them to overcome traditional vaccine strategies such as inoculation with attenuated viruses, as this will not confer protection to antigenic alterations². There are three types of influenza viruses that can infect humans (A, B, and C). Influenza A virus (IAV) is the most severe and the main cause of seasonal outbreaks. IAV infections can be complicated by bacterial pathogens including Staphylococcus aureus, and Streptococcus pneumoniae leading to increased morbidity and mortality³. Retrospective studies have shown that 95% of the deaths caused by the 1918 influenza pandemic (Spanish Flu) were complicated by bacterial superinfections ^{3, 4}. Furthermore, whole-blood transcriptome analysis of over 225 influenza-infected patients showed a shift and enrichment in gene signatures from viral response to bacterial response in critically ill patients ⁵. Thus, to decrease morbidity and mortality of IAV infections we

need a better understanding of how to treat secondary bacterial infections. Past studies have found that IAV infections can lead to secondary bacterial infections in different ways including increasing the attachment sites for bacteria, reducing responsiveness of immune cells, and reducing efficiency of antibiotics ⁶⁻⁸. Yet, the mechanism underlying influenza-induced mortality is poorly understood and we are still lacking better therapeutic strategies to improve outcomes for influenza-infected individuals.

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are germline encoded pathogen recognition receptors capable of initiating innate immune responses, and regulating adaptive immunity to both viral and bacterial pathogens⁹. They are primarily expressed in immune cells, and are membrane bound and distributed in the extracellular membrane and endosomes making them able to recognize extracellular and intracellular microbial components ¹⁰. Manipulation of TLRs has shown great potential in combating bacterial infections. For example, agonistic stimulation of TLR4, a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) receptor, has been shown to improve bacterial clearance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infected mice ¹¹. IAV has been shown to alter the expression of TLRs including downregulation of TLR2, a bacterial lipopeptide sensor, in human monocytes and dendritic cells ¹². TLR2 agonist stimulation was shown to have therapeutic potential when reported to improve survival as well as bacterial and viral clearance in a mouse model of viral-bacterial coinfection ¹³. Little is known about the role of other TLRs that are altered in IAV infections and their implications in secondary bacterial infections.

IAV infection was shown to increase the expression of TLR9 in human monocytes and dendritic cells ¹². TLR9 is an endosomal receptor that recognizes unmethylated cytosine and guanine (CpG) motifs which are rich in viral and bacterial DNA and mitochondrial DNA (mDNA)^{14, 15}. Here, we aim to study the role of TLR9 in IAV associated bacterial secondary infections, particularly with the bacterial pathogen methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). Studying MRSA secondary infections is of high importance as in recent pandemics it has been the main cause of secondary pneumonia in IAV infected individuals ¹⁶. Additionally, MRSA is the leading cause of bacterial

infections in humans worldwide, and infections are difficult to treat as MRSA is resistant to all known β -lactam antibiotics ¹⁷.

With the use of a mouse-adapted IAV strain, A/Puerto Rico/8/1934 (PR8), we found that TLR9 expression is elevated in lung macrophages, dendritic cells, and CD8 T cells from PR8 infected mice. TLR9^{-/-} mice infected with PR8 or MRSA did not differ from wildtype (WT) mice, but they experience improved survival post PR8-MRSA coinfection. Even though TLR9^{-/-} mice didn't have a difference in viral titers or acute lung injury in the measured time points, they did experience improved bacterial clearance post coinfection. The resistance to coinfection found in TLR9^{-/-} mice was specific to the synergism between PR8 and MRSA, as TLR9^{-/-} mice did differ in bacterial clearance when challenged with PR8 and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Interestingly, TLR9^{-/-} macrophages post-PR8 infection experience increased bacterial phagocytosis and intracellular killing. Additionally, TLR9^{-/-} macrophages have increased inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression post-PR8 compared to WT. Our findings show a previously unrecognized role of TLR9 in influenza infection, in which TLR9 inhibition can serve to combat secondary MRSA superinfections.

6.3 Results

IAV increases expression of TLR9 in macrophages. Changes in expression of different toll-like receptors (TLRs) (TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9) have been reported before in human monocytes and dendritic cells from seasonal influenza infected patients ¹². In our murine experiments, we noticed that just TLR9 gene expression is increased in lung immune cells 5 days post-PR8 infection (Fig.6-1A).

Protein expression was also increased in these cells post-PR8 infection as measured by TLR9 immunoblotting (Fig.6-1B). To understand which cells were upregulating TLR9, we used flow cytometry to characterize the major immune cells in the lung compartment. We noticed that CD8 T cells, macrophages (interstitial and alveolar), and dendritic cells were the main cells expressing higher TLR9 expression post-PR8 (Fig.6-1C). We did not notice changes in CD4 T cells, NK cells, B cells, and neutrophils (Fig.6-1C). Adherence selection of lung macrophages, after lung collagenase digestion, allowed us to detect gene expression changes in multiple TLRs in lung monocytes/macrophages after influenza infection. We noticed that apart from TLR9 being increased, TLR3 and TLR2 were also altered with increased and decreased expression, respectively (Fig.6-1D). These later observations were also seen in human monocytes of influenza-infected individuals ¹². Interestingly, direct infection of isolated alveolar macrophages with PR8 shows an increase in TLR9 and TLR3, with no changes in TLR2, 4, and 7 (Fig.6-1E). We also detected TLR9 increased 24 hours post-PR8 infection in cultured bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs) (Fig.6-2A). To our knowledge, we are the first to report that direct infection of macrophages with IAV can increase TLR9 expression. This increase was likely independent of IAV recognition by TLR7, or by IAV-induced release of CpG rich mDNA as TLR7, and TLR9 agonist stimulation lead to downregulation of TLR7 and TLR9 gene expression (Fig.6-2B).



Figure 6-1: TLR9 overexpression in lung immune cells post-IAV infection. (A) Relative gene expression of TLRs by RTqPCR and (B) western blotting of TLR9 and β-actin. RNA and protein were isolated from lung immune cells post-collagenase digestion in mice infected with 100 PFUs of H1N1 (PR8) for 5 days or placebo (PBS). β-actin was used to normalize RNA in samples. (C) Frequency of TLR9⁺ cells measured by flow cytometry in lung immune cells post-collagenase digestion. Gating was as follows: CD4⁺ T cells (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺, CD3⁺, CD4⁺), CD8⁺ T cells (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺, CD3⁺, CD4⁺), CD8⁺ T cells (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺, NKp46⁺), B cells (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁻, CD19⁺), neutrophils (CD45⁺, CD11b⁺, LY6G⁺), interstitial macrophages (CD45⁺, CD64⁺, CD11b⁺, F4/80⁺), alveolar

macrophages (CD45⁺, CD64⁺, CD11C⁺, Siglec F⁺) and dendritic cells (CD45⁺, CD64⁻, CD11c⁺, MCHII^{high}). (D) Relative expression of TLRs after lung macrophage isolation by adherence selection from PBS or IAV-infected mice. (E) Relative expression of TLRs in alveolar macrophages infected or not ex-vivo with H1N1 (MOI:0.01) for 24 hours. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. *P<0.05 ,**P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001.

TLR9^{-/-} **mice are resistant to IAV and MRSA coinfection.** Secondary bacterial infections in influenza infected individuals are a main cause of mortality and morbidity ¹⁸. To study this synergistic effect between the virus and the bacteria, we used a well-known IAV-MRSA coinfection model consisting of an initial viral infection followed by a secondary bacterial infection (Fig.6-3A); where we can detect susceptibility to MRSA infection as early as 5 days post-PR8 infection (Fig.6-4). We observed a dramatic survival difference between TLR9^{-/-} and WT mice, where 70% of TLR9^{-/-} mice survived the secondary bacterial infection compared to 10% of WT mice (Fig.6-3B). There were no significant differences in weight changes between TLR9^{-/-} and WT mice noted (Fig.6-3C).



Figure 6-2: TLR7 or TLR9 agonist stimulation does not increase expression of TLR9. (A) BMDMs infected or not with IAV at a MOI of 0.01 for 48 hours. (B) BMDMs were treated with the TLR9 agonist, ODN 2395, or with the TLR7 agonist, imiquimod (R837), for 24 hours at a concentration of 1µM or 1µg/mI, respectively. RNA was isolated

and TLR9 transcript expression was measured by RTqPCR. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups;***P<0.001.



Figure 6-3: TLR9^{-/-} mice are resistant to secondary bacterial infection. (A) Sketch of infection model where Balb/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice are infected with 100 PFUs of H1N1 5 days prior to infection with 7x10⁷ CFUs of MRSA (US300). Mice are monitored daily to check for survival. (B) Survival assay of Balb/c (n=9) and TLR9-/- (n=9) mice following coinfection. (C) Weight changes (left) and initial weight (right) of all mice used in survival assay. Statistics for weight changes and initial weight were student T test, non-significant (ns). Statistics in survival assay were done with the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox), *P<0.05.

TLR9^{-/-} and WT mice show similar susceptibility to MRSA infection alone.

Currently, there are conflicting results regarding the role of TLR9 in single MRSA

infection ^{19, 20}. To understand if TLR9^{-/-} mice are susceptible to a single MRSA infection

independent of the initial IAV infection, we performed a survival assay post-MRSA infection. We did not detect a difference in survival between TLR9^{-/-} and WT mice (Fig.6-5A). Interestingly, weight recovery during the infection was slower in TLR9^{-/-} mice, but mice were able to recover the lost weight during the survival monitoring (Fig.6-5B). We detected reduced immune cell infiltration in the alveolar compartment post-MRSA infection in TLR9^{-/-} mice (Fig.6-5C). However, this did not affect bacterial clearance or lung injury which was reduced significantly 48 hours post-infection (Fig.6-5D-E). Previous work has shown that TLR9^{-/-} mice have reduced TNF-α in the BALF post-MRSA ²⁰. We detected lower amounts of TNF-α, IL-6, and IL-10 in the BALF of MRSA-infected TLR9^{-/-} mice (Fig.6-5F). Yet, lower amounts of these cytokines did not have a negative effect on bacterial clearance, lung injury, or survival. Reduced immune cell infiltration and cytokine profile might be explained by lower NF-κB activation post-MRSA infection as TLR9 is a sensor of bacterial DNA ²¹.

TLR9^{-/-} mice experience improved MRSA clearance post-coinfection. We were able to detect better bacterial clearance in the IAV-infected TLR9^{-/-} mice 24 hours post-MRSA infection, but no difference in tissue injury or viral load (Fig.6-6A-C). Synthetic oligonucleotides (ODNs) are single-stranded synthetic DNA molecules containing unmethylated CpG which can be modified to work as either agonists or antagonists of TLR9. To test whether TLR9 signaling inhibition during viral-bacterial coinfection can lead to improved bacterial clearance, we treated WT mice with 3 equal doses of a TLR9 antagonist, ODN 2088 (Fig.6-6D). As expected, mice that were treated with TLR9 antagonist experience improved bacterial clearance compared to mice treated with

control ODN (Fig.6-6D). These findings suggest that TLR9 blockade during IAV infection can improve immunity to a secondary MRSA infection.



Figure 6-4: Reduced MRSA clearance, and exacerbated lung tissue injury in the lung post-IAV infection. Bacterial load measurement in the whole lung of mice infected, or not, with (a) 10 PFUs or (b) 100 PFUs and coinfected with MRSA 5, 7 or 10 days post-H1N1 infection. Albumin measurements from the BALF of (c) 10 PFUs or (d) 100PFUs IAV-infected or not mice for 5, 7 and 10 days and co-infected with MRSA for 24 hours. Relative expression

of M1 viral gene in lungs of mice infected with 10 PFUs (E) or 100 PFUs (F) of IAV, samples were taken on days 3, 5, 7, and 10 post-infection. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ***P<0.001; # two mice died in this group before bacterial load measurement. 0 dpi mice were infected with placebo, PBS, 5 days before MRSA coinfection.

Higher bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} mice post-coinfection is independent of exacerbated levels of IFN-y. To understand whether TLR9^{-/-} mice are clearing the bacteria better post coinfection due to differences in their cytokine profile, we measured the levels of different pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines. We detected reduced amounts of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-17, but increased levels of IFN- γ (Fig.6-7A). High levels of IFN-y have been shown to improve MRSA clearance due to full activation of macrophages ²². Together with this, we detected higher numbers of TH1 (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺,CD4⁺,IFN-y⁺), CD8 T (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺,CD4⁻,CD8⁺,IFN-y⁺), and NK (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺,NKP46⁺,IFN-y⁺) cells, but no difference in other immune cells including B cells (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁻,CD19⁺), and CD4 T (CD45⁺,CD90.2⁺,CD4⁺) cells (Fig.6-7C). To test whether high levels of IFN-y in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) were responsible for the improved bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} mice, we neutralized IFN-v during IAV-MRSA coinfection. To our surprise, there was no difference between isotypetreated and IFN-y-neutralized mice (Fig.6-7C-D). Thus, improved bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} mice is independent of high levels of IFN- γ .

IFN-y inhibits Streptococcus pnuemoniae (SPS3) clearance but has no effect on

MRSA. IFN-γ has been shown to play a negative role in SPS3 clearance post-IAV infection by decreasing the expression of macrophage receptor with collagenous structure (MARCO) ²³. Just like MRSA, SPS3 is a Gram-positive bacterial pathogen that



Figure 6-5: TLR9^{-/-} mice experience no difference in MRSA clearance. (A) Survival assay of BALB/c (n=8) and TLR9^{-/-} (n=5) mice infected with 1.3x10⁸ CFUs of MRSA (US300). (B) Weight changes (left) and initial body weight (right) of mice used in survival assay. (C) Total amount of cells (left) and percentage of leukocytes (right) in the alveolar compartment of BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice quantified using a hemocytometer and differential staining; samples were taken by BAL 24 hours post-MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection. (D) Lung bacterial burden & (E) Albumin measurements in the BALF 24 and 48 hours post-MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection in BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice. (F) Cytokine levels in the BALF of BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice infected with MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) for 24 hours. Cytokines were measured by ELISA. (B), (C) & (F) Statistics are student T test between comparative groups; ns=non-significant, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (D) and (E) statistics were obtained by one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni's posttest. ****P<0.001.

is a high threat to influenza-infected individuals ^{24, 25}. When examining outcomes with IAV and SPS3 more fully, we found that TLR9^{-/-} mice have no difference in SPS3 clearance with or without an initial influenza infection (Fig.6-8A). Thus, improved bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} mice post-IAV seems to be specific to MRSA. INF-y levels in the BALF of TLR9^{-/-} mice after IAV-SPS3 infection were not significantly higher than in WT mice (Fig.6-8B). To test whether high levels of IFN-y have a different effect on MRSA and SPS3 clearance, we gave recombinant IFN-y intratracheally before the bacterial infection and measured lung bacterial burden 24 hours after infection. As expected, we were able to detect immunosuppression to SPS3, but IFN-y had no effect on the clearance of MRSA. The negative role of IFN-y in the pathogenesis of SPS3 post-IAV was attributed to decreased expression of MARCO. We detected lower expression of MARCO with higher expression of SRAI/II in macrophages from mice infected with IAV (Fig.6-9). Previous work reported that decreased expression of MARCO but increased expression of SRAI/II can improve phagocytosis of MRSA ²⁶. To test if IFN-γ has different effects on phagocytosis of MRSA and SPS3, we treated BMDMs with IFN-y and assessed their phagocytosis capability. We found that IFN-y improves MRSA uptake, but decreases SPS3 uptake (Fig.6-10B). This effect was not seen in opsonized bacteria, suggesting the effect is specific to alteration in scavenger receptors (Fig.6-10C). Thus, even though IFN-y improves MRSA uptake, it doesn't improves its clearance (Fig.6-10D).

TLR9^{-/-} lung macrophages have increased phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and iNOS expression post-IAV infection. To determine if IAV was inducing changes to



Figure 6-6: TLR9^{-/-} mice experience improved bacterial clearance post-IAV and MRSA coinfection. (A) Bacterial burden in lungs & (B) Albumin levels in BALF from BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) or treated with placebo, PBS, 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection; samples were harvested 24 hours post-MRSA infection. (C) Quantification of influenza titers in whole lung of BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice infected with influenza (100 PFUs, H1N1) 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection or PBS treatment. (D) Lung bacterial burden from BALB/c mice treated with three doses (50µg) of control ODN or TLR9 inhibitor (ODN 2088) and infected or not with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection. (A-C) Statistics were obtained by one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni's posttest; ns=non-significant, *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (D) Statistics are student T test between comparative groups; ns=non-significant, *P<0.01, ***P<0.001.

TLR9^{-/-} mice that were leading to resistance to a MRSA infection, we measured the cytokine profile in the BALF, and lung immune cell profile in TLR9^{-/-} mice post-single IAV infection. There was no difference in cytokines or lung immune cells 5 days post-IAV infection (Fig.6-11A and Fig.6-12). Interestingly, macrophages isolated from IAV-infected TLR9^{-/-} mice have increased intracellular MRSA clearance and phagocytosis (Fig.6-11B-C). Additionally, TLR9^{-/-} lung macrophages have higher levels of iNOS post-IAV compared to WT (Fig.6-11D). Nitric oxide production has been shown to be crucial in clearing MRSA infection ²⁷. To test whether TLR9 expression might suppress iNOS increase, we infected BMDMs from WT and TLR9^{-/-} mice and measured iNOS expression. TLR9^{-/-} macrophages have higher expression of iNOS post-IAV infection suggesting that TLR9 is a negative regulator of iNOS expression post-IAV infection.

6.4 Discussion

Lower respiratory infections are the fourth leading cause of death with 3 million deaths each year worldwide (WHO, 2018). The influenza virus infects the upper and lower respiratory tract and is successful at infecting 3-5 million individuals each year, taking the life of nearly a half million of these individuals ¹. Severe illness and death in influenza infections are seen mostly in high risk subjects, the very young and elderly. However, recent influenza outbreaks have taken the life of young healthy citizens creating public health concerns. Secondary bacterial superinfections are responsible for the high morbidity and mortality in influenza-infected patients ¹⁸. Even with proper care including influenza vaccines, hygiene, and antibiotics, influenza-associated secondary bacterial infections are a burden to public health ²⁸. Additionally, the over-use of



Figure 6-7: Higher bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} **mice post-IAV and MRSA coinfection is independent of exacerbated levels of IFN-γ.** (A) Cytokine measurement in BALF from BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection. (B) Absolute number of lung immune cells post-lung collagenase digestion in BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection. Cells were quantified by flow cytometry; gating was as follow: B cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁻CD19⁺); CD4⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺); TH1 (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺,IFN-γ⁺); CD8⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁻,CD8⁺,IFN-γ⁺); NK cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺NKP46⁺,IFN-γ⁺). (C) Lung bacterial burden and (D) IFNγ levels in BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were treated with 200µg of IFN-γ neutralizing antibody or isotype control and infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) 5 days prior to MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) infection. (A-B) Statistics are student T test between comparative groups; ns=non-significant, *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ***P<0.0001. (C-D) Statistics were obtained by one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni's posttest; ns=non-significant, *P<0.05, **P<0.01.

antibiotics has led to the selection of multidrug resistant bacterial pathogens making it harder to reduce the severity of bacterial infections ¹⁷. Thus, we are currently in need of better therapeutic strategies against viral-bacterial co-infections that can improve public health. Influenza infections have been shown to alter the expression of TLRs in immune cells ¹². Manipulation of TLRs, in particular TLR2, has been shown to improve survival, and microbial clearance in mice coinfected with influenza and bacterial pathogens ¹³. However, little is known about the potential roles that other TLRs can have in controlling viral-bacterial coinfections.

TLR9 is an intracellular receptor that recognizes unmethylated CpG motifs which are rich in microbial DNA ¹⁴. TLR9 expression was reported to be elevated in monocytes and dendritic cells from influenza-infected patients compared to healthy individuals ¹². Here, we noted that IAV infection similarly increases TLR9 expression in murine immune cells from mice infected with a mouse-adapted IAV strain (PR8) (Fig.6-1A-D). This increase can also be achieved in cultured alveolar macrophages (Fig.6-1E) and BMDMs (Supplemental Fig.6-1A) infected *in vitro*. We tested whether stimulation of TLR7, the innate influenza sensor, could lead to increased expression of TLR9 as it is known that NF-kB activation by TLRs can induce TLR expression ²⁹. However, we did not detect upregulation of TLR9 after TLR7 stimulation (Fig.6-2A). Influenza infections can lead to mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and release of mitochondrial components³⁰. Release of mDNA can also lead to activation of TLR9 due to mDNA's high concentration of unmethylated CpG ^{15, 21}. However, we found that CpG oligonucleotide stimulation of TLR9 did not increase TLR9 expression in our

experiments (Fig.6-2B). Thus, there's still no clear evidence for how the IAV virus leads to the increased TLR9 expression noted in mice and humans.



Figure 6-8: TLR9^{-/-} **mice have no difference in clearance of** *Streptococcus pnuemoniae* and have no difference **in IFN-y**. (A) Lung bacterial burden and (B) cytokine levels in BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1), or treated with PBS, 5 days prior to *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (SPS3) (3x10⁵ CFUs) infection; samples were taken 24 hours post SPS3 infection. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. Non-significant (ns), *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ****P<0.001.

Mice lacking TLR9 (TLR9^{-/-} mice) did not differ in viral response against IAV compared to WT as there was no difference in measured viral titers, cytokine profiles, tissue injury, or immune cell infiltration (Fig.6-6C, Fig.6-8A, and Fig.6-12). However, TLR9^{-/-} mice were resistant to an IAV-MRSA coinfection with improved bacterial clearance (Fig.6-3 and Fig.6-6A). Interestingly, TLR9^{-/-} mice did not clear the virus differently and there was no difference in acute tissue injury (ATI) post coinfection (Fig.6-6B-C). The improved clearance of MRSA in TLR9^{-/-} mice was not due to a preexistent resistance to the bacteria either as there was no difference in single MRSA infection (Fig.6-5) between WT and TLR9^{-/-} mice. Previous reports focused on the role of TLR9 in single MRSA infection have shown conflicting results. MRSA was shown to induce a type I interferon response dependent on TLR9, and TLR9^{-/-} mice were reported to have lower TNF- α and improved bacterial clearance¹⁹. In contrast, TLR9^{-/-} mice were reported to have decreased MRSA clearance despite the lower amount of TNF- α^{20} . Similar to the previous findings, we noticed a decrease in cytokine secretion in TLR9^{-/-} mice, specifically TNF- α was lower (Fig.6-5F); however, TLR9^{-/-} mice did not differ from WT in bacterial clearance, survival and ATI despite lower lung immune cell infiltration and cytokine release (Fig.6-5). Thus, TLR9 seems to play a unique role in resistance to MRSA only in the context of secondary bacterial infection post-IAV.

TLR9^{-/-} mice have increased IFN- γ in the BALF together with higher numbers of IFN- γ producing cells (TH1, CD8 T cells, and NK cells) in the lung post coinfection (Fig.6-7A-



Figure 6-9: IAV infection alters scavenger receptor levels. MARCO and SRA I/II relative expression in macrophages from BALB/c mice 5 days post-IAV infection at a 100 PFUs. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups; *P<0.05, ****P<0.0001

B). This increase in IFN-γ provided a potential explanation for the improved bacterial clearance in TLR9^{-/-} mice as IFN-γ has been shown to increase clearance of MRSA ²². However, in our studies, INF-γ neutralization (confirmed by ELISA (Fig 6-7D) and bioassay (data not shown) was not able to decrease clearance of MRSA in TLR9^{-/-} mice (Fig.6-7C). Therefore, the enhanced clearance on MRSA is independent of IFN-γ. As this cytokine was shown before to decrease clearance of SPS3 post-IAV ²³, we investigated whether IFN-γ can have a different effect between MRSA and SPS3. Treating mice with IFN-γ and then challenging with MRSA or SPS3 showed that IFN-γ can decrease clearance of SPS3 whereas this cytokine actually improves the phagocytosis of MRSA (Fig.6-10B). However, despite improved

phagocytosis, macrophages can't effectively kill intracellular MRSA (Fig.6-10D). Previous findings have shown that *S. aureus* is able to evade immunity and survive inside cells including phagocytic cells ¹⁷. This is consistent with our data showing that IFN-γ can improve phagocytosis of MRSA without improving its clearance.



Figure 6-10: Administration of IFN-y inhibits *S. pnuemoniae* clearance but has no effect in MRSA clearance, *in vivo.* (A) Lung bacterial burden of BALB/c mice that were treated or not with recombinant IFN- γ (2µg) prior to infection with MRSA (7x10⁷ CFUs) or SPS3 (3x10⁵ CFUs) for 24 hours. (B) In vitro phagocytosis assay where BMDMs were treated with IFN- γ (10ng/ml), or mock, for 24 hours prior to treatment with heat inactivated and FITC-labeled MRSA and/or SPS3. (C) In vitro phagocytosis assay and (D) in vitro bacterial survival assay where BMDMs were treated with IFN- γ (20ng/ml), or mock, for 24 hours prior to challenge with opsonized MRSA and/or SPS3. Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. Non-significant (ns), *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.



Figure 6-11: TLR9^{-/-} lung macrophages have increased phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and iNOS expression post-IAV infection. (A) Cytokine measurement in BALF from BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) for 5 days. (B) Ex vivo MRSA phagocytosis and (C) Intracellular survival assay using adherence selected lung macrophages from BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs H1N1) for 5 days or treated with PBS. (D) Quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR measurement of relative gene expression of iNOS from adherence selected lung macrophages from BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV for 5 days or treated with PBS; RNA samples were normalized to their β -actin levels. (B-C) Statistics were obtained by one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni's posttest; ns=non-significant, *P<0.05. (A and D) Statistics are student T test between comparative groups. Non-significant (ns), ***P<0.001

Shortly after infection, MRSA is engulfed by phagocytes ³¹. Macrophages, especially M1 (antimicrobial) polarized macrophages, play an essential role in the clearance of MRSA ³². So, we tested the ability of macrophages from TLR9^{-/-} mice to clear MRSA in culture. TLR9^{-/-} macrophages isolated from uninfected mice had no difference in phagocytosis or intracellular bacterial clearance compared to WT. However, macrophages from PR8-infected TLR9^{-/-} mice are capable of improving bacterial clearance and killing (Fig.6-11B-C). Interestingly, TLR9^{-/-} macrophages from infected mice have higher expression of iNOS (Fig.6-11D). Mice lacking iNOS expression are deficient in clearance of MRSA and more than 50% of mice will not survive a MRSA infection past 24 hours²⁷. Thus, the induction of iNOS is the most likely explanation for why TLR9^{-/-} macrophages are more effective at clearing MRSA post-IAV infection.

In conclusion, our findings provide evidence that TLR9 plays a negative role in IAVassociated secondary MRSA infections. Blocking of TLR9 post-IAV infection can improve MRSA clearance by increasing macrophage bacterial phagocytosis, intracellular killing, and increasing production of nitric oxide. This also suggests that TLR9 antagonism may be an effective therapeutic for MRSA complicated influenza infections. However, care should be taken to know the nature of the secondary infection as TLR9 regulates MRSA, but not SPS3 coinfection. Future work will be focused on elucidating the mechanism(s) of influenza-induced upregulation of TLR9.



Figure 6-12: Immune cell profiles in TLR9^{-/-} **mice post-IAV infection.** Absolute number of lung immune cells postlung collagenase digestion in BALB/c and TLR9^{-/-} mice that were infected with IAV (100 PFUs, H1N1) for 5 days. Total lung cells counted by hemocytometer and immune cell quantification was done by flow cytometry; gating was as follows: neutrophils (CD45⁺,CD11b⁺,MHCII⁻,Ly6G⁺); conventional dendritic cells (CD45⁺,CD11c⁺,MHCII⁺,CD64⁻); AMs (CD45⁺,CD11c⁺,Siglec F⁺,CD64⁺); interstitial Macs (CD45⁺,CD11b⁺,MHCII⁺,Siglec F⁻, CD64⁺); B cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁻ CD19⁺); CD4⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺); CD8⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁻); Th1 (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺,IFN-γ⁺); Th2 (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺IL-4⁺); Th17 (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺IL-17a⁺); Tregs (CD45⁺CD90.2⁺CD4⁺Foxp3⁺). Statistics are student T test between comparative groups; ns= non-significant.

6.5 References

- 1. Iuliano AD, Roguski KM, Chang HH, Muscatello DJ, Palekar R, Tempia S *et al.* Estimates of global seasonal influenza-associated respiratory mortality: a modelling study. *Lancet (London, England)* 2018; **391**(10127): 1285-1300.
- Du Y, Xin L, Shi Y, Zhang TH, Wu NC, Dai L *et al.* Genome-wide identification of interferon-sensitive mutations enables influenza vaccine design. *Science* 2018; 359(6373): 290-296.

- 3. McCullers JA. The co-pathogenesis of influenza viruses with bacteria in the lung. *Nature reviews Microbiology* 2014; **12**(4): 252-262.
- 4. Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2008; **198**(7): 962-970.
- 5. Dunning J, Blankley S, Hoang LT, Cox M, Graham CM, James PL *et al.* Progression of whole-blood transcriptional signatures from interferon-induced to neutrophil-associated patterns in severe influenza. *Nature immunology* 2018; **19**(6): 625-635.
- 6. McCullers JA. Insights into the interaction between influenza virus and pneumococcus. *Clinical microbiology reviews* 2006; **19**(3): 571-582.
- 7. Didierlaurent A, Goulding J, Patel S, Snelgrove R, Low L, Bebien M *et al.* Sustained desensitization to bacterial Toll-like receptor ligands after resolution of respiratory influenza infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2008; **205**(2): 323-329.
- 8. Sun K, Yajjala VK, Bauer C, Talmon GA, Fischer KJ, Kielian T *et al.* Nox2-derived oxidative stress results in inefficacy of antibiotics against post-influenza S. aureus pneumonia. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2016; **213**(9): 1851-1864.
- 9. Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. *Science* 2010; **327**(5963): 291-295.
- 10. O'Neill LA, Golenbock D, Bowie AG. The history of Toll-like receptors redefining innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2013; **13**(6): 453-460.
- 11. Nakamura S, Iwanaga N, Seki M, Fukudome K, Oshima K, Miyazaki T *et al.* Toll-Like Receptor 4 Agonistic Antibody Promotes Host Defense against Chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa Lung Infection in Mice. *Infect Immun* 2016; **84**(7): 1986-1993.

- 12. Lee N, Wong CK, Hui DS, Lee SK, Wong RY, Ngai KL *et al.* Role of human Toll-like receptors in naturally occurring influenza A infections. *Influenza and other respiratory viruses* 2013; **7**(5): 666-675.
- 13. Mifsud EJ, Tan AC, Short KR, Brown LE, Chua BY, Jackson DC. Reducing the impact of influenza-associated secondary pneumococcal infections. *Immunology and cell biology* 2016; **94**(1): 101-108.
- 14. Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Kaisho T, Sato S, Sanjo H *et al.* A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. *Nature* 2000; **408**(6813): 740-745.
- 15. Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W *et al.* Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* 2010; **464**(7285): 104-107.
- 16. Finelli L, Fiore A, Dhara R, Brammer L, Shay DK, Kamimoto L *et al.* Influenzaassociated pediatric mortality in the United States: increase of Staphylococcus aureus coinfection. *Pediatrics* 2008; **122**(4): 805-811.
- 17. Lehar SM, Pillow T, Xu M, Staben L, Kajihara KK, Vandlen R *et al.* Novel antibodyantibiotic conjugate eliminates intracellular S. aureus. *Nature* 2015; **527**(7578): 323-328.
- 18. Hussell T, Wissinger E, Goulding J. Bacterial complications during pandemic influenza infection. *Future microbiology* 2009; **4**(3): 269-272.
- 19. Parker D, Prince A. Staphylococcus aureus induces type I IFN signaling in dendritic cells via TLR9. *J Immunol* 2012; **189**(8): 4040-4046.
- 20. van der Meer AJ, Achouiti A, van der Ende A, Soussan AA, Florquin S, de Vos A *et al.* Toll-like receptor 9 enhances bacterial clearance and limits lung consolidation in murine pneumonia caused by methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular medicine (Cambridge, Mass)* 2016; **22**.
- 21. Zhang JZ, Liu Z, Liu J, Ren JX, Sun TS. Mitochondrial DNA induces inflammation and increases TLR9/NF-kappaB expression in lung tissue. *International journal of molecular medicine* 2014; **33**(4): 817-824.
- 22. Greenlee-Wacker MC, Nauseef WM. IFN-gamma targets macrophage-mediated immune responses toward Staphylococcus aureus. *J Leukoc Biol* 2017; **101**(3): 751-758.
- 23. Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nature medicine* 2008; **14**(5): 558-564.
- 24. Sharma-Chawla N, Sender V, Kershaw O, Gruber AD, Volckmar J, Henriques-Normark B *et al.* Influenza A Virus Infection Predisposes Hosts to Secondary Infection with Different Streptococcus pneumoniae Serotypes with Similar Outcome but Serotype-Specific Manifestation. *Infect Immun* 2016; **84**(12): 3445-3457.
- 25. McCullers JA, Rehg JE. Lethal synergism between influenza virus and Streptococcus pneumoniae: characterization of a mouse model and the role of platelet-activating factor receptor. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2002; **186**(3): 341-350.
- 26. Domingo-Gonzalez R, Katz S, Serezani CH, Moore TA, Levine AM, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2-induced changes in alveolar macrophage scavenger receptor profiles differentially alter phagocytosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus post-bone marrow transplant. *J Immunol* 2013; **190**(11): 5809-5817.
- 27. Urbano R, Karlinsey JE, Libby SJ, Doulias PT, Ischiropoulos H, Warheit-Niemi HI *et al.* Host Nitric Oxide Disrupts Microbial Cell-to-Cell Communication to Inhibit Staphylococcal Virulence. *Cell host & microbe* 2018; **23**(5): 594-606 e597.
- 28. Vardakas KZ, Matthaiou DK, Falagas ME. Comparison of community-acquired pneumonia due to methicillin-resistant and methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus producing the Panton-Valentine leukocidin. *The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease* 2009; **13**(12): 1476-1485.

- 29. Ding X, Jin S, Tong Y, Jiang X, Chen Z, Mei S *et al.* TLR4 signaling induces TLR3 upregulation in alveolar macrophages during acute lung injury. *Scientific reports* 2017; **7**: 34278.
- Zamarin D, Garcia-Sastre A, Xiao X, Wang R, Palese P. Influenza virus PB1-F2 protein induces cell death through mitochondrial ANT3 and VDAC1. *PLoS pathogens* 2005; 1(1): e4.
- 31. Rogers DE. Studies on bacteriemia. I. Mechanisms relating to the persistence of bacteriemia in rabbits following the intravenous injection of staphylococci. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1956; **103**(6): 713-742.
- 32. Hanke ML, Heim CE, Angle A, Sanderson SD, Kielian T. Targeting macrophage activation for the prevention and treatment of Staphylococcus aureus biofilm infections. *J Immunol* 2013; **190**(5): 2159-2168.